— W ———

February

JCPenney

Every Day Matters”

jcp.com

J. C. Penney Company, inc. | Annual Report 2006







MESSAGE FROM

MIKE

DEAR JCPENNEY STOCKHOLDER:
It is gratifying to write to you about
JCPenney's remarkable accomplishments
in 2006. Our success reflects the progress
we have made in implementing the
Long-Range Plan for growth we introduced
in 2005, and the commitment of our
Associates to fulfilling our promises to our
customers. This momentum is allowing us
to undertake new growth initiatives, all
designed to make JCPenney the leader in

performance and execution in retailing.

GROWTH INITIATIVES:

New Private and Exclusive Brands Found Only in JCPenney: Our
customers tell us that one of the most compeling attractions of
JCPenney is our collection of private and exclusive brands, which we
believe clearly differentiate us as the lifestyle shopping destination for

style and quality at smart prices.

This customer demand led us to launch several new brands in 2006 and
early 2007, each of which is delivering a strong performance. Among
them are a.n.a — "a new approach” for the modern casual woman;
Solitude in menswear; and, Studio in our JCPenney Home Collection.
We also introduced Sephora, the most exciting retail concept in the
bheauty industry, inside JCPenney stores. Based on initial sales,
Sephora’s offering is clearly inspiring our customers, We will continue to

roll out Sephora inside JCPenney stores in 2007 and beyond.

We also recently added io our merchandise mix Ambrielle, our intimate
apparel brand for the modern customer, and twc new casual brands
created for us by Liz Claiborne — Liz & Co. for the traditional woman
and Concepts By Claiborne for the modern man. Early sales of these

brands suggest they are resonating extremely well with our customers.

in spring 2008, these brands wil be joined by Amercan Living, a
classic/traditional brand being created exclusively for JCPenney by
Polo Ralph Lauren's Global Brand Concepts. This will be the largest

launch in our Company's history, availat'e throughout our merchandise

assortment, and will serve to further set us apart in the retail marketplace.

Accelerated New Store Openings and Rapid Expansion of Qur
Industry-Leading Web Site: In 2008, we opened 28 new stores. As
we look ahead, we believe there are more than 400 additional locations
for new JCPenney stores, and we plan to open 250 new stores in the

next five years.

The majority of these new stores will e in our highly successful off-mall
format, which allows us to enter communities that do not have malls,
but where there is significant demand for our destination national
brands as well as our great private and exclusive brands. Many of these
cornmunities are new or expanding based on population shifts, and we
are delighted to be able to quickly establish a presence and serve this

growing customer base.

The expansion of JCPenney is a key element of our focus on being an
easy and exciting place to shop, and we are dedicated to ensuring our
existing store base reflects the best elements of our new store format.
In the past five years, we have renovated 150 stores and plan io
complete 65 more in the current year. In total, we have earmarked $1.2
billion for capital investments in 2007, primarily for new stores and

renovations of existing stores.
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GROWTH INITIATIVES: (cont'd)

The combination of a mall and off-mall presence puts us in a strong
competitive position, which is enhanced by having one of the most
popular general merchandise Web sites on the Internet. In short, we are
making it very easy for our customers to shop with us however and

whenever they want.

In 2006, jcp.com’s sales grew 24 percent to approximately $1.3 billion.
Qur site is now accessible through our 35,000 sales terminals and is
increasingly the technological architecture for our organization. As we
lock ahead, we are focused on further integrating our stores and jcp.com

in order to continually improve the way we serve our customers.

Introduction of a New Brand Positioning for JCPenney: We have
made great strides in developing an emotional connection with our
customers, and now we want to build a more enduring relationship by
making sure our brand differentiates us from our competition while
iNspinng our customers. To do this, we recently launched a new brand
positioning for JCPenney, which is designed to show our customers that

we understand what matters to them as they live their lives every day.

Our “Every Day Matters” positioning will be evident in every aspect of our
business, from our approach to merchandising, to our compeling
marketing and advertising, to most importantly an enhanced customer
experience that focuses on treating our customers as friends by moving
from a “transactional” relationship to an “emotional” relationship. Indeed,
our Associates are the force that will bring our “Every Day Matters”
paositioning to life at JCPenney. Generating a deeper, more emotionally
driven relationship with customers will fully engage our Associates and

help make our Company the preferred cheice for a retail career.

EXCELLENCE IN EXECUTION AND

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:

The Company’s 2008 financial results (see hignlights on page 20} reflect
our success in executing our 2005-2009 Long-Range Plan strategies.
This progress has enabled us to considerably increase the value we have
delivered to our stockholders and we are delighted to report that the
market capitalization of the Company increased by $5.8 hillicn in 2006 to
reach $18.9 billion at year end.

Based on the Company's financial performance in the past year, our Board
has approved a new $400 million stock repurchase program, which is in
addition to the $750 milion program we completed in 2006. The Board
also approved a plan to raise the cash dividend payable to stockholders
by 11 percent to $0.80 per share for the coming year, on top of a 44

percent increase in 2008,

Importantly, our iong-term credit ratings have been raised to an investment
grade level by all three major rating agencies. We remain focused on

further strengthening our financial profile in 2007 and beyond.

LONG-RANGE PLAN OBJECTIVES
ACHIEVED AHEAD OF SCHEDULE

SETTING HIGHER GOALS:

Our outstanding performance has put us close to realizing
the financial objectives we set in the Long-Range Plan
launched in 2005. We had expected this to be a five-year
plan, and | am proud that we have achieved so much in just
two years. 5o while cur fundamental strategies have not
changed, we have updated our goals and initiatives. In short,
our new 2007-2011 Long-Range Plan focuses on:

B DEVELOPING A STRONG AND ENDURING
RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR CURRENT AND
NEW CUSTOMERS by understanding their wants
and aspirations, exceeding their expectations every
time they shop with us, and communicating why
we are the best choice.

B INSPIRING OUR CUSTOMERS WITH OUR
MERCHANDISE AND SERVICES by further
improving the relevancy of our offering through
enhanced style, selection, speed-to-market, pricing
strategies, and product flow.

B BEING THE PREFERRED CHOICE FOR A
RETAIL CAREER by offering an exciting work
experience, increasing engagement, recognizing
success, offering competitive benefits, and
developing and retaining the best peaple in retail.

B ESTABLISHING JCPENNEY AS THE GROWTH
LEADER IN THE RETAIL INDUSTRY by optimizing
growth in our core business as measured in sales,
productivity, profitability, and return on investment.

This is a great time for JCPenney and, on behalf of our
156,000 Associates, Board and management team, | would
like to express cur gratitude for your support. We remain
committed to delivering value for our stockholders. Even as
we celebrate our 105th anniversary, we believe the best is yet
to come for JCPenney's customers, Associates, and
investors, and we look forward (o a bright future,

C*-\ . E. ( ) N N
Myron E. (Mike) Uliman, 111

Chairman of the Board and Chisf Executive Officer
April 2007

e
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TODAY'S THE DAY TO

PERFORM,
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TODAY'S THE DAY TO

CONNECT

WITH OUR CUSTOMERS

AT JCPENNEY,
EVERY DAY IS AN OPPORTUNITY

TO GROW OUR BUSINESS.
TO CONNECT WITH OUR CUSTOMERS.
AND TO INSPIRE THEM.

TO BUILD A WINNING CULTURE
WITH QUR ASSOCIATES.

TO SHOW OUR COMMUNITIES
THAT WE CARE.

TODAY'S THE DAY TO WELCOME
OUR CUSTOMERS...
OUR ASSOCIATES...
OUR STOCKHOLDERS
TO JCPENNEY.

IN RETAIL, AS IN LIFE,

Every Day Matters”

Shown: St. John's Bay® for her,

The Original Arizona Jean Company® for ISHS. -
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TODAY’S THE DAY TO )

GROW

OUR BUSINESS

WITH NEW STORES, SERVICES,
AND MERCHANDISE THAT
CREATE AN EXCITING
SHOPPING EXPERIENCE.
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Flower Mound, Texas; opened March 2007,

=

A
S jcp.com: OUR FASTEST GROWING
SHOPPING CHANNEL WHAT’S IN STORE
JCPenney Direct is shifting to an Internet-dominated shopping JCPenney's new off-mall store format is generating increased customer
channel supported by print from a print-dominated shopping traffic and higher sales per square foot. In 2007, the Company plans to
channel. jcp.com continues to lead the industry with approximately open 50 new stores and remodel 65 existing stores.

$1.3 billion in 2006 sales.

TEAMING WITH THE BEST IN THE BUSINESS
| A joint initiative with Sephora is providing JCPenney with a dramatic re-entry into the
beauty business, giving new and existing customers ancther reason o shop with us.
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28 NEW STORES OPENED IN 2006
50 NEW STORES PLANNED TO OPEN IN 2007
250 NEW STORES PLANNED OVER THE NEXT 5YEARS

New Stores in 2006
% New Stores planned for 2007

2006 TOTAL NUMBER OF JCPENNEY STORES

Alabama 16
Alaska 1
Arizona 20
Arkansas 16
California 76
Colorado 18
Connecticut 10
Delaware -3
Florida 55
Georgia 29
Idaho 8
Hlinais 35
Indiana 28
lowa 20
Kansas 19
Kentucky 22
Louisiana 13

Maine
Maryland
Massachusetts
Michigan
Minnesota
Mississippi
Missouri
Montana
Nebraska
Nevada

New Hampshire
New Jersey
New Mexico
New York
North Carclina
North Dakota
OChio

1,033 total number of JCPenney stores

6 QOklahoma 17
17 Oregon 14
11 Pennsylvania 42
a4 Rhode Island 3
25 South Carofina 16
17 South Dakota 8
23 Tennesses 24

9 Texas 78
11 Utah 9

7 Vermont 6
10 Virginia 26
17 Washington 22
10 West Virginia 8
42 Wisconsin 24
38 Wyoming 5

8 Puerto Rico 7
45

103.1 million total gross square feet
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TODAY’S THE DAY TO

GROW

OUR BUSINESS

THROUGH THE LAUNCH OF KEY
PRIVATE AND EXCLUSIVE DESIGNER
BRANDS THAT ESTABLISH JCPENNEY
AS THE LIFESTYLE SHOPPING
DESTINATION FOR STYLE AND
QUALITY AT SMART PRICES.

Ana

\
i~ hi'awnancu
-t - I

EXCEPTIONAL STYLES. EXCLUSIVELY OURS.
a.n.a JCPenney's new modern casual brand exceeded $300 million in sales during its
first year. This private brand for women also exemplifies the Company's improved cycle

time reduction: designed, sourced, and offered to customers in 100 days.

east 5th Offering wormen versatile head-to-toe career wardrobe solutions with
classic style, east 5th commands success. The introduction of east 5th demonstrates
our unique ability to develop private brands that address the specific lifestyle needs of

our customers.

Studio by JCPenney Home Collection Respending to the needs of the modern
customer, Studio was introduced as a lifestyle solugion for casual, relaxed living. The
addition of Studio furniture and accessories positicns JCPenney as & style leader in

home decor.

A BRAND NEW PARTNERSHIP

Liz Claiborne, Inc. and JCPenney recently joined
forces to target the traditional woman and modern

man with refined casual style and quality.

Liz & Co. The Company's new exclusive brand
offers sportswear, handbags, fashion jeweliry, and
accessories, designed to address the style and

value preferences of traditional customers.

Concepts By Claiborne Created for the man
seeking high-quality, trend-right fashion, this modern
collection is built on the foundaticn of fashion basics,

complernented with related separates.
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OUR LARGEST PRIVATE
BRAND LAUNCH IN
COMPANY HISTORY

Ambrielle

a sensual induigence for every body

Ambrielle debuted in spring 2007 as the centerpiece of
JCPenney's redesigned lingerie department. Created for
the modern woman, Ambrielle blends sensual fashion with
cutstanding comfort and support — making it the superior
intimate apparel choice. In addition to offering the largest
range of sizes and selection of any department store,
customers are ensured the perfect fit by utilizing one of
more than 14,000 certified bra fit specialists nationwide.

jcp.com
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TODAY'’S THE DAY TO

INSPIRE

OUR CUSTOMERS

WITH A STRONG BALANCE
OF NATIONAL, PRIVATE, AND
EXCLUSIVE BRANDS THAT
MAKE JCPENNEY THE BEST
SHOPPING CHOICE FOR
EVERY CUSTOMER'S LIFESTYLE:
CONSERVATIVE, TRADITIONAL,

MODERN, OR TRENDY.

DESTINATION
NATIONAL BRANDS

HEADQUARTERS FOR THE NATION’S MOST
RECOGNIZED AND DESIRED BRANDS

page twelve | J. C. Penney Company, Inc. | Annual Report 2006



POWERFUL PRIVATE BRANDS AND
EXCLUSIVE DESIGNER BRANDS

] - /ff‘ OUTSTANDING MERCHANDISE THAT DIFFERENTIATES US FROM OUR
i
,"”‘ COMPETITION AND REPRESENTS APPROXIMATELY 50% OF OUR BUSINESS

e
/m oks
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TODAY’S THE DAY TO

INSPIRE

OUR CUSTOMERS

BY DEVELOPING AN
EMOTIONAL CONNECTION
THAT IS i JCPenney i .
STRONG AND ENDURING. (S .

"‘ Cada Dia Cuenta
R.com

/

New Hispanic Marketing Campaign

ENGAGE OUR CUSTOMERS THROUGH
POWERFUL MARKETING THAT MOTIVATES
THEM TO SHOP WITH US

From “live ads” at the MTV Music Awards to our new brand positioning —
“Every Day Matters,” JCPenney’s marketing continues to lead the industry
with innovative and compelling strategies.

“THE JCPENNEY EXPERIENCE" Open for three weeks, the high-concept
e virtual store was centered in the heart of Manhattan at One Times Square, 1t

" ,ii Jcpenney\JCPGHHEy'n ’llﬂh l

showcased the Company’s private and exclusive brands, while highlighting

our billion-dollar Internet business through interactive shopping kiosks.

PREMIO LO NUESTRO, LATIN MUSIC AWARDS In an effort to make an
even stronger emotional connection with our Hispanic customers,
JCPenney secured the exclusive sponsorship of the longest running and

most popular Latin music awards show, reaching over 11 million viewers.

ACADEMY AWARDS® JCPenney continues as the exclusive retail sponsor
of the prestigious award ceremony. In 2007, the broadcast, famous for its
focus on fashion, served as the consumer launch pad for the “Every Day

Matters” ad campaign and the new brand positioning of JCPenney.

BACK-TO-SCHOOL Exclusive retail sponsorships with youth-targeted award
shows were an integral part of cur campaign and included the 2006 Teen
Choice awards and Premios Juventud, Latin Teen Music Awards. The first

ever “live ad” concept was introduced at the 20068 MTV Video Music Awards

show, the No. 1 cable program of the year for persons ages 12 to 34.
page fourteen | J. . Pennay Company, Inc. | Annual Report 2006




BUILDING A RELATIONSHIP THAT

IS MORE THAN A TRANSACTION
BY INTEGRATING OUR STORES, CATALOGS, AND jcp.com, WE GET
TO KNOW OUR CUSTOMERS BETTER AND PROVIDE A SHOPPING
EXPERIENCE THAT EXCEEDS THEIR EXPECTATIONS.

SATISFYING CUSTOMER NEEDS
THROUGH INNOVATIVE OPTIONS
NATIONWIDE GIFT REGISTRY Providing resources to
= celebrate the key moments in life — weddings, births,
housewarmings, and more — helps to build enduring
relationships with customers. Our nationwide Gift Registry
makes gifting for any special occasion an efficient and

ift registry

kova Is & g, 50 shop fom tre N12AI,

enjoyable experience.

GIFT CARDS For halidays, birthdays, and every day, gift cards

—— —— have become one of the most desired gifi-giving solutions and
for the ! going to a weddng? coelebr. i 7 . . . . .
:.a ooupe mnw:-u:f,mg mmimug e continue to grow in popularity. For online custormers, e-Gift
0 oy your fty and ety D (0 S g i Gk et CTMA B CH Ny iy T A el . . .
Reinchons ooty cards offer the ultimate in speed and convenience.
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[ TODAY'S THE DAY TO

BUILD

A WINNING CULTURE

BY BECOMING
THE PREFERRED CHOICE
FOR A RETAIL CAREER.

i./
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OUR WINNING TOGETHER PRINCIPLES

Qur principles focus on making JCPenney a great place to work and create
an environment that encourages career development and personal growth,
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OUR ASSOCIATES. OUR GREATEST STRENGTH.

OUR MISSION IS TO RETAIN, DEVELOP, AND ATTRACT THE BEST PEOPLE IN
RETAIL WHO REFLECT THE DIVERSITY OF THE COMMUNITIES WE SERVE.

ACHIEVING A CORPORATE CULTURE

OF FULLY ENGAGED ASSOCIATES

A key strategy of our Long-Range Plan focuses on making JCPenney a great
place to work., We believe engaged Asscciates are the key to driving our
businass. With a focus on Associate engagement, we have defined and
branded an employment promise called WINNING TOGETHER, which
includes eight fundamental principles — Associates, integrity, parformance,
recognition, teamwork, quality, innovation, and community. These principles

serve as a moral code that defines the way we work and WIN together to

| achieve superior financial performance.
Company pep rally

INVESTING IN OUR INTERNAL LEADERSHIP

Taught by the Company's Executive Board, we have created several new
training programs to develop the Company’s next generation of leaders.
Through learning sessions such as "Retail Academy,” and "WINNING
TOGETHER Leading Together,” we are equipping cur Associates with tools
to develop their lzadership skills and drive our Company's growth.

PROVIDING OUR ASSOCIATES WITH CAREER

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Developing the skills and abilities of our Associates is cne of our top pricrities.
We offer clear career paths and opportunities to support personal growth.
Extensive training programs and tools like career discussions and Indivicual
Developrmant Plans further foster a culture of development at JCPenney,

BUILDING A WORKFORCE THAT REFLECTS THE
DIVERSITY OF THE COMMUNITIES WE SERVE
We are fully committed to creating an inctusive work environment where

everyone is respected and valued. Diversily serves as a competitive
advantage, allowing us to grow our business through our people. As an
example of how we recegnize and appreciate our workforce, six Asscciates
were featured in "Scmos JCPenney,” a special advertising section in
People en Espanol magazine during Hispanic Heritage Month.

*Somos JCPenney," which means "We are JCPenney"

CGaalvs
.32
o - Blam TX
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TODAY’S THE DAY TO

CARE

ABOUT OUR COMMUNITIES

BY IMPROVING
THE QUALITY OF LIFE
IN THE PLACES
WHERE WE WORK
AND LIVE.

JCPENNEY AFTERSCHOOL FUND
JCPenney’s highest
philanthropic pricrity is
children — our nation’s most
valuable resource. We are
dedicated to not only providing
access to life-changing
afterschool programs, but also
Faising national awareness of

JCPenney

/ school

powering potentiai
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“LIFE’S GREATEST PLEASURE AND SATISFACTION
IS FOUND IN GIVING, AND THE GREATEST
GlFT OF ALL IS THAT OF ONE’S SELF.” —James Cash Penngy

JCPENNEY JAM CONCERT FOR AMERICA'S KIDS In order

to bring the critical afterscheool issue into the national spctlight,

we created the “JCPENNEY JAM...THE CONCERT FOR
AMERICA'S KIDS,” the largest project ever undertaken

in America to raise awareness of the need for quality
afterschool programs. The concert, which was broadcast as a
prime-time special on CBS, featured a multi-genre lingup of
music icons including renowned artists Jon Bon Jovi, Sting,
:Mary J. Blige, Kenny Chesney, Andrea Bocelli, and more. The
!JAM also earned JCPenney the coveted “Peter Glen for Public

Service” award at the 2007 Retail Advertising Conference.

UNITED WAY By supporting the United Way, JCPenney
Associates are able to contribute to lasting, positive changes
in their communities and impact the lives of their friends,
family, coworkers, and customers. In 2006, JCPenney
Associates donated more than $11.5 million to United Way

programs nationwide,

AMES CASH PENNEY AWARDS JCPenney believes
olunteerism is vital to a healthy community. These awards
onor active and retired Associates who volunteer in their
ommunities with cash contributions to the charitable
rganizations they serve. In 2008, Asscciates volunteered
ver 225,000 hours and their charitable crganizations
aceived over $180,000.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
JCPenney is constantly seeking ways to betier integrate social
develcpment, economic progress, and environmental concerns to

ensure a better quality of life for future generations.

JCPenney is the U.S. Erwironmental Protection Agency's 2007
ENERGY STAR "Retall Partner of the Year” for outstanding energy

management and reductions in greenhouse gas emissions.

SUPPLIER COMPLIANCE JCPenney seeks suppliers who share
our strong commitment to delivering high-quality products to our
customers. Through our comprehensive compliance program, we
work hard to ensure the merchandise we sell in our stores complies
with applicable laws and that our suppliers operate at the highest

degree of ethical labor standards.

ECO-FRIENDLY We are dedicated to premating long-term
environmental stewardship — from the operation of our stores
to the expectations we set with our suppliers. In addition to
maintaining compliance, JCPenney is exploring more ways to

reduce our impact on the environment.

Go to www.jcpenney.net for more information about the Company’s
community relations and corporate social responsibility efforts.
This summary report is printed using 100% certified renewable wind energy

on Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) paper with 10% post-consumer waste
(PCW) fiber made and sourced from well-managed forests and other

controlled-wood sources. '
" Mixed
SOUICES certno.swroc1576 © 1996 FSC Sln_fjg'.-"\mdrr
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 HIGHLIGHTS |

I -

i

OPERATING RESULTS 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Retail sales, net (3 in millions) $ 19,903 $ 18,781 $ 18,096 $ 17,513 $ 17,384
Comparable department store sales increase(1) 3.79% 299 4.9% 0.8% 2.8%
Direct {Internet/catalog) sales increasel(decrease)(2) a1%” 9.6% 1.5% 3.39%9 (22.00%
Sales per gross square foot(4) $ 164 $ 157 $ 151 $ 144 $ 1M
Sales per net selling square foot{4) $ 231 $ 291 $ 214 $ 204 $ 201
Gross margin (5) ($ in millions) $ 7,825 $ 7,191 $ 6,792 $ 6,276 $ 6,097
As a percent of sales 39.3% 38.3% 37.5% 35.8% 35.1%
Operating income (5) (5 in millions) $ 1,922 $ 1,631 $ 1,275 $ 786 $ 624
As a percent of sales 9.7% 8.7% 7.0% 4.5% 3.6%
income from continuing operations ($inmilions) | § 1,134 $ 977 $ 657 $ 380 $ 283
Diluted earnings per share from

continuing operations $ 4.88 $ 383 $ 220 $ 1.20 $ 095
Return on beginning stockholders’ equity -

continuing operations 28.3% 201% 12.1% 5.7% 4.6%
Cash flow from operating activities of

continuing operations ($ in millions) $ 1,255 $ 1,337 $ 1,111 $ 795 $ 516
Capital expenditures (s in milions) $ 772 $ 535 $ 398 $ 359 $ 307
Dividends declared per common share $ 072 $ 050 $ 050 $ 050 $ 050
Number of JCPenney stores 1,033 1,019 1,017 1,020 1,043
Gross selling space (square feet in millions) 103.1 101.4 101.3 1011 103.3

{1} Comparable departmen: store sales are presented on a 52-week basis, Comparable department store sales include sales of new and relocated stores, and stores
msopened after being closed for an exiended period (e.g., stores closed due io 2005 hurricanes), after such stores have been open for 12 full consecutive fiscal months.
Stores remodeled and minor expansions not requining store closwe rernain in the comparable department store sales caloulation.

{2) Including sales for the 53rd week of 2008, the Internet component of Direct sales increased 24.4%. Excluding the effect of the 53rd weeks in 2006 and 2003,
the Internet component of Direct sales increased 22.1%, 27.9%, 34.0%, 47.9%, and 17.3% for 2008, 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

{3) Includes the effect of the 53rd weeks in 2006 and 2003. Excluding
sales of $50 million and $46 milion, respactively, for the 53rd weeks in
2006 and 2003, total Direct sales increased 2.4%, 3.3%, and 1.5% for

2008, 2004, and 2003, respectively. COMMON STOCK HOLDINGS

(4) Calculations include the sales of stores that were open for a full fiscal The following table shows the approximate

year as of each year end. The 2006 and 2003 calculations exclude sales ownarship percentage of the Company’s common
of the 53rd week. stock by major category as of December 31, 2006:

{5} In 20086, costs associated with the Company's store merchandise

o .
distribution centers were reclassified from selling, general and % Ownership

administrative expenses into cost of goods sold, a component of gross 83% Institutional
margin, and real estate and other was included as a component of
operating income. All prior periods presented have been reclassified to 9% Company savings plan

reflect these new classifications.
8% Individual and other
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STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Trading symbol JCP / New York Stock Exchange

ANNUAL MEETING

Friday, May 18, 2007, at 10 a.m. CDT
JCPenney Home Office

6501 Legacy Drive

Pltano, TX 75024

SERVICES FOR REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS
Mellon Investor Services, the transfer agent for JCPenney,
provides services such as record keeping, stock transfer,
and dividend payment for JCPenney registered
stockholders. Registered stockholders who have questions
or need assistance with their accounts should contact:

Mellon Investor Services, LLC
P.O. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ 07606
1-800-842-9470
www.melloninvestor.com/isd

SEC FILINGS

JCPenney SEC filings, including the following, are
available on the Company’s Investor Relations Web site
at www.jcpenney.net:

® Annual Reports on Form 10-K
m Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q
m Current Reports on Form 8-K

QUARTERLY EARNINGS CONFERENCE CALLS

Live audio of each quarterly earnings conference call can
be accessed through our Investor Relations Web site at
www.jcpenney.net on the morning of the earnings release.
Audio replays of the call are available up to 90 days
following the event,

CERTIFICATIONS

The Company submitted its annual CEQ Certification to
the New York Stock Exchange in 2006 as required by
Section 303A.12{a) of the New York Stock Exchange
Listed Company Manual. The Company filed the CEQ
and CFO certifications required under Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission as exhibits to its 2006 Annual
Report an Form 10-K.

REFERENCE TO PROXY STATEMENT

For additional information about Company directors,
board committees, audit fees, corporate governance
matters, and executive compensation, see the 2007
J. C. Penney Company, Inc. Notice of Annual Meeting
and Proxy Statement.
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FISCAL 2007 SALES RELEASE DATES

Sales Period Release Date
February 2007 March 8, 2007
March 2007 April 12, 2007
April 2007 May 10, 2007

May 2007 June 7, 2007

June 2007 July 12, 2007

July 2007 August 9, 2007
August 2007 September 6, 2007
September 2007  October 11, 2007
October 2007 Nevember 8, 2007
Novermber 2007 December 6, 2007
December 2007 January 10, 2008
January 2008 February 7, 2008

FISCAL 2007 EARNINGS RELEASE DATES

Quarter Release Date

st Quarter May 17, 2007

2nd Quarter August 18, 2007
3rd Quarter November 15, 2007
4th Quarter February 21, 2008

CONTACT INFORMATION
J. C. Penney Company, Inc.
6501 Legacy Drive

Plano, TX 75024
972-431-1000

Shopping  www.jcp.com

Company information  www.jcpenney.net

Media Relations:
972-431-3400
jcpeorpcomm@jcpenney.com

Investor Relations:
Rabert Johnson
972-431-2217
rviohnso@jcpenney.com

Ed Merritt
972-431-8167
emerritt@jcpenney.com

WEB SITE AVAILABILITY

Company Corporate Governance Guidelines, Board
Committee charters, and instructions for communicating
with the Board are available by writing to the Company or
at www.jcpenney.net. Click on "Investor Relations,” then
"Corporate Governance” to access these materials.
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Myron E. (Mike) Utiman, 11}

Chairman ¢f the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Colleen C. Barrett 2, 3
President,
Southwest Airlines Co.

M. Anthony Burns 1, 3, 4
Chalmnan Emeritus,
Ryder System, Inc.

Maxine K. Clark 2, 3
Founder and Chief Executive Officer,
Build-A-Bear Workshop, Inc.

Thomas J. Engibous 7, 4~
Chairman of the Board,
Texas Instrurments Incorporated

Myron E. (Mike) Ullman, Il ‘,

Chairman of the.Board and
Chief Executiva Officer

Ken C, Hicks
. President .and
Chiet Merchandising Officer

Jeffrey J. Allison
Execulive Vice President,
Geaneral Merchandise Manager,
Home and Cuslorm Dacorating

Joanne L. Bober
Executive Vice President, _
General Counsel and Secretary

Michael J. Boylson
Executive Vice President,
Chief Marketing Officer
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{numbers relate to Board Committee assignments described be}ow)'. 1t

Kent B. Foster 1, 4
Chairman of the Board,
Ingram Micro Inc.

Vernon E. Jordan, Jr. 2-
Senior Managing Director,

Lazard Freres & Co., LLGC;

Of Counsal, Akin, Gump, Strauss,
Hauer & Feld, LLP

Burt Oshorne 2, 3
Publisher Emeritus,

The Dallas Morning News;
Chairrman of the Board,
The Associated Press

— e

Leonard H. Roberts 7, 4 i
Retired Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer, .

RadioShack Corporation s

Ann Marie Tallman 2
Founder and Partner,
Tallman Homes, LLC

R. Gerald Turner 2, 3
Prasident,
Southern Methodist University

Mary Beth West 1, 4

Group Vice President

anc President, Kraft Foods - E
North American ' '
Beverage Sector

Lana GCain

Executive Vice President,
General Merchandise Manager,
Men’s and Children's

‘Rebert B. Cavanaugh
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Thomas A. Clerkin
Senior Vice President,
Director of Finance for
Stores, Catalog and Internet

Michael P. Dastugue
Senior Vice President,
Director of Property Davelopment

Bernard D. Feiwus

. Senior Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer of
JCP Direct

EXECUTIVE
BOARD |

S |

John W. Irvin
Executive Vice President,
President of JGP Girect

Clarence L. Kelley
Executive Vice President,
Birector-of Planning and Allocation

James W. LaBounty
Senior Vica Prasident,
Director of Supply Chain Management

Peter M. McGrath
Executive Vice President,
Director of Product Development
and Sourcing

Thomas M. Nealon
Executive Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

The National Portrait Gallery, 2007

JCPennay would fike o thank
retiring Director, Vernon E. Jordan, Jr.,
for 34 years of commitment and service.

Mr. Jordan's counset and dedication played
an instrumental role ovar the years, including
the successful completion of our turparound

and current growth strategies.

Beryl Raff

Executive Vice President,
General Merchandise Manager,
Fine Jewslry

Elizabeth H. Sweney
Exacutive Vice President,
General Merchandise Manager,
Women's Apparel

Michae! W. Taxter
Executive Vice President,
Director of JCPennay Stores

Michae! T. Theilmann
Executive Vice President,
Chief Human Resources and
Adrministration Officer

1. Member of the Audit Committee.

This commitiee:

selects amd retains the independent auditors for the annual audit of JCPenney's
consofidated financial statements

approves audit fees and-non-audit services and fées of the mdenendem duditors
reviews the independent auditors' avdit strategy and plan sccpe audit results performance,
and independence

participates in the certification process foc penodlc reooﬂs flled pursuant te the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934

reviews internal audit reports on the adequacy of intemat conirols

reviaws the stalus of significant legal matters, the Company's £thics program,

and the scope of the internal auditors' plans and budget, and resilts of their audits
Teviews the effectiveness of the Company's program far correcting audit fi ndnngs

M @ BE B EER ©®

Member of the Corporate Govemance Committee.

-This commities;

oonsiders matters of corporate governam:e and reviews developmenls in the govemsmce
area a they affect relations between the Company and its stockholders -

" develops and recommends to the Board corporate gavernance principles and
praclices for the Company
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2. (cont d) . )

B makes recommendauons 1o the Board on the size, cumposnmu orgamzauon responsihiiities,
‘and functions of the Board and its Directors -

W makes recommendations 1o the Board with respect to the nualifications of Directors, candidates
for electlon as Directors, and the compansation: of Directors .

M makes recommendations to the Board regarding annual |ndependence ﬂetermlnalions and the

annual performance seif-assessment by the Board.

" 3. Membar of the Human Hesources and Compensatlon Committee.
This committes:
reviews and administers the Company's amuai and long-term incentive ocmpensatnon plans
“recommends or takas action with respect to senior executive officer compensation
‘performs periodic reviews of succession-plans for key-Company executives, including the CEQ
“reviews the annuat financial condtion and investment perfosmance of the Company's™
retirement and welfare plans, including the annual actuarial valeation repors for the plans |
oversees the administration and operatim of certain Company retiremaent and welfare plans.

4. Member of the Financa Commlttee
* This commities:
W reviews the Companysfmancnal pohc:es stralegles and capnal structure.
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PART 1

Item 1. Busineés.

Business Overview

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. is a holding company whose principal operating subsidiary is J. C. Penney
Corporation, Inc. (JCP). JCP was incorporated in Delaware in 1924, and J. C. Penney Company, Inc. was
incorporated in Delaware in 2002, when the holding company structure was implemented. The new holding
company assumed the name J. C. Penney Company, Inc. (Company). The holding company has no independent
assets or operations, and no direct subsidiaries other than JCP. Common stock of the Company is publicly traded
under the symbol “JCP” on the New York Stock Exchange. The Company is a co-obligor (or guarantor, as
appropriate) regarding the payment of principal and interest on JCP’s outstanding debt securities. The guarantee by
the Company of certain of JCP's outstanding debt securities is full and unconditional. The holding company and its
consolidated subsidiaries, including JCP, are collectively referred to in this Annuat Report on Form 10-K as
“Company” or “JCPenney,” unless otherwise indicated.

Since JCP’s founding by James Cash Penney in 1902, the Company has grown to be a major retailer, operating 1.033
JCPenney department stores in 49 states and Puerto Rico as of February 3.2007. The Company's business consists
of selling merchandise and services to consumers through its department stores and Direct (Internet/catalog)
channels. Department stores and Direct generally serve the same type of customers and provide virtually the same
mix of merchandise, and department stores accept returns from sales made in stores, via the Internet and through
catalogs. The Company markets family apparel. jewelry. shoes, accessories und home furnishings. In addition, the
department stores provide customers with services such as salon, optical, portrait photography and custom
decorating. See Retail Sales Mik on page 17 for sales by category.

A five-year summary of certain financial and operational information regarding the Company’s continuing
operations can be found in Part I1, ltem 6. Selected Financial Data. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For
a discussion of the Company’s ongoing merchandise initiatives, see Part IT, Item 7, Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

For purposes of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, all references to Notes are to the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements beginning on page F-7.

Discontinued Operations

Lojas Renner S.A. .

On July 5. 2005, the Company's indirect wholly owned subsidiary. }. C. Penney Brazil. Inc.. closed on the sale of its
shares of Lojas Renner S.A. (Renner), a Brazilian department store chain, through a public stock offering registered
in Brazil. The net after-tax cash proceeds from the sale of approximately $260 miilion were used for common stock
repurchases, which are more fully discussed in Note 3. Including a favorable tax adjustment in 2006, the sale
resulted in a cumulative pre-tax gain of $26 million and a gain of $1 million on an after-tax basis.

Eckerd Drugstores

On July 31, 2004, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries closed on the sale of its Eckerd drugstore operations
(Eckerd) to the Jean Coutu Group (PJC) Inc. (Coutu) and CVS Corporation and CVS Pharmacy, Inc. The net after-
tax cash proceeds from the sale of approximately $3.5 billion were used for common stock repurchases and debt
reduction, which are more fully discussed in Notes 3 and 11. Through 2006, the cumulative joss on the sale was
$715 million pre-tax, or $1,326 million on an after-tax basis.

For all periods presented, the tesults of operations and financial position for Renner and Eckerd are reflected as
discontinued operations.

Competition and Seasonality

The business of marketing merchandise and services is highly competitive, The Company is one of the largest
department store, catalog and e-commerce retailers in the United States, and it has numerous competitors, as further
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described on page 4 in Item 1 A, Risk Factors. Many factors eater into the competition for the consumer’s patronage,
including price, quality, style, service, product mix, convenience and credit availability. The Company’s annual
earnings depénd to a great extent on the resuits of operations for the last quarter of its fiscal year, which includes the
holiday season, when a significant portion of the Company’s sales and profits are recorded.

Trademarks

The JCPenney, Every Day Matters, Okie Dokie, Worthington, east5th, a.n.a, St.John’s Bay, The Original Arizona
Jean Company, Ambrielle, Stafford, ). Ferrar, JCPenney Home Collection and Studio by JCPenney Home
Collection trademarks, as well as certain other trademarks, have been registered, or are the subject of pending
trademark applications with the United States Patent and Trademark Office and with the registries of many foreign
countries and/or are protected by common law, The Company considers its marks and the accompanying name
recognition to be valuable to its business. For further discussion of the Company’s private brands, see Part I1, Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, beginning on page 12
herein.

Web Site Availability

The Company maintains an Internet Web site at www.jcpenney.net and makes availabie free of charge through this
Web site its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all
related amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after the materials are electronically filed
with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. In addition, the Web site also provides press releases,
an investor update package, access to Web casts of management presentations and other materials useful in
evaluating the Company.

Suppliers

The Company purchases its merchandise from approximately 2,900 domestic and foreign suppliers, many of which
have done business with the Company for many years. In addition 1o its Plano, Texas home office, the Company,
through its international purchasing subsidiary, maintained buying and quality assurance inspection offices in 18
foreign countries as of February 3, 2007.

Employment

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries employed approximately 155,000 full-time and part-time associates
as of February 3, 2007.

Environmental Matters

Environmental protection requirements did not have a material effect upon the Company’s operations during fiscal
2006. While management believes it would be unlikely, it is possible that compliance with such requirements would
lengthen lead time in expansion plans and increase construction costs and therefore, operating costs due in part to
the expense and time required to conduct environmental and ecological studies and any required remediation,

In 2006, management engaged an independent engineering firm to update a previous evaluation of the Company’s
established reserves for potential environmental liability agsociated with facilities, some of which the Company no
longer owns or operates. Based on this analysis, the Company increased its reserves to an amount that it believes is
adequate to cover the estimated potential labilities, which primarily relate to underground storage tanks. Funds
spent to remedy these sites are charged against the established reserves. In addition, the Company also has recorded
reserves for the estimated cost of asbestos removal where renovations or a sale of the facility are planned.

As part of the sale agreements for the 2004 disposition of Eckerd, the Company retained responsibility to remediate
environmental conditions that existed at the time of the sale. Certain properties, principaily distribution centers,
were identified as having such conditions at the time of sale. Reserves were established by management, after
consultation with an environmental engineering firm, for specifically identified properties, as well as a certain
percentage of the remaining properties, considering such factors as age, location and prior use of the properties.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant '

The following is a list, as of March 19, 2007, of the names and ages of the executive officers of J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. and of the offices and other positions held by each such person with the Company. These officers
hold identical positions with JCP, other than Mr. Alcorn, whose title with JCP is Senior Vice President, Controller
and Chief Purchasing Officer. References to JCPenney positions held during fiscal years 2001 and earlier (prior to
the creation of the holding company) are for JCP. There is no family relationship between any of the named persons.

Name Offices and Other Positions Held With the Company Age
Myron E. Ullman, HI Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 60
William J. Alcorn Senior Vice President and Controller 58
Joanne L. Bober Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 54
Robert B. Cavanaugh Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 55
Ken C. Hicks President and Chief Merchandising Officer - 54
Thomas M. Nealon Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer .46
Michael T. Theilmann Executive Vice President, Chief Human Resources and

Administration Officer 42

M. Ullman has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since
December 2004. He was Directeur General, Group Managing Director, LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuiiton
(luxury goods manufacturet/retailer) from 1999 to 2002. He was President of LVMH Selective Retail Group from
1998 to 1999, From 1995 to-1998, he was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of DFS Group Ltd.
From 1992 to 1995, he was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of R. H. Macy & Company, Inc. He
has served as a director of the Company, and a director of JCP, since December 2004.

M. Alcorn has served as Controller of the Company since 1996 and was elected as a Senior Vice President of the
Company in 2001. He has served in various positions of increasing importance with the Company since 1971.

Ms. Bober has served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company since September
2005. From February 2005 to September 2005, she served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
of the Company. She served as Senior Vice President and General Counsel of The Chubb Corporation trom 1999 to
2005.

Mr. Cavanaugh has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 2001, He
served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Eckerd Corporation, a former subsidiary of the
Company, from 1999 to 2001. From 1996 to 1999, he served as Vice President and Treasurer of the Company. He
has served as a director of JCP since 2002.

Mr. Hicks has served as President and Chief Merchandising Officer of the Company since January 2005. He served
as President and Chief Operating Officer of Stores and Merchandise Operations from July through December 2004.
He has served as a director, and President and Chief Merchandising Officer of JCP since January 2005. He served as
President and Chief Operating Officer of Stores and Merchandise Operations of JCP from July 2002 to December
2004. From 1999 to 2002, he served as President of Payless ShoeSource, Inc. "

M. Nealon was elected Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer effective October 2, 2006. From
2002 to 2006, he was employed by Electronic Data Systems Corporation (global technology services), where he
served on assignment as the Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of Southwest Airlines Co. From
2000 to 2002, he was a partner with the Feld Group (information technology consulting).

Mr. Theilmann has served as Executive Vice President, Chief Human Resources and Administration Officer of the
Company since June 2005. From 2002 to 2005, he served as Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Chief
People Officer of the International business of Yum! Brands Inc. (restaurants). From 2000 to 2002, he served as Vice
President of Human Resources for European operations at Yam! Brands Inc.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors should be read carefully, along with the cautionary statement regarding forward-looking
information on page 39, in connection with evaluating the Company’s business and the forward-looking infor-
mation contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could materially adversely affect
the Company's business, operating results, financial condition and the actual outcome of matters as to which
forward-looking statements are made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While the Company believes it has
identified and discussed below the key risk factors affecting its business, there may be additional risks and
uncertainties that are not presently known or that are not currently believed to be significant that may adversely
affect the Company’s business, performance or financial condition in the future.

The retail industry is highly competitive, which could adversely impact the Company’s sales and profitability.

The retail industry is highly competitive, with few barriers to entry. The Company competes with many other local.
regional and national retailers for customers, associates, locations, merchandise, services and other important
aspects of the Company’s business. Those compelitors include other department stores, discounters, home
furnishing stores, specialty retailers, wholesale clubs, direct-to-consumer businesses and other forms of retail
commerce. Some competitors are larger than JCPenney, have greater financial resources available to them, and. as a

| result, may be able (o devote greater resources to sourcing, promoting and selling their products. Competition is

l characterized by many factors, including merchandise assortment, advertising, price, quality, service, location,
reputation and credit availability. The performance of competitors as well as changes in their pricing and
promotional policies, marketing activities, new store openings, brand launches and other merchandise and
operational strategies could cause the Company to have lower sales, lower gross margin and/or higher opcrating
expenses such as marketing costs and other selling, general and administrative expenses, which in turn could have
an adverse impact on the Company’s profitability.

The Company’s sales and operating results depend on customer preferences and fashion trends.

The Company’s sales and operating results depend in part on its ability to predict or respond to changes in fashion
trends and customer preferences in a timely manner by consistently offering stylish quality merchandise assort-
ments at competitive prices. The Company continuously assesses emerging styles and trends and focuses on
developing a merchandise assortment to meet customer preferences. Even with these efforts, the Company cannot
be certain that it will be able to successfully meet constantly changing customer demands. To the extent the
Company’s predictions differ from its customers’ preferences, the Company may be faced with excess inventories
for some products and/or missed opportunities for others. Excess inventories can result in lower gross margins due
to greater than anticipated discounts and markdowns that might be necessary to reduce inventory levels. Low
inventory levels can adversely affect the timing of shipments to customers and diminish sales and brand loyalty.
Consequently, any sustained failure to identify and respond to emerging trends in lifestyle and customer preferences
and buying trends could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business and any significant misjudgments
regarding inventory levels could adversely impact the Company’s results of operations.

The Company’s growth and profitability depend on the level of consumer confidence and spending.

The Company’s results of operations are sensitive to changes in overall economic and political conditions that
impact consumer spending, including discretionary spending. Many economic factors outside of the Company’s
control, including the housing market, interest rates, recession, inflation and deflation, energy costs and availability.
consumer credit availability and terms, consumer debt levels, tax rates and policy, and unemployment trends
influence consumer confidence and spending. The domestic and international political situation also affects
consumer confidence and spending. Additional events that could impact the Company’s performance include
pandemics, terrorist threats and activities, worldwide military and domestic disturbances and conflicts, and pelitical
instability. A general reduction in the level of consumer spending could adversely affect the Company’s growth and
profitability.
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The Company’s profitability depends on its ability to source merchandise and deliver it to the Company’s
customers in a timely and cost-effective manner. ‘

The Company's merchandise is sourced from a wide variety of suppliers, and its business depends on being able to
find qualified suppliers and access products in a timely and efficient manner. A substantial portion of the
Company's merchandise is sourced outside of the United States. All of the Company’s suppliers must comply
with the Company’s supplier legal compliance program and applicable laws. Although the Company diversifies its
sourcing and production by country, the failure of a supplier to produce and deliver the Company’s goods on time, to
meet the Company’s quality standards or to meet the requirements of the Company’s supplier compliance program
or applicable laws, or the Company’s inability to flow merchandise to its stores or through Direct in the right
quantities at the right time could adversely affect the Company’s profitability. Similarly, political or financial
instability, changes in U.S. and foreign laws and regulations affecting the importation and taxation of goods,
including duties, tariffs and quotas, or changes in the enforcement of those laws and regulations, as well as currency
exchange rates, transport capacity and costs and other factors relating to foreign trade and the inability to access
suitable merchandise on acceptable terms could adversely impact the Company’s results of operalions.

The Company’s business is seasonal,

The Company’s annual earnings and cash flows depend to a great extent on the results of operations for the last
quarter of its fiscal year, which includes the holiday season. The Company’s fiscal fourth-quarter results may
fluctuate significantly, based on many factors, including holiday spending patterns and weather conditions. This
seasonality causes the Company’s operating results to vary considerably from quarter to quarter.

The failure to successfully execute the Company’s new store growth strategy could adversely impact its future
growth and profitability. .

The Company’s plans to accelerate the growth of new stores, primarily in the off-mall format, depend in part on the
availability of store sites or existing retail stores on acceptable terms. The Company competes with other retailers
and businesses for suitable locations for its stores. Loca! land use and other regulations may impact the Company’s
ability to find suitable locations. In addition, increases in real estate, construction and development costs could limit
the Company’s growth opportunities and adversely impact its return on investment. Furthermore, although the
Company has conducted strategic market research, including reviewing demographic and regional economic
trends, prior to making a decision to enter into a particular market, the Company cannot be certain that its entry into
a particular market will prove successful. The inability to execute the Company’s new store growth strategy in a
manner that generales appropriate returns on investment could have an adverse impact on its future growth and
profitability.

The failure to attract, retain and motivate the Company’s associates, including associates in key positions, could
have an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations.

The Company’s results depend on the contributions of its associates, including its senior management team and
other key associates. Since 2000, the Company has hired seasoned individuals, including executive level associates
and others with a breadth of experience in merchandising, marketing, and buying and allocation under a centralized
model, The Company’s performance depends to a great extent on its ability to attract, retain and motivate quality
associates throughout the organization, many of whom, particularly in the department stores, are in entry level or
part-lime positions with historically high rates of turnover. The Company's ability to meet its labor needs while
controlling its costs is subject Lo external factors such as unemployment levels, prevailing wage rates, minimum
wage legislation and. changing demographics. If the Company is unable to attract, retain and motivate quality
associates at all levels, its results of operations_could be adversely impacted.

The Company’s operations are dependent on information technology systems; disruptions in those systems could
have an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations.

The Company’s operations are dependent upon the integrity, security and consistent operation of various systems
and data centers, including the point-of-sale systems in the stores, data centers that process transactions,
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communication systems and various software applications used throughout the Company to track inventory flow,
process transactions and generate performance and financial reports. The Company could encounter difficulties in
developing new systems or maintaining and upgrading existing systems. Such difficulties could lead to significant
expenses or to losses due to disruption in business operations. In addition, despite the Company’s considerable
efforts and technology to secure its computer network, security could be compromised, confidential information
could be misappropriated or system disruptions could occur. This could lead to loss of sales or profits or cause the
Company to incur significant costs to reimburse third parties for damages. In addition, the continued realization of
the benefits of the Company’s centralized buying and allocation processes and systems is a key element of the
Company’s ability to meet its long-term customer and financial goals. The effectiveness of these processes and
systems is an important component of the Company’s ability to have the right inventory at the right place, time and
price.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

At February 3, 2007, the Company operated 1,033 JCPenney department stores throughout the continental
United States, including Alaska, and Puerto Rico, of which 314 were owned. The Company also owned and
operated four Direct (Internet/catalog) fulfillment centers and three regional warehouses. The Company owned
seven of its 13 store merchandise distribution centers, each of which was located in either the Company’s owned
fulfiliment centers or regional warehouses. The Company owned its home office facility in Plano, Texas, as well as
approximately 240 acres of property adjacent to the facility. Information relating to certain of the Company’s
facilities is included in Part II, Item 6, Selected Financial Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Gayle G. Pitts, et al v. J. C. Penney Direct Marketing Services, Inc. (DMS), AEGON Direct Marketing Services, Inc.,
and J. C. Penney Life Insurance Company n/k/a Stonebridge Insurance Company, No. 01-03395-F, in the 2 14th Judi-
cial District Court of Nueces County. Texas; and Appellant(s): Stonebndge Life Insurance Company f/k/aJ. C. Penney
Life Insurance Company (JCPenney Life), I, C. Penney Direct Marketing Services, Inc., and AEGON Direct
Marketing Services, Inc. v. Gayle G. Pitts, et al, No. 13-03-131-CV, in the Court of Appeals for the Thirteenth District
of Texas.

This is a class action lawsuit (the Texas DMS Lawsuit) filed against the above named defendants. It involves the sale
of J. C. Penney Life Insurance accidental death and dismemberment insurance over the telephone. The named
plaintiffs allege that they did not give permission to defendants to charge their credit cards for such insurance
premiums. They allege that the scripted questions asked during the telephone sales presentation are inadequalte to
obtain permission to charge the customer’s credit card, primarily because the customer is not told that the insurance
company already has his or her credit card number.

The Texas DMS Lawsuit originally also included as defendants J. C. Pem{ey Company, Inc., and J. C. Penney
International Insurance Group, Inc. The plaintiffs have since dismissed these parties.

The Texas DMS Lawsuit originally also included named plaintiffs who did not deny giving permission to charge
their credit cards for premiums, but who alleged that they had submitted claims that were wrongfully denied. Those
former named plaintiffs and their claims were severed into a separate lawsuit captioned York, et al v. J. C. Penney
Company, Inc., J. C. Penney Direct Marketing Services, Inc., I. C. Penney Life Insurance Company, I. C. Penney
Intenational Group, Inc,, AEGON Direct Marketing Services, Inc., AEGON USA, Inc., and Commonwealth
General Corporation, No. 02-2651-F, in the 214th District Court of Nueces County, Texas (the Severed Lawsuit).
The Severed Lawsuit was originally pled as a class action, but the plaintiffs amended their petition and now assert
only individual claims, '

The assets of DMS, including the stock of JCPenney L.ife, were sold to Commonwealth General Corporation
{Commonwealth), a domestic subsidiary of AEGON, N. V., pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (the
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Agreement) dated as of March 7, 2001, among Commonwealth as Purchaser, DMS as Seller, and JCP as Parent
corporation of DMS, Thus, as a matter of law. all of the liabilities of JCPenney Life stayed with that company after
the sale. Commonwealth is currently providing defense to DMS.

Under the Agreement, JCP and DMS agreed to indemnify Commonwealth for any liability of JCPenney Life, but
only to the extent that such liability arises out of or relates to a breach of a representation and warranty in the
Agreement. Commonwealth may claim entitlement to indemnification from JCP and DMS if a final determination
in the Texas DMS Lawsuit is adverse to JCPenney Life, and Commonwealth successfully contends that the liability
arose out of a breach of a representation or warranty in the Agreement. JCP’s and DMS’s liability for breaches of
representations and warranties is subject to both a deductible and a cap.

In September 2002, the trial court certified the Texas DMS Lawsuitas a national class action. On July 15, 2004, the
Court of Appeals for the Thirteenth District of Texas reversed the certification order and remanded the case to the
trial court. Plaintiffs filed a second supplemental motion for class certification, this time seeking a Texas class only.
On January 31, 2005, the trial court granted the motion. certifying a Texas class. Following appeal of the trial court
order by the defendants, on May 18, 2006, the Court of Appeals for the Thirteenth District of Texas upheld the trial
court’s certification of a class of Texas consumers who purchased the accidental death and dismemberment
insurance products between 1996 and the certification date. The defendants have appealed the decision of the Court
of Appeals to the Supreme Court of Texas.

On February 3, 2005, Vicente Balderaz filed a complaint in the First Judicial District, State of New Mexico, County
of Santa Fe (No. D-0101-CV2005-00249) (the New Mexico Lawsuit) against the same defendants as the Texas
DMS Lawsuit, including DMS, and asserting essentially the same claims. DMS has since been dismissed. The New
Mexico Lawsuit seeks certification of a nation-wide class. On November 9 and 10, 2005, the trial court held a
hearing on the plaintiff’s motion for class certification. -

The Company denies the allegations against its current and former subsidiaries in the Texas DMS Lawsuit, the
Severed Lawsuit, and the New Mexico Lawsuit and, along with the other defendants, is vigorously defending the
cases and opposing class certification. Although itis too early to predict the outcome of the Texas DMS Lawsuit, the
Severed Lawsuit, and the New Mexico Lawsuit, management is of the opinion that they should not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of stockholders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity

The Company's common stock is traded principally on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol
“JCP” The number of stockholders of record at March 19, 2007 was 37,388, In addition to common stock, the
Company has authorized 25 million shares of preferred stock, of which no shares were issued and outstanding at
February 3, 2007.




The table below sets forth the quoted high and low market prices of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE for
each quarterly period indicated, the quarter-end closing market price of the Company s common stock, as well as
the quarterly cash dividends declared per share of common stock:

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter . Fourth Quarter
Per share: 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Dividend . $0.180  30.125  30.180  $0.i25  $0.i80 $0.125 $0.180 $0.i25
Market price: '
High $65.64° $53.44 $69.34  $57.99 . $77.76 85726 $8548  $57.70
Low $54.18 $42.01 $59.51 $46.72 36142 $44.16 $73.92 $49.51
Close ) $65.46  $47.41 $62.75  $56.14 $76.25  $49.01 $83.70 " $56.21

The Company’s Board of Directors (Board) reviews the dividend policy and rate on a quarterly basis, taking into
consideration the overall financial and strategic outlook for the Company, earnings, liquidity and cash flow
projections, as well as competitive factors. Tn February 2007, the Board authorized a plan to increase the quarterly
dividend on its common stock to $0.20 per share beginning with the May 1, 2007 dividend. On March 29, 2007, the
Board declared a quarterly 'dividend of $0.20 per share to be paid on May 1, 2007, |

Additional information relating to the common stock and preferred stock, including the Series B ESOP Convertible
Preferred Stock (which was redeemed in 2004), of the Company is included under the captions “Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity” (page F-5), “Capital Stock™ (page F-24) and “Equity and Debt Restructuring”
(pages F-18 to F-19), which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on the pages indicated.

Issuer Purchases of Securities

During the 2004 to 2006 period, the Company repurchased shares of its common stock under its common stock
repurchase programs totaling $4.9 billion in the aggregate as authorized by the Board. Share repurchases were made
in open-market transactions, subject to market conditions, legal requirements and other factors. The Company
repurchased and retired 11.3 million, 44.2 million and 50.1 million shares of common stock during 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively, at a cost of approximately $750 million, $2.2 billion and $1.95 billion, respectively. No
repurchases of common stock were made during the fourth quarter of 2006, and no amounts remained authorized for
share repurchase as of February 3, 2007. On March 29, 2007, the Board authorized a new program of common stock
repurchases of up to $400 million, which is expected (o be completed by the end of fiscal 2007.
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Five-Year Total Stockholder Return Comparison

The following presentation compares JCPenney's cumulative five-year stockholder returns on an indexed basis with
the S&P 500 Stock Index and the S&P 500 Retail Index for Department Stores. A list of these companies follows the
graph below. The following graph and related information shail not be deemed “soljciting material” or “filed” with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future
filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent
that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
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‘The stockholder returns shown are neither determinative nor indicative of future performance.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (UNAUDITED) 7
) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

{in millions, except per share data)
Results for the year
Retail sales, net _ $19,903  $18,781  $18,096 317513 § 17384
Sales percent increase/(decrease):
Total department store sales ' 63% " 38% 3.7%0  03n" 1.9%
Comparable department store sales™ 3.7% 25% 4.9% 0.8% 2.8%
Direct (Internet/catalog) sales 4.1%%  3.6% 1L.5%*  33%% (22.0)%
Income from continuing operations $1.134 § 977 % 657 S 360 § 283
Ratios as a percent of sales:
Gross margin® 393%  383%  375%  35.8% 35.1%
. Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses™” 27.7% 27.8% 28.4% 29.3% 29.0%
| Total operating expenses™ 296%  296%  305%  31.3% 31.5%
Operating income™ 9.7% 8.7% 7.0% 4.5% 36%
Return on beginning stockholders’ equity — continuing operations 28.3% 20.1% 121% 57% 4.6%
Return on beginning invested capital - continuing operations' 17.4% 13.3% 8.4% 5.6% 1.6%
Per common share ‘
Income from continuing operations, diluted $ 48 $ 383 % 220 $ 120 $ 095
Dividends declared 0.72 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Stockholders® equity d9.02 - 17.21 17.89 19.08 22.78
Financial position and cash flow
Total assets : $12,673  $12461 $14,127  S$18300 $ 17,787
Merchandise inventory 3,400 3,210 3,142 3,135 2,955
Property and equipment, net 4,162 3,748 3,575 3,461 3,566
Long-term debt, including current maturities 3444 3465 3.923 5,356 5.173
Stockholders’ equity 4,288 4,007 4,856 5,425 6,370
Cash flow from operating activities -- continuing operations 1.255 1.337 111t 795 516
Capital expenditures 772 535 398 359 307
" Dividends paid, common and preferred 153 131 150 160 161
Other
Common shares outstanding at end of year 226 233 271 274 269
Weighted-average common shares:
Basic - o . 229 253 279 272 267
Diluted 232 255 307 297 293

(1) Includes the effect of the 33vd week in 2006 and 2003, Excluding sales of $204 million for the 53rd week in 2006, total department store sales
increased 5.0%. Excluding sales of $152 million for the 53rd week in 2003, toral depariment store sales increased 4.7% and decreused 0.7% for
2004 and 2003, respectively,

{2} Comparable department store sales are presented on « 52-week basis. Comparable departmens store sales include sales of new and relocated
stores, and stores reopened afier being closed for an extended period (e.g., stores closed due 10 2005 hurricanes), afier such stores have been
apen for 12 full consecutive fiscal months. Stores remodeled and minor expansions not requiring store closure remain in the comparable
department store sales calculation.

(3) Includes the effect of the 53nd week in 2006 and 2003. Excluding sales of $50 million for the 53rd week in 2006, 1otal Direct sules increased
2.4%. Excluding sales of 346 million for the 53rd week in 2003, to1al Direct sales increased 3.3% and 1.5% for 2004 and 2003, respecrively.
(4) In 2006, costs associated with the Company's store merchandise distribution centers were reclassified from SG&A Expenses into Cost of
Goods Sold, Depreciation and Amortization und Pre-Opening Expenses were reclassified from SG&A Expenses to be presented as separate line
items and Real Estate and Other was included as u component of Operating Income. All prior periods presented have been rec[a.ss:f Ted 1o reflect
these new classifications.

(5) Represents income from continuing operations plus after-tax interest expense on long-term debt divided by rhe swmn of beginning af year
stockholders® equity and long-term deb, including current marurities.
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FIVE-YEAR OPERATIONS SUMMARY (UNAUDITED)
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Number of JCPenney department stores:

Beginning of year 1,019 1,017 1,020 1,043 1,069

Openings 28 18 14 6 3

Closings 4) (16) (17) (29 (29

End of year 1,033 1,019 1,017 1,020 1,043
Gross selling space (square feer in millions) 103.1 101.4 101.3 101.1 103.3
Total department store sales (¥ in millions) $16,948 $15943  $15357 $14.815  $14.771
Sales per gross square foot'" $ 164 $ 157 $ 151 $ 144 5 14
Sales per net selling square foot' $ 231 $ 221 $ 204 $ 204 $ 201
Number of catalog units:

Department stores 1,028 1,014 1,012 1,015 1.036

Third-party merchants, outlet stores, freestanding

sales centers and other 417 448 470 524 523
Total catalog units 1,445 1,462 1,482 1,539 1,559

Internet sales (§ in millions) $1292 $1,038 $ 812 3 617 § 409
Total Direct (Internet/catalog) sales (8 in millions) $2055 $288 $2739 $2698 §$ 2613
(1) Calculation includes the sales of stores thut were oper for a full year as of each year end. The 2006 and 2003 calcularions exclude sales of the
53rd week.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

The following discusston. which presents the results of JCPenney, should be read in conjunclion with the
| accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto beginning on page F-3, atong with the unaudited
| Five-Year Financial and Operations Summaries on pages 10 and |1, the risk factors beginning on page 4 and the

cauttonary statement regarding forward-looking information on page 39. Unless otherwise indicated, this
| Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) relates only to results from continuing operations, all references

to carnings per share (EPS) are on a diluted basis and all references to years relate to fiscal years rather than to
calendar years. Fiscal 2006 contained 53 weeks, while both 2005 and 2004 contained 52 weeks.

Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting

The Compuny remains conunitted to both maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance and contin-
uously improving the transparency of its financial reporting, by providing stockhoiders with informative financial
disclosures and presenting an accurate view of the Company's financial position and operating results. Management
continues to employ a reporting matrix that requires written certifications on a guarterly basis from a cross-
discipline team of approximately 20 members of management who have responsibility for verifying and reporting
corporate results.

For this Annual Report on Form 16-K, the Company made further enhancements to its financial reporting with
expanded disclosures in several areas, such as:

= providing a breakdown of net sales by merchandise category and service sales, as a percent of total sales;

* clarifying the definition of comparable department store sales to explain that remodels and minor
expansions not requiring store closure remain in the calculation; and

* reporting statistics related to inventory turnover,

Consistent with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbunes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley Act), the
Company is required again to report on the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. In relation to
these requirements, the Company’s external auditors expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assess-
ment of, and the effective operation of, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Executive Overview

2006 marked the completion of the second year of the Company’s 2005-2009 Long Range Plan and reflected an
acceleration of progress towards attaining the Company’s stated financial objectives set in 2003, This progress has
resulted in the evolution of the Long Range Plan’s fundamental strategies into updated initiatives and new financial
performance goals for the five-year period ending in 2011 that will be publicly announced at the Company’s Anulyst
Meeting on April 17-18, 2007.

2006 Accomplishments

Achieved Sixth Consecutive Year of Comparable Department Store Sales Growth

Comparable department store sales increased 3,7% in 2006, on top of a 2.9% increase in 2003, representing the sixth
consecutive year of comparable department store sales increases, averaging more than a 3% increase per year. The
Company also experienced productivity improvements in its store portfolio with sales per gross square foot
increasing 4.5% to $164 in 2006 from $157 in 2005. The Company’s off-mall stores opened in the 2003 to 2005
timeframe expericnced a higher level of productivity than the Company average with 2006 sales per gross square
foot of approximately $200.

In Direct (Internet/catalog), the Company continues to experience a transformation into an Internet portal that
functions as the customers’ gateway to the Company and a shopping channe! supported by print media. Internet
sales in 2006 were $1.3 billion, an increase of approximately 24% (22% on a 52-week basis), on top of a ncarly 28%
increase in 2005. Print sales and Internet sales each represented approximately 45% of total Direct sales, with the
remainder from catalog outlet stores, Total Direct sales increased 4.1% (2.4% on a 52-week basis) in 2006, the
fourth consecutive year of sales gains. Direct sales were approximately 15% of total net retail sales in each of the
last three years.
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Further Strengthened Operating Performance
For 2006, operating income increased 100 basis points to 9.7% of sales, driven by substantially higher gross margin.

Operating Income

(3 in millions) 2006 ) 2005 2004
Retail sales, net ] $19,903 ' $18,781 $18,096
Gross margin $ 7,825 . 3 7,191 $ 6,792
Operating expenses:
SG&A expenses 5,521 5,227 5,135
Depreciation and amortization expenses 389 - 372 359
Pre-opening expenses 27 15 11
Real estate and other {income)/expense . (34) (54) 2
Total operating expenses 5,903 5,560 5517
Operating income") $ 1,922 5 1,631 $ 1,275
As a percent of sales 9.7% 8.7% 71.0%

{ 1) Operating Income exclides Net Interest Expense as well as Bond Premiumys and Unamortized Costs, Beginning in 2006, Real Estate and
Other was included as e component of Operating Income; all prior periods shown have been reclassified 1o reflect this presemtation. Operating
Income is the kev medsuremeni on which management evaluates the firancial performance of the retail operations.

Income from continuing operations for 2006 increased approximately 16% to $1,134 million compared to
$977 million in 2005. Diluted EPS from continuing operations of $4.88 for 2006 improved 27% compared to
$3.83 in 2005. The 2006 results reflected a credit of $32 million, or $0.14 per share. due primarily to the release of
federal income tax reserves resulting from the favorable resolution of prior year tax matters, while the 2005 results
included a one-time credit to income of $49 million, or $0.20 per share, which was principally attributable to
eliminating the remaining state tax net operating loss valuation allowances as a result of the significantly improved
operating performance. Excluding these tax credits, 2006 income from continuing operations and EPS increased
19% and 31%, respectively.

Operating performance has improved year over year for each of the past six years, with operating income margin
increasing 860 basis points since 2000 and diluted EPS from continuing operations increasing to $4.88 for 2006
from $(0.78) in 2000.

Operating Results from Continuing Operations

(% in millions, except EPS) 2006 2005 : 2004
Operating income $1,922 $1,631 $1.275
Net interest expense 130 169 223
Bond premiums and unamortized costs —- 18 47
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes 1,792 1,444 1,005
Income tax expense 658 467 348
Income frorh conlinuing operations $1.134 $ 977 3 657
Diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 4.88 $ 3.83 $ 220
Comparable department store sales'’ increase 3.7% 2.9% 4.9%
Direct (Internet/catalog) sales increase 4.1%'? 3.6% 1.5%%

(1} Comparable deparinent store sales are presented ona $2-week basis. Comparable deparimen; siore sales include sales of new and relocated
stores, and stores reopened after heing closed for an extended period (e.g., stores closed due to 2005 hurricanes), afier such stores have been
open for 12 full consecutive fiscal months. Stores remodeled and minor expansions not requiring store closure remain in the comparable
depurtment store sales calculation.

(2) Includes the effect of the 33rd week in 2006 and 2003. Excluding sales of $50 million for the 33rd week in 2006, iotal Direct sales increased
2.4% for 2006. Excluding sales of 346 million for the 53rd week in 2003, 1otal Direct sales increased 3.3% for 2004,




Accelerated Store Grewth Program

During 2006, JCPenney announced that it expects to open approximately 50 new stores per year from 2007 through
2009, representing annual square footage growth of approximately 3%. Signaling the launch of the Company’s
accelerated growth strategy, during 2006, the Company opened 28 new stores, 23 of which are in what management
believes is the successful off-mall format. For the year, square footage grew 1.7%.

2006 Private and Exclusive Brand Launches
The Company introduced a.n.a™, a new private brand in women’s casual sportswear, in early 2006. It continues to
exceced management’s expectations, with first year sales of more than $300 million.

In late 2006, the Company launched a joint initiative with Sephora U.S.A., Inc. (Sephora). Sephora began
exclusively servicing JCPenney customers’ online beauty needs through a link to www.sephora.com from
www.jcp.com, and in early October 2006, the first five Sephora inside JCPenney locations opened. Sephora
inside JCPenney locations are expected 10 be added to approximately 19 more JCPenney stores in the first half of
2007, with additional locations planned for the second half of the year and an accelerated rollout starting in 2008,

Improved Capital Structure and Credit Profile

The Company’s capital structure and credit profile continued to improve during 2006, principally as a result of
improved operating performance and the completion of a $750 million common stock repurchase program.
Combined with the 2005 and 2004 capital structure repositioning programs, which were initiated on July 31, 2004
in conjunction with the sale of Eckerd, the programs represent an aggregate $4.9 billion of common stock
repurchases and an aggregate $2.14 billion of debt reductions. To fund the programs, the Company used the
$3.5 billion in net cash proceeds from the sale of the Eckerd drugstore operations, $260 million in net cash proceeds
from the sale of Lojas Renner S.A. (Renner) shares, cash proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and
existing cash and short-lerm investment balances,

Based on improvements in the Company’s capital structure and related Hquidity and coverage metrics, as well as the
Company’s improved operating performance and operating cash flow generation, several positive credit rating
actions occurred in 2006. Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (Moody’s) raised its senior unsecured credit rating for the
Company from Bal 1o Baa3 in February 2006. Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Standard & Poor’s) raised its
senior unsecured credit rating for the Company from BB+ to BBB- in March 2006. Fitch Ratings (Fitch) raised its
credit rating on the Company’s senior unsecured notes and debentures and its $1.2 billion revolving credit facility
from BBB- to BBB in October 2006. The Company now has investment grade credit ratings from all three major
credit rating agencies.

Delivered Value to Stockholders

From 2000 to 2006, the Company has transitioned from a turnaround to a growth mode, During this timeframe, the
Company's stock price has increased from $12.81 to $83.70 and total stockholder return, which includes both stock
price appreciation and the reinvestment of dividends. grew at a compound annual growth rate of 39%. Over this
same period, the Company had a 53% compound eamnings per share growth rate. With the stock price closing at
$83.70 at the end of 2006, compared 10 $56.21 at the end of 2005, the Company’s market capitalization rose
$5.8 billion during 2006 to reach $18.9 billion at the end of 2006,

Current Developments

New Common Stock Repurchase Program and Dividend Increase

In March 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors (Board) authorized a new program of common stock repurchases
of up to $400 million, which will be funded with cash and short-term investment balances. The new program, which
is in addition to the $750 million program completed in 2006, is expected to be completed by the end of 2007, In
addition, in February 2007, the Board approved a plan to increase the quarterly dividend rate from $0.18 to $0.20 per
share beginning with the May 1 quarterly dividend, bringing the expected annual dividend rate from $0.72 per share
t0 $0.80 per share, an 11% increase. This comes on top of the 44% dividend increase in 2006. On March 29, 2007,
the Board declared a quarterly dividend of $0.20 per share to be paid on May 1, 2007, The Company pays dividends
if, when and as declared by the Board,




New Private and Exclusive Brand Launches

In February 2007, the Company launched Ambrielle™, a new private label lingerie brand. In response to feedback
from customers and research of direct competitors, Ambrielle™ was created to fili a void in the marketplace for a
sensual lingerie brand targeted to the modern customer at a smart price. Also in February 2007, the Company
launched two new exclusive brands by Liz Claiborne, Inc., Liz & Co.®, a traditional casual women’s apparel and
accessories line, and CONCEPTS by Claiborne™, featuring casual sportswear as well as suits and accessories for
the modern male customer.

On February 1, 2007, the Company announced its plans to launch American Living™, a new lifestyle brand created
exclusively for the JCPenney customer by Polo Ralph Lauren’s Global Brand Concepts. The launch is expected to
be the largest in the Company’s history and will include a full range of merchandise for women, men and children,
as well as intimate apparel, accessories and home goods. Polo Ralph Lauren’s Global Brand Concepts will be
responsible for the design, production, marketing and advertising of American Living™, which is expected to be
available in JCPenncy’s stores, catalog and on jep.com beginning in spring 2008.

New JCPenney Brand Positioning

In February 2007, JCPenney launched its new brand positioning: Every Day Matters™. This new branding is
expected to position JCPenney as a lifestyle solution for its target customers and will be evident in every aspect of
the Company’s business, from its approach to merchandising to its marketing and advertising, to most importantly,
its enhanced customer service, with associates focused on moving from a “transactional” relationship to an
“emotional” relationship with customers. This new positioning of the JCPenney brand was unveiled to the public
with a new television advertising campaign, launched during JCPenney's sixth annual exclusive retail sponsorship
of the Academy Awards on February 25, 2007.

Recent Awards

In March 2007, ICPenney scored highest in the Broadlines and Department Store sector in Institutional Investor
magazine's second annual ranking of “America’s Most Shareholder-Friendly Companies.” Rankings were deter-
mined by survey results from more than 750 portfolio managers, buy-side and sell-side analysts asked to name the
companies in their areas of expertise that are the most responsive to shareholders. This was in addition to JCPenney
being one of four award winners named in the same survey last year.

Additional awards include JCPenney being listed in Fortune Magazine’s 2007 list of America’s Most Admired
Companies, and ranking third in the General Merchandisers category. Also in March 2007, the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency named J. C. Penney Company, Inc. as the 2007 ENERGY STAR Retail Parmer of the Year for
outstanding energy management and reductions in greenhouse gas emissions. The award winners are selected from
thousands of organizations that participate in the ENERGY STAR program. JCPenney’s accomplishments were
recognized at an awards ceremony in Washington, D.C., on March 21.

15




-

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis, consistent with all other financial data throughout this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, focuses on the results of operations and financial condition from the Company's continuing operations.

Income from Continuing Operations

In 2006, the Company achieved its sixth consecutive year of earnings improvement. Income from continuing
operations was $1,134 million, $977 million and $657 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Earnings
increased as a result of continued strong sales growth and further gross margin improvement, combined with lower
interest expense and bond premiums. EPS from continuing operations increased 27% in 2006 to 34.88, compared to
$3.83 in 2005 and $2.20 in 2004. EPS also benefited from the Company’s common stock repurchase programs.

Retail Sales, Net

(3 in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Retail sales, net $19,903 $18,781 $18,006
Sales percent increase:
Total department stores 6.3%1 38% 3.7%"
Comparable department stores™ 3.7% 2.9% 4.9%
Direct (Internet/catalog) 419 3.6% 1.5%@

{1} Includes the effect of the 53rd week in 2006 and 2003. Excluding sales of $204 million for the 53rd week in 2006, total department store sales
increased 5.0%. Excluding sales of 3152 million for the 53rd week in 2003, iotal department store sules increased 4.7% for 2004.

{2) Comparable department store sules are presented on a 52-week basis. Comparable department store sales include sales of new and relocated
stores, and stores reopened after being closed for an extended period (e.g.. siores closed due to 2005 hurricanes), after such stores have been
vpen for 12 full consecutive fiscal months. Stores remodeled and minor expansions not requiring store closure remain in the comparable
department store sales calculation.

(3) Includes the effect of the 53rd week in 2006 and 2003. Excluding sales of 350 million for the 33rd week in 20006, total Direct sales increased
2.4%. Excluding sales of $46 million for the 53rd week in 2003, total Direct sales increased 3.3% for 2004,

Comparable department store sales increased for the sixth consecutive year, driven primarily by an increase in sales
transactions, coupled with poesitive trends in both units per transaction and average unit retail. Department store
saies increased in all merchandise divisions and across all geographic regions in 2006, reflecting positive customer
response to the style, guality, selection and smart pricing offered in the Company’s merchandise assortments,
compelling marketing programs and continued improvement in the store shopping experience. Management was
pleased with the performance of all apparel areas, especially women'’s. Private brand sales, including exclusive
brands found only at JCPenney, totaled approximately 48%, 46% and 42% of total department store merchandise
sales for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and contributed significantly to the overail 2006 sales gains. Sales for
the 28 stores opened in 2006 were approximately $216 million, including $72 million for the 10 stores that were
relocated.

The Direct channel represented approximately 15% of total net retail sales in each of the last three years. Direct
sales continue to reflect a transformation into an Internet dominated shopping channel supported by targeted
specialty print media, with sales increasing 4.1%, 3.6% and 1.5% for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Internet
sales increased approximately 24% in 2006 to $1,292 million, compared to $1,038 million in 2005 and $812 million
in 2004. On a 52-week basis, Internet sales increased approximately 22%. Internet sales represented approximately
44% of total Direct sales for 2006, compared to 37% in 2005 and 30% in 2004. Consistent with customer shopping
patterns, the Company continuaily reviews its catalog page counts and circulation to ensure that print catalogs
remain productive.




Retail Sales Mix

The following percentages represent the mix of consolidated net retail sales:

2006 2005 2004

Women’s apparel ‘ 22% 22% 23%
Home 21% 22% 21%
Men’s appare! and accessories 20% 20% 20%
Children’s apparel 11% 11% 11% .
Women’s accessories 10% 10% 9%
Family footwear 6% 6% 6%
Fine jewelry 5% 5% 5%
Services and other 5% 4% 5%
100% 100% 100%

Merchandise Initiatives

Central to the Company’s merchandising initiatives is the objective to become the leading retailer in offering style
and quality at smart prices with merchandise that inspires and reflects the lifestyles of the Company’s 1arget
customer, to continue building key JCPenney private and exclusive brands and to be a leader in offering the most
desired national destination brands. Recent brand launches, which are discussed below, support these merchan-
dising initiatives.

The Company introduced a.n.a™, a private brand in women’s casual sportswear and accessories, in early 2006. In
September 2006, the Company launched east5th™, a new private brand in women’s traditional career wear. During
the 2006 Back-To-School season, the Company launched X-Games boys' apparetl as an exclusive line in over 600
JCPenney department stores and Stevies by Sieve Madden™ in girls’ apparel. This followed other recent launches
such as Vans® for the young surf and skate customer, Solitude® by Shaun Temson, a California lifestyle-inspired
men's appare! brand, and an expanded assortment of bedding and accessories for student dorm rooms. The
Company continues to experience strength in the Miss Bisou® clothing collection for juniors, an extension of the
Bisou Bisou® women’s sportswear line, and Studio by the JCPenney Home Collection™, a modern furniture
collection, which were launched in early 2006. Also in early 2006, the Company added the Chris Madden® Hotel
Coltection, which features silk-blend comforters and 600 thread count sheets, Management is pleased with
customer response and sales results for all of the Company’s new and expanded merchandise launches.

In April 2006, the Company announced a joint initiative with Sephora U.S.A., Inc. (Sephora), under which
JCPenney has begun to sell beauty and fragrance products in its stores through Sephora inside JCPenney locations
and through the Intemet. [n early October 2006, the first five Sephora inside JCPenney locations opened.
Management is pleased with initial results and favorable customer reaction to the broad assortment of beauty
brands available in these locations. Sephora inside JCPenney locations are expected to be added to approximately
19 more JCPenney stores in the first half of 2007, with additional locations planned for the second half of the year
and an accelerated rollout starting in 2008.

Store Shopping Experience

Based on ongoing customer feedback, the Company has taken several actions to improve the customer shopping
experience across all channels, including more closely aligning stores and Direct promotions to improve effec-
tiveness while maintaining the capability to address unique customer needs in each channel. To enhance customers’
in-store experience, the Company has invested in renovating existing stores, and enhancing and standardizing store
layout and in-store visual displays. accelerated the investment in new stores, particularly the off-mall format, as well
as reconfigured the store staffing model to better serve customers while providing cost efficiencies. The Company
opened 28 new stores in 2006, 23 of which were off-mall, bringing the total new off-mall stores concept to more
than 40 locations. Performance of new stores (both mall and off-mall} continues 10 exceed the Company’s
expectations, During 2006, the Company completed its rollout of a new point-of-sale (POS) system to all stores. The
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POS system reduces transaction time and will provide Internet connectivity to all 35,000 in-store POS devices to
enhance the customer shopping experience.

In support of making the stores an easy and exciting place to shop, during 2006, the Company began utilizing an
online survey to accumulate customer feedback on the store shopping experience. Information has been obtained in
such areas as associate interactions with customers, availability of associates, attractiveness of displays and fixtures,
averall store cleanliness and pricing and signing accuracy. The results are used by stores to focus efforts on
improvements that will better meet their customers’ needs.

Gross Margin .
2006 2005 2004

(§ in millions)

First-in first-out (FIFO) gross margin $ 7,809 $ 7.190 $6774

Last-in first-out (LIFO) credit 16 l 18

Gross margin $ 7,825 $ 7,191 $ 6,792
As a percent of sales 39.3% 38.3% 37.5%

Costs associated with the Company’s 13 store merchandise distribution centers were reclassified from SG&A
expenses into cost of goods sold in the fourth quarter of 2006 and are reflected as such for all periods presented to
better reflect logistics costs associated with the Company’s high percentage of private brand merchandise.

As a percent of sales, gross margin improved 100 basis points in 2006, on top of an 80 basis-peint improvement in
2005. The continued improvement in gross margin reflects continued strength in the performance of the Company's
private brands, ongoing improvement in inventory management, including better flow of seasonal goods resuiting in
lower markdowns, and a larger contribution 1o sales from higher margin merchandise divisions. The higher LIFO
credit in 2006 was the result of favorable costing, coupled with higher inventory levels.

Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses

(% in millions) 2006 2005 : 2
SG&A expenses $ 5,521 $ 5,227 $ 5,135
As a percent of sales 21.7% 27.8% ' 28.4%

In order to provide more clarity on the impact of growth initiatives, depreciation and amortization, as well as pre-
opening expenses, have been presented as separate components of operating expenses. Accordingly, these expenses
are not included in the table above, but are discussed under separate headings below.

SG&A expenses improved by 10 basis points in 2006 to 27.7% of sales, on top of a 60 basis-point improvement in
2005. As a percentage of sales, advertising costs increased 30 basis points, while total retirement-related benefit
plan expenses decreased 30 basis points. Increased advertising expenses included costs related to the March 2006
virtual store at One Times Square in New York City, which showcased an exclusive assortment of the Company’s
private and exclusive brands, as well as marketing costs related to the Company’s fifth annual exclusive retail
sponsorship of the Academy Awards and retail sponsorships of the Teen Choice Awards and the MTV Video Music
Awards. The decrease in retirement-related benefit plan expenses was driven by the $60 million decrease in
qualified pension plan expense, which resulted from strong investment returns on the plan’s assets. See a further
discussion of the pension expense beginning on page 34. SG&A expenses for 2006 included $26 million related to
expensing stock options in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised),
“Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123R). Total SG&A expense dollars increased 5.6% in 2006, driven by
marketing and store staffing expenditures made to support a successful holiday season, operating costs for the 28
new stores added during the year, as well as incremental operating expenses relaied to the 53rd week of 2006, which
were approximately $65 million. '

SG&A expenses improved by 60 basis points in 2005, with savings driven by efficiencies from changes in the
department store staffing model and efficiencies in the Direct channel. While expenditures for advertising were
virtually fiat with 2004, the Company shifted a portion of the marketing dollars spent in 2005 from promotional
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advertising to elevating the branding message of both JCPenney and the Company’s private brands. SG&A
expenses for 2005 included $32 million, or about $0.08 per share, related to expensing employee stock options,
which started in the first quarter of 2005 upon the early adoption of SFAS No. 123R. 2005 SG&A expenses also
reflected a previously disclosed one-time credit of $13 million recorded in the third quarter related to the
Company’s share of expected proceeds from the Visa Check/MasterMoney Antitrust Litigation settlement, which
was essentially offset by hurricane-related costs, net of probable insurance recoveries.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

As expected with the accelerated store growth and investments in improving existing stores, depreciation and
amortization expenses increased to $389 million in 2006, compared to $372 million in 2005 and $359 million in
2004. As a percentage of sales, depreciation and amortization expenses were consistent from year to year at
approximately 2%.

Pre-Opening Expense .

Pre-opening expense includes costs such as advertising, hiring and training costs for new associates, processing and
stocking initial merchandise inventory and rental costs. With the launch of the Company’s accelerated store growth
strategy in 2006, pre-opening expense increased to $27 million in 2006, compared to $15 million and $11 million in
2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company opened 28, 18 and 14 new stores, in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Real Estate and Other (Income)/Expense

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Real estate activities 537 $(39) $(30)
Net gains from sale of real estate (8) 2N (é)
Asset impairments 2 7 12
PVOL and other unit closing costs 2 5 7
Management transition costs 7 - 29
Other - - : 2
Total 334) 5(54) $12

Real estate and other consists primarily of ongoing operating income from the Company’s real estate subsidiaries,
In addition, net gains were recorded from the sale of facilities and real estate that are no longer used in Company
operations and investments in real estate partnerships. For 2005, approximately half of the gain from the sale of real
estate was from the sale of a vacant merchandise processing facility that was made obsolete by the centralized
network of store distribution centers put in place by mid-2003. Impairments relate primarily to department stores
and are the result of the Company’s ongoing process of evaluating the productivity of its asset base, as described
under Valuation of Long-Lived Assets on page 33. PVOL represents the present value of operating lease obligations
on closed units. In addition, in 2006 and 2004, the Company recorded charges of $7 million and $29 millien,
respectively, associated with senior management transition.

Operating Income

(8 in millions) : 2006 2005 2004
Operating income" $1,922 $1.,631 81,275
As a percent of sales 9.7% 8.7% 7.0%

(1) See definition of Operating Income on page 13.

Operating income improved for the sixth straight year in 2006, increasing 17.8%, or 100 basis points as a percent of
sales, driven by sales gains and continued improvement in gross margin. This reflects the ongoing significant
improvements the Company has made in merchandise assortments, as well as further refinements to the Company’s
planning and allocation systems to ensure that the merchandise is in the right place at the right time, Operating
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income is the key measurement on which management evaluates the financtal performance of the Company’s retail
operations. ‘

Net Interest Expense . ‘

Net interest expense totated $130 million, $169 million and $223 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net
interest expense consists primarily of interest expense on long-term debt, net of interest income earned on cash and
short-term investments. Net interest expense in 2006 primarily benefited from higher short-term interest rates on
cash and short-term investment balances. The weighted-average interest rate on long-term debt has remained
relatively constant at 7.8%, 7.8% and 7.7% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. [nterest income earned on short-
lerm investments increased in 2006 to an average annua) interest rate of 5.0%, compared t0 3.2% in 2005 and 1.5%
in 2004, Total debt was reduced by $2.14 billion as part of the Company s debt reduction programs initiated in 2004
and completed by the end of the second quarter of 2005, For 2004, net interest expense of $95 million was allocated
to the operating results of Eckerd and recorded as discontinued operations.

Bond Premiums and Unamortized Costs

During 2005 and 2004, the Company incurred $18 million and $47 million, respectively, of premiums, commissions
and unamortized costs related to the purchase of debt in the open market and redemption of securities under the
2005 and 2004 debt reduction programs, which are discussed on pages 28-29. These costs are reflected in Bond
Premtums and Unamortized Costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No such costs were incurred by
the Company in 2006. '

Income Taxes

The overall effective tax rates for continuing operations were 36.7%, 32.3% and 34.6% for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The 2006 rate was favorably impacted by the release of $32 million, or $0.14 per share, of federal
income tax reserves resulting from the favorable resolution of prior year tax matters. The 2005 rate reflected a credit
of $49 million, or $0.20 per share, which was principally attributable to reversing the remaining state tax net
operating loss valuation allowance. Also benefiting 2005 was a one-time credit of $5 million related to changes in
state income tax laws, The 2007 effective income tax rate is expected to increase to approximately 38.6%.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued vperations added $0.08 per share to net income in 2006, principally related to positive variances on
tax reserves that had been provided for in connection with the sale of previously owned businesses. For 2003,
discontinued operations added $0.43 per share to net income, while in 2004, discontinued operations resulted in a
charge of $0.44 per share. The 2005 credit was principally related to favorable resolution of certain tax matters
associated with the Company’s former Eckerd drugstore operations, and the 2004 charge resulted primarily from
the loss on the sale of Eckerd combined with Eckerd operating losses to the date of sale. .

Lojas Renner S.A.

On July 5, 2005, the Company’s indirect wholly owned subsidiary, J. C. Penney Brazil, Inc., closed on the sale of its
shares of Lojas Renner S, A. (Renner), a Brazilian department store chain, through a public stock offering registered
in Brazil. The Company generated cash proceeds of $283 million from the sale of its interest in Renner. After taxes
and transaction costs, net proceeds approximated $260 million. Proceeds from the sale were used for common stock
repurchases, which are more fully discussed under Equity and Debt Restructuring on pages 28-29.

Including an $8 million credit related to taxes that was recorded in 2006, the sale resulted in a cumulative pre-tax
gain of $26 million and an after-tax gain of $1 million. The relatively high tax cost is largely due to the tax basis of
the Company'’s investment in Renner being lower than its book basis as a result of accounting for the investment
under the cost method for tax purposes. Included in the pre-tax gain on the sale was $83 million of foreign currency
translation losses that had accumulated since the Company acquired’its controlling interest in Renner.

Eckerd Drugstores
On July 31, 2004, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries closed on the sale of its Eckerd drugstore operations to
the Jean Coutu Group (PJC) Inc. (Coutu) and CVS Corporation and CVS Pharmacy, Inc. and received net cash
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proceeds of approximately $3.5 billion. Proceeds from the sale were used for common stock repurchases and debt
reduction, which are more fully discussed under Equity and Debt Restructuring on pages 28-29.

During 2006, the Company recorded an after-tax credit of $4 million related to the Eckerd discontinued operations,
which was primarily related to taxes. Through 2006, the cumulative loss on the sale was $715 million pre-tax, or
$1,326 million on an after-tax basis. The relatively high tax cost is a result of the tax basis of Eckerd being lower
than its book basis because the Company’s previous drugstore acquisitions were largely tax-free transactions. Of the
total after-tax loss on the sale, $108 million was recorded in 2004 to reflect revised estimates of certain post-closing
adjustments and resulting sales proceeds, and $1,325 million was recorded in 2003 to reflect Eckerd at its estimated
fair value less costs to sell. These charges were partially offset by an after-tax credit of $103 million recorded in
2005, which was primarily related to the favorable resolution of certain tax matters, as well as a reduction of the
taxes payable on the sale of Eckerd due to adjustments in Eckerd’s tax basis.

Upon closing on the sale of Eckerd on July 31, 2004, the Company established reserves for estimated transaction
costs and post-closing adjustments. Certain of these reserves involved significant judgment and actual costs
incurred over time could vary from these estimates. The more significant remaining estimates relate to the costs to
exit the Colorado and New Mexico markets and environmental indemnifications. Management continues to review
and update the remaining reserves on a quarterly basis and believes that the overall reserves, as adjusted, are
adequate as of February 3, 2007 and consistent with original estimates. Cash payments for the Eckerd-related
reserves are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as Cash Paid for Discontinued
Operations, with tax payments included in operating cash flows and all other payments included in investing cash
flows.

Mexico Department Stores .

In November 2003, the Company closed on the sale of its six Mexico department stores and recorded a loss of
$14 million, net of a $27 million tax benefit. In 2005 and 2004, the Company recognized after-tax gains of $5 million
and $4 million, respectively, related to reserve adjustments and additional tax benefits realized.

Direct Marketing Services

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, after-tax gains of $7 million, $3 million and $1 million, respectively, were recorded related
to the sale of J. C. Penney Direct Marketing Services, Inc.’s assets due to favorable resolution of certain past tax
issues, tax regulation changes and tax audits.

The Company’s financial statements, accompanying notes and other information provided in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K reflect these businesses as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Financial Condition

The strength of the Company’s financial condition is primarily dependent on the competitiveness of its customer
value proposition and the level of operating performance relative to the capital resources invested in the business.
Therefore, management’s successful execution of the Long Range Plan will continue to be the key driver of the
Company’s consistent operating performance improvement, earnings per share growth, market valuation and
overall financial condition.

Financial Goals

The Company’s financial strategy will continue to focus on opportunities to deliver value to stockholders,
strengthen the financial position and improve the credit rating profile. Long range planning targets have been
established related to operating financial goals, key financial metrics, cash flow, credit ratings, dividends and
eamings per share growth, which are discussed below.

At the April 2006 Analyst Meeting, management provided updated profitability targets to the original 2005 to 2009
Long Range Plan. Specific long-range operating financial objectives include generating annual low single-digit
comparable department store sales increases and mid single-digit Direct sales increases, with total sales increasing
mid-single digits, continued improvement in annual gross margin and leveraging of SG&A expenses, with the
objective of reaching an operating income target of 10.0% to 10.5% of sales in.2009, and achieving 16% annual
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EPS growth through 2009. With the 2006 operating income margin at 9,7%, the Company’s 2006 operating
performance came close to achieving in just two years the planned performance levels in its originat 2005-2009
Long Range Plan. Management will communicate operating performance targets for a new 2007 to 2011 Long
Range Plan at its April 2007 Analyst Meeting. Going forward, the growth drivers for operating income will continue
to be new store growth, sales productivity improvements, continued improvements in the gross margin rate and
SG&A leverage. The Company’s progress toward achieving its operating financial goals could be impacted by
various risks, which are discussed in Item 1A, Risk Factors, beginning on page 4, and the cautionary statement
regarding forward-looking information on page 39.

The Company expects cash flow from operating activities (operating cash flow) to increase each year, resulting
. principally from higher net income. Operating cash flow is targeted to exceed planned capital spending levels, in
order to provide financial flexibility and ongoing support for the Long Range Plan,

Continued strong operating performance, increasing operating cash flows and a strengthening capital structure
should enable the Company to achieve competitive investment grade credit ratings, allowing access to the
commercial paper market, thereby enhancing the Company’s financial flexibility.

The goal of the Company’s dividend policy is to deliver competitive value to stockholders. The Company’s Board
of Directors (Board) increased the cash dividends to stockholders by 44% in 2006 and a plan to increase the cash
dividend by 11% was approved by the Board for 2007.

2006 Key Financial Metrics

The Company’s 2006 performance represented further progress toward industry leadership, resulting from
continued improvement in operating results and the completion of a $750 million stock repurchase program,
Over the past several years, the Company’s returns on capital have significantly improved, and its financial leverage
has been dramatically reduced. The Company’s operating performance in 2006 was well ahead of schedule in
achieving the objectives established in the original 2005-2009 Long Range Plan,

Management and the investment community utilize these financial metrics to assess the Company’s financial health
and benchmark against planned targets as well as peers in the retail industry. The Company’s calculations of these
metrics are based on components of the GAAP financial statements and may vary from those of other companies,
potentially limiting comparability. These measures are not considered GAAP measures, but management believes
they provide the most comprehensive perspective of the Company’s capital productivity and financial leverage.

Return on Capital Metrics

In 2006, the Company’s return on stockholders’ equity (ROE) and return on invested capital (ROIC) improved
significantly. In 2006, the Company achieved a 28.3% ROE, representing a 31% improvement since 2000. The
Company calculates ROE as income from continuing operations divided by beginning of year stockholders” equity.
The Company uses an 11% ROIC as its target, or “hurdle”, rate for new capital investments, which represents the
Company’s blended (debt and equity) long-term cost of capital estimate. In 2006, the Company exceeded this level
with a ROIC of 17.4%. The Company calculates ROIC as income from continuing operations plus after-tax interest
expense.on long-term debt divided by the sum of beginning of year stockholders’ equity and long-term debt,
including current maturities. Beginning in 2007, return metrics witl reflect the 2006 reduction to equity resulting
from a change in pension accounting rules {discussed in Note 1 on pages F-12 and F-13). Notwithstanding the
equity adjustment, further improvements in both ROE and ROIC are expected in future years with continued
earnings growth.

Debt Percent to Total Capital

After significant improvement during the 2001 to 2005 turnaround period, the Company’s capital structure as of
year-end 2006 remains competitive. As of year-end 2006, the Company’s debt percent to total capital improved to
a level of 44.5%, compared 10 46.4% and 44.7% in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The improvement in 2006 was
primarily a result of higher net income. No material changes in long-term debt occurred during 2006.

Credit Agreement Covenants :
Under the Company’s 2005 Credit Agreement, discussed on page 27, the Company is required to satisfy a leverage
ratio covenant and a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, which are discussed in Note '10. The leverage ratio
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continued to improve during 2006 to a level of 1.5 to 1.0, and remained in compliance with the 2005 Credit
Agreement covenant requirement of no more than 3.0 to 1.0. The fixed charge coverage ratio also improved during
2006 to a level of 6.9 1o 1.0, and remained in compliance with the 2005 Credit Agreement covenant requirement of
at least 3.2 to 1.0.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Over the 2000 to 2006 period. the Company's liquidity and capital resources have strengthened significantly and
created an increased level of financial flexibility to support the Company’s Long Range Plan. The Company
manages its capital structure to ensure financial flexibility and access to capital, at a competitive cost, necessary to
support the Long Range Plan. Management considers all on- and off-balance sheet debt in evaluating the
Company’s overall liquidity position and capital structure. See the discussion of off-balance sheet arrangements
on pages 27-28 and the detailed disclosure regarding operating leases and their off-balance sheet present value in
Note 16.

Cash and Short-Term Investments

At yeur-end 2006, the Company had approximately $2.7 billion of cash and short-term investments, which
represented nearly 80% of its $3.4 billion of outstanding long-term debt. including current maturities. Cash and
short-term investments included restricted short-term investment balances of $58 million as of February 3, 2007,
pledged as collateral for a portion of casualty insurance program liabilities. In 2006, the cash and short-term
investment balance was reduced by the completion of a $750 million common stock repurchase program. In
addition to cash and short-term investments, the Company’s liquidity position includes a five-year $1.2 billion
revolving credit facility that was put in place in April 2005 (2005 Credit Agreement). The 2005 Credit Agreement is
unsecured. and all coltateral securing the previously existing $1.5 billion credit facility has been released. The
dollar amount of the credit facility was reduced due to the sale of Eckerd. For further discussion of the credit facility,
see page 27. The Company’s liquidity is enhanced by the fact that the current debt portfolio and material lease
agreements contain no provisiens that could trigger acceleration of payments or coltateral support in the event of
adverse changes in the Company’s financiul condition.

Cash Flows
The following is a summary of the Company’s cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for both
continuing and discontinued operations:

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Net cash provided by/(used in):
Continuing operations:

Operating activities'" $1,255 $ 1,337 $ 1,11

Investing activities (752) (221) 4,302

Financing activities (751) (2.652) (2,660)
Discontinued operations:

Operating activities ' 11 82 (792)2

Investing activities ) (32 (187D (263)

Financing activities - 8 (13)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and short-term
investments $ (269) $(1,633) $ 1,685

(1) Includes $300 million discretionary cash conrributions to the Company's qualified pension plan in both 2000 and 2004, The approximarely
31O million tax benefit related 1o the 2006 contribution will not be realized until fiscal 2007; the 2004 contribuiion was $190 million afier 1ax.
Ne contribution to the Company's qualified penxion plan way made in 2005 due to the ptan’s well-funded status and Internal Revenue Service
limitarions on tax deductible contributions.

(2) Includes $822 million of income taxes paid related 10 the sale of Eckerd.

Significantly improved operating performance over the past few years has provided the financial flexibility to
increase capital expenditures for new store growth, storc renewals and updates, with additional liquidity allowing
the Company to increase funding to its qualified pension plan.
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Cash Flow from Operating Activities — Continuing Operations

The Company’s operations are seasonal in nature, with the business depending to a great extent on the last quarter of
the year when a significant portion of the sales, profits and positive operating cash flows are realized. Cash
requirements are highest in the third quarter as the Company buiids inventory levels in preparation for the holiday
season.

In bath 2006 and 2004, the Company made $300 million discretionary contributions to its qualified pension plan.
Based on market conditions, the resulting well-funded status of the pension plan and Internal Revenue Service rules
limiting tax deductible contributions, the Company did not make a discretionary pension contribution to its
qualified pension plan in 2005. Additionally, due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R in 2005, $39 million and
$43 million, respectively, of excess tax benefits from stock options exercised are reflected in cash flows from
financing activities for 2006 and 2005, whereas for 2004, $76 million of excess tax benefits from stock options
exercised were reflected in cash flows from operating activities,

Cash Flow from Investing Activities — Continuing Operations*

Capital expenditures, including capitalized software costs, were $772 miilion. $535 million and $398 million in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase was principally for new off-mall stores, store renewals and
modernizations and costs related to new point-of-sale technology at each of the Company’s 35,000 registers. During
2006, the Company opened 28 new stores, 10 of which were store relocations, and closed four stores. The following
provides a breakdown of capital expenditures:

($ in millions} 2006 2005 2004
New and relocated stores $365 $173 $119
Store renewals and updates 266 204 185
Technelogy : 110 110 69
Other 31 43 25
Total 3772 $535 $398

Consistent with the Long Range Plan, new store growth is planned to further accelerate in 2007. Management
expects 2007 capital expenditures to be approximately $1.2 billion. Approximately 53% of the capital spending will
relate to new or relocated stores, 30% to store renewals and updates, 10% to technology, and 5% to other routine
projects. The Company currently plans to open 50 new and relocated stores in 2007, of which over 80% are expected
to be off-mall. Incorporating relocations and store closures, net square footage growth is expected to increase
approximately 3%.

Proceeds from the sale of real estate assets were $20 million for 2006, compared to $31 million and $34 million in
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities — Continuing Operations
For 2006, cash payments for long-term debt, including capital leases, totaled $21 million. During 2005, such
payments totaled $474 million and are discussed further under Equity and Debt Restructuring on pages 28-29.

During 2006, the Company returned approximately $900 million to stockholders through common stock repur-
chases and dividend payments. The Company repurchased 11,3 million shares of common stock for $750 million
during 2006. Common stock was retired on the same day it was repurchased, and the related cash settlements were
completed on the third business day following the repurchase.

JCPenney raised the quarterly dividend on its common stock to $0.18 per share beginning with the May 1, 2006
dividend. The Company paid quarterly dividends of $0.125 per share in 2005 and 2004. The Board reviews the
dividend policy and rate on a quarterly basis, taking into consideration the overall financial and sirategic outlook for
the Company, earnings, liquidity and cash flow projections, as well as competitive factors. Based on the current
outlook for earnings, cash flow and liquidity, in February 2007, the Board approved a plan to increase the quarterly
dividend by 11%, from $0.18 per share to $0.20 per share, 10 be effective with the dividend 1o be paid on May 1,
2007. Prior to August 26, 2004, the Company also paid semi-annual dividends on its Series B ESOP Convertible
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Preferred Stock at an annual rate of $2.37 per common share equivalent. All outstanding shares of Series B ESOP
Convertible Preferred Stock were converted to common shares on August 26, 2004,

Net proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $135 million in 2006, compared to $162 million in 2005 and
$248 million in 2004,

Due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R in 2005, $39 million and $43 million, respectively, of excess tax benefits
from stock options exercised are reflected in cash flows from financing activities for 2006 and 2003, whereas for
2004, $76 million of excess tax benefits from stock options exercised were reflected in cash flows from operating
activities.

Cash Flow and Financing Qutlook

In 2007, the Company’s financing strategy will continue to focus on opportunities to deliver value to stockholders,
strengthen the financial position and improve the credit profile. The Company’s sirengthened financial position
provides an increased level of financial flexibility to support the strategic growth objectives of the Long Range Plan.
Consistent with the Company’s goal of delivering value to stockholders, in February 2007, the Board approved a
plan to increase the quarterly dividend by 11%. from $0.18 per share to $0.20 per share, to be effective with the
dividend to be paid on May 1, 2007. On March 29, 2007, the Board declared a quarterly dividend of $0.20 per share
to be paid on May |, 2007. In addition, the Board authorized a new $400 million common stock repurchase
program, which is expected to be completed by the end of 2007 and will be funded by a portion of the cash proceeds
and tax benefits from associate stock option exercises and cash and short-term investment balances.

In accordance with its financing strategy, the Company expects to maintain its strong liquidity position in 2007. The
Company expects operating cash flow to increase each year, resulting principally from higher net income.
Operating cash flow is targeted to exceed planned capital spending levels, which should provide financial
flexibility and ongoing support for the Long Range Plan. Until all of the Company’s credit ratings improve to
competitive investment-grade levels, access to the capital markets for cash needs will retain an element of
uncertainty. As such, management intends to maintain sufficient cash investment levels to ensure support for
operational business needs, strategic initiatives, long-term debt matwrities, dividends and contingency items, such
as the opportunistic purchase of selected real estate properties attributable to consolidation within the retail industry.
The Company does not expect to borrow under its credit facility except to support ongoing letters of credit. The
Company has $425 million of notes scheduled to mature in 2007, and an additional $200 million scheduled to
mature in fiscal 2008. In accordance with its long-term financing strategy, the Company manages 1ts financial
position on a multi-year basis and may access the capital markets opportunistically.

The Company’s cash flows may be impacted by many factors, including the competitive conditions in the retail
industry, the effects of the economic environment and consumer confidence levels. Based on the nature of the
Company’s business, management considers the above factors to be normal business risks.

Inventory

Total LIFQ inventory was $3,400 million at the end of 2006 compared with $3,210 million at the end of 2005. FIFO
inventory was $3.408 million at the end of 2006, which increased 5.4% when compared to last year’s $3,234 million,
primarily as a result of new store openings in 2006 and new stores planned for the first quarter of 2007. After an
effective transition from fall and holiday assortments, the Company was well positioned at the end of 2006 with
fresh merchandise for the spring season and less clearance merchandise than the prior year. Inventory also reflecied
a good balance between fashion and basic merchandise.

With new systems and its network of store distribution centers, the Company has continued to enhance its ability to
allocate and flow merchandise to stores in-season by recognizing sales trends earlier and accelerating receipts,
replenishing individual stores based on rates of sale and consistently providing high in-stock levels in basics and
advertised items. This continued improvement of inventory management has helped to drive more profitable sales
and improvements in inventory turnover, which for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was 3.33, 3.28 and 3.21, respectively. With
the elimination of global trade quotas on apparel and textiles, the Company expects to concentrate production of
private brand merchandise in fewer countries and with fewer manufacturers. On an ongoing basis, the Company
develops contingency plans to provide for alternate sources for product in order to ensure uninterrupted access to
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merchandise. Cost reductions will allow the Company to invest in higher quality merchandise and thereby improve
the value proposition to the Company’s target customer.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Aggregated information about the Company’s obligations and commitments to make future contractual payments,
such as debt and lease agreements, and contingent commitments as of February 3, 2007 is presented in the following

table.
After
‘ (_s in mi[lions) Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 5 years
Recorded contractual
obligations:
Long-term debt, including
current maturities and
capital leases $ 3444 § 434 $203 § - $506 $ - $2.301

‘ Trade payables 1,366 1,366 - - ~ - -

Contributions to non-qualified
supplemental retirement
and postretitement medical
plans? 425 74 76 79 27 26 143

$ 5235 $1,874 $279 $ 79 $533 $ 26  $2,444

Unrecorded contractual
obligations:
interest payments on long-
term debt and capital

leases™® $ 582 § 253 $222 $218 $198 $178  $4,753

Operating leases' 1,948 213 197 170 137 112 1,119
Standby and import letters of

credit™ 122 122 - - - - -

Surety bonds®’ 56 56 - - - - -

Contractual obligations'® 317 208 97 11 - - |

Guarantées™” . 42 8 - 3 - - 31

$ 8307 $ 860  $516 $402 $335 $290  $5,904

Total $13542  $2,734  $795 $481 $868 $316  $8,348

{1) Represents expected payments through 2016. Based on the accounting rules for retirement and postretirement benefit plans, the liabilities
reflected in the Company's Consoliduted Balance Sheets differ from these estimated future payments. See Note 17.

(2) The 2007 interest payments include 384 million that is reflecied in Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at February 3, 2007, Sce Note 7.

(3) Represents future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases, including renewals deiermined 1o be reasonably assured,
{4} Standby lerters of credit (3116 million) are issued as collateral to a third-party administrator for self-insured workers’ compensation and
general liahility claims. The remaining $6 million are owtsianding impart letters of credit.

{5) Surety bonds are primarily for previously incurred and expensed obligations related to workers' compensation and general liability claims.
{6) Consists primarily of (a) mininum purchease requirements for exclusive merchandise and fixtures; (b) rovalty obligations and {c) minimum
obligations for professional services. energy services, software mainienance and network services.

(7) Includes (a) 311 million for certain personal property leases assumed by the purchasers of Eckerd; (B) 811 million on loans related to a real
estate investment trust and {c) 320 million related 10 a third-party reinsurance guarantee.

The Company is predominantly engaged in the retailing business of buying and selling apparel, accessories and
home merchandise. In the normal course of business, the Company issues purchase orders to vendors/suppliers for
merchandise inventory to meet customer demand for fashion, seasonal and basic merchandise. The Company’s
purchase orders are not unconditional commitments, but rather represent executory contracis requiring performance
by vendors/suppliers, including delivery of the merchandise prior to a specified cancellation date and meeting
product specifications and other requirements. Failure to meet agreed-upon terms and conditions may result in the
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cancellation of the drder. Accordingly, the table above excludes outstanding purchase orders for merchandise
inventory that has not been shipped. Under the terms of the purchase orders, merchandise is purchased on a Free on
Board (F.0.B.) shipping point basis, which means ownership of the merchandise passes to the Company upon
shipment. As a result, the cost of merchandise shipped but not received by the Company as of year end (in-transit
merchandise) is recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in Merchandise Inventory with a corresponding offset
in Trade Payables. As of February 3, 2007, the Company had approximately $392 million of domestic and foreign
in-transit merchandise, which together with trade payables for merchandise already received, is reflected in the
table above. Additionally, the Company issues letters of credit for selected merchandise inventory sourced overseas,
which are also included in the previous table.

Credit Agreement

The Company, JCP and J. C. Penney Purchasing Corporation are parties to a five-year $1.2 billion unsecured
revolving credit facility (2005 Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of lenders with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent. The 2005 Credit Agreement is available for general corporate purposes, including the issuance
of letters of credit. Pricing is tiered based on JCP's senior unsecured long-term debt ratings by Moody’s and
Standard & Poor’s. JCP’s obligations under the 2005 Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company. No
borrowings, other than the issuance of trade and standby letters of credit, which totaled $122 million as of the end of
2006, have been made under this facility. The 2003 Credit Agreement includes two financial leverage metric
covenants, which are discussed in Note 10.

Credit Ratings

Improvements in the Company’s operating performance and financial metrics led to its long-term debt credit rating
being raised to investment grade level by Fitch in 2005 and by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s in early 2006,
Restoring competitive investment grade credit ratings, consistent with retail industry leaders, continues to be a
financial goal for the Company.

As of March 19, 2007, the Company’s credit ratings and outlook were as follows:

Long-Term

Debt Outlook
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. Baa3 Positive
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services BBB- Stable
Fitch Ratings EBB Stable

During the first quarter of 2006, both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s raised the Company’s credit ratings to
investment grade. In February 2006, Moody’s raised its senior unsecured credit rating for the Company from Bal to
an investment grade rating of Baa3. In April 2006, Standard & Poor’s raised its credit rating on the Company’s long-
term corporate credit and senior unsecured debt from BB+ to an investment grade rating of BBB-. In October 2006,
Fitch raised its credit rating on the Company’s senior unsecured notes and debentures and its $1.2 billion 2005
Credit Agreement from BBB- to BBB, both investment grade credit ratings. In December 2006, Moody’s raised its
outlook on the Company’s long-term debt rating from “Stable” to “Positive.” Going forward, the Company expects
that the rating agencies will continue to focus on operating performance consistency, earnings growth and financial
leverage as key factors in any ratings decisions.

Indenture Covenant

The Company has an indenture covering approximately $255 million of long-term debt that contains a financial
covenant requiring the Company to have a minimum of 200% net tangible assets to senior funded indebtedness (as
defined in the indenture). This indenture permits the Company to issue additional long-term debt if it is in
compliance with the covenant. As of year-end 2006, the Company’s percent of net tangible assets to senior funded
indebtedness was 292%.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Other than operating leases, which are included in the Contractual Obligations and Commitments table on page 26,
the Company does not have any off-balance sheet financing. The Company has not created, and is not party 1o, any
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special-purpose or off-balance sheet entities for the purpose of raising capital, incurring debt or operating its
business.

As of February 3, 2007, the Company had guarantees of approximately $t1 million for certain personal property
leases assumed by the purchasers of Eckerd, which were previously reported as operating leases. Currently,
management does not believe that any potential financial exposure related to these guarantees would have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

JCP, through JCP Realty, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, has investments in 14 partnerships that own regional mall
properties, six as general partner and eight as limited partner. JCP’s potential exposure to risk is greater in
partnerships in which it is a general partner. Mortgages on the six general partnerships total approximately
$353 million; however, the estimated market value of the underlying properties is approximately $842 million.
These mortgages are non-recourse to JCP, so any financial exposure is minimal. In addition, JCP Realty, Inc. has
guaranteed loans totaling approximately $11 million related o an investment in a real estate investment trust. The
estimated market value of the underlying properties significantly exceeds the outsianding morigage loans, and the
loan guarantee to market value ratio is less than 3% as of February 3, 2007. In the event of possible default, the
creditors would recover first from the proceeds of the sale of the properties, next from the general partner, then from
other guarantors before JCP’s guarantee would be invoked. As a result, management does not believe that any
potential financial exposure related to this guarantee would have a material impact on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.

As part of the 2001 sale of the assets of the Company’s Direct Marketing Services subsidiary, JCP signed a
guarantee agreement with a maximum exposure of $20 million. Any potential claims or losses are first recovered
from established reserves, then from the purchaser and finally from any state insurance guarantee fund before JCP's
guarantee would be invoked. As a result, management does not believe that any potential exposure would have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company does not have any additional arrangements or relationships with entities that are not consolidated into
the financial statements.

Equity and Debt Restructuring

In order to enhance stockholder value, strengthen the Company’s capital structure and improve its credit rating
profile, since 2004, the Company has implemented programs to repurchase common stock, reduce debt and redeem
all outstanding shares of Series B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock (Preferred Stock). In order to fund these
programs, the Company used the $3.5 billion in net cash proceeds from the sale of the Eckerd drugstore operations,
$260 million in net cash proceeds from the sale of Renner stock, cash proceeds and tax benefits from the exercise of
employee stock options and existing cash and short-term investment balances. :

Stock Repurchases , ‘
During the 2004 to 2006 period, the Company purchased a combined $4.9 billion of its common stock through
open-market transactions as follows:

{in millions) Shares Cost'"
2004 : 50.1 $1,951
2005 _ 44.2 2,199
2006 11.3 750
Total 105.6 : ) $4,900

(1) Excludes commissions. .
Of the total repurchases, the Company’s Board authorized $3.0 billion in 2004, $1.15 billion in 2005 and
$750 million in 2006.

Debt Reduction
The Company’s debt reduction programs, which were completed by the end of the second quarter of 2005, consisted
of approximately $2.14 billion of debt reductions,
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The Company’s debt retirements included $250 million of open-market debt repurchases in the first half of 2005,
the payment of $193 million of long-term debt at the scheduled maturity date in May 2005 and 2004 transactions
that consisted of $650 million of debt converted to common stock, $822 million of cash payments and the
termination of the $221 million Eckerd securitized receivables program. The Company incurred pre-tax charges of
$18 million and $47 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to these early debt retirements.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Redemption

On August 26, 2004, the Company redeemed, through conversion to common stock, all of its outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock. All of these shares were held by the Company’s Savings, Profit-Sharing and Stock Ownership Plan,
a401(k) savings plan. Each holder of Preferred Stock received 20 equivalent shares of JCPenney common stock for
each share of Preferred Stock in their Savings Plan account in accordance with the original terms of the Preferred
Stock. Preferred Stock shares, which were included in the diluted earnings per share calculation as appropriate,
were converted into approximately nine million common stock shares. Annual dividend savings approximated
$11 million after tax.

Risk Management

Management is committed to proactively managing enterprise risks as the strategics and initiatives of the Long
Range Plan are executed in order to maximize enterprise value (defined as the combined capital markets’ value of
the Company’s debt and equity) to investors. The success to date in implementing the 2005-2009 Long Range Plan
has resulted in strategic and operational initiatives that have associated and cver-changing performance oppor-
tunities, both upside and downside. Over the past six years. the Company’s enterprise value increased significantly
as its portfolio of risks was managed effectively.

Management defines risk as the potential deviation from planned operating results that may have a negative impact
on investor enterprise value in the short or long term. The deviation can arise from inadequate or ineffective internal
processes or systems, external events or Company personnel. The Company is subject to risks inherent in operating
a multi-channel retailing organization. For a detailed discussion on risks and uncertainties, see liem 1A, Risk
Factors, beginning on page 4 and the cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information on page 39.

The key driver in managing sirategic and operating risks in order to maximize enterprise value is consistent
execution of the Long Range Plan strategies and initiatives. Managing strategic and operating risks provides
opportunities, both to capitalize on positive events and mitigate negative circumstances.

Risk Mitigating Factors

The Company conducts extensive customer research. During 2006, the Company began utilizing an online survey to
accumulate customer feedback on the store shopping experience. Information has been obtained in such areas as
associate interactions with customers, availability of associates, attractiveness of displays and fixtures, overall store
cleanliness and pricing and signing accuracy. The results are used by stores to focus efforts on improvements that
will better meet their customers’ needs. The Company alse regularly measures customer satisfaction through a
customer scorecard, which benchmarks customer perceptions against key competitors. Exit surveys are regularly
conducted to better understand customer shopping habits and whether they are finding what they want at JCPenney.
In addition, management continues to focus on measuring marketing productivity by utilizing post-event analyses
and other measurement tools.

The Company has resources dedicated to monitoring the external environment, which includes retail competitors,
retail industry and consumer trends, as well as the current economic outlook. The deeper the Company’s
understanding is of competitors’ strategies, performance, and strengths and weaknesses, the better it can develop
appropriate responses to compete more effectively, enhance the Company’s competitive position, and achieve and
sustain top quartile performance.

Management conducts ongoing strategic geographic market research, including demographic and regional eco-
nomic trends, prior to making a decision to enter or relocate into a particular geographic area. The Company
conducts ongoing benchmarking of key metrics for all geographic markets, including ‘market share, sales growth.
sales per square foot, and competitor and population trends.
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Product development and sourcing are critical to the success of the private brand business. Another key Company
initiative is reducing private brand “cycle time” — the time it takes from concept until the merchandise hits the
selling floor. With the Company’s most recent private brand launches, management has been able to demonstrate
that it can significantly reduce the cycle time. The Company’s substantial sourcing abilities should enable it to
continue to reduce the product lead times and offer customers more relevant and timely merchandise, Management
has established processes to optimize order flow by country and to reduce the cycle time from the design stage to
having the merchandise available for sale to customers.

The Company has a diversified supplier base, both domestic and foreign, and is not dependent to any significant
degree on any single supplier. Additionally, the Company has business continuity plans in place for all merchandise
distribution centers that would provide rerouting of merchandise allocations to have uninterrupted flow of
merchandise to both stores and direct to customers,

In order to ensure that associates have the tools and skills needed to support the Company’'s strategies and initiatives,
senior management has been developing new training programs and has been involved in delivering these programs
to associates. This includes “Retail Academy,” a week-long program for high-potential associates focused on retail
strategy and team building, and “WINNING TOGETHER Leading Together,” a course led by the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer focused on improving leadership skills for the Company’s most senior 500 managers.

The Company seeks to minimize operational risk associated with communication and information systems through
the development of back-up systems and emergency plans. The Company has disaster prevention and recovery
plans in place should events occur that could interrupt operations. Ongoing assessment and testing is being
conducted to minimize current and future risk. There is a process in place to provide regular associate training,
operating instructions and site visits to help limit operational defects or mistakes.

The Company has a number of integrated programs in place to mitigate the financial impact from property losses or
third-party liability claims. Each year, management reviews the level of risk that will be retained by the Company
and the portion of risk that will be supported by conventional insurance contracts. The Company’s strong financial
profile, business continuity plans, and third-party insurance where appropriate, mitigate the risk that any single risk
event would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or operations.

As pant of its ongoing planning process, management measures key risks in terms of the potential impact on
enterprise market value, operating performance, key financial metrics, and the Company’s overall financial
condition. This process utilizes scenario analysis and “stress testing” of risks that can cause vanation from
planned operating results and impact the Company’s enterprise value. Until such time as the Company has steady
and reliable access to commercial paper, it plans to maintain sufficient cash investment levels to cover peak seasonal
inventory needs and contingencies.

The Company alse recognizes that to achieve-its strategies, it must maintain its reputation among many
constituents — customers, suppliers, investors and regulators, as well as the general public — for business practices
of the highest ethical quality. Attention to integrity and reputation has always been a key aspect of the Company’s
practices and maintenance of reputation is the responsibility of everyone in the organization. The Company
supports this individual responsibility in many ways, including a code of ethics, training, policies, reporting
mechanisms and oversight through the Company’s Legal Compliance and Business Ethics Commitiee, which is
discussed below.

Risk Management Framework

The Company has an enterprise-wide risk management framework in place to identify, measure and manage risks.
The Company’s organizational structure, both at the Board and management levels, plays a critical role in
maintaining an effective overall risk management process, as highlighted by the risk management and monitoring
processes described below.

Independent Oversight — Several Board committees oversee the risk governance activities of the senior man-
agement committees. The Audit Committee is responsible for discussion of guidelines and policies governing the
process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken. In addition, the Audit Committee reviews with
management the systems of internal control over financial reporting that are relied upon to provide reasonable
assurance of compliance with the Company’s operational risk management processes. The Finance Committee
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reviews the Company’s overall financial plans, policies, strategies and capital structure. The Human Resources and
Compensation Committee oversees senior management committees responsible for retirement and welfare plans,
equity and other compensation plans. The Corporate Governance Committee monitors developments in the
governance area and recommends policies and practices to the Board of Directors.

Executive Board — The Executive Board, comprised of the top members of senior management, meets monthly
and is involved in the development of corporate strategy, monthly review of operational and financial results,
progress on planned initiatives and other matters that relate to the leadership and management of the Company. The
Executive Board also provides direction for managing the portfolio of risks throughout the enterprise.

Legal Compliance and Business Ethics Committee (Ethics Committee) — This Committee provides assistance
to the Chief Ethics Officer in ensuring that the Company’s legal compliance and ethics program is effective under
applicable laws and regulations. The Ethics Commiitee’s responsibilities include assessing the risks of non-
compliance with applicable laws or regulations and of unethical conduct by associates or agents of the Company;
determining how best to mitigate such risks through the promulgation and/or revision of written compliance and
ethics standards, including the Company’s Statement of Business Ethics; and the communication of such standards
through training, audiling, monitoring and other forms of checking; encouraging associates 1o report possible
violations of Company compliance- and ethics-related standards. The Ethics Committee also oversees internai
investigations into possible violations of law or Company policy and the discipline imposed for any violations of
Company policy. The Ethics Committee also assists the Chief Ethics Officer in reporting, no less than annually, to
the Board and the Audit Committee of the Board on the operation, content and effectiveness of the Company’s legal
compliance and ethics programs.

Human Resources Committee (HRC) — The HRC, which is made up of senior executives of the Company,
ensures appropriate management and fiduciary responsibilities are carried out with respect to retirement and
welfare plans, and manages and provides direction for equity and compensation plan strategies.

Capital Appropriations Committee (CAC) — The CAC, which is made up of senior executives of the Company,
reviews and approves individual capital and systems projects, and ensures proper capital allocation consistent with
the overall capital expenditure plan approved by the Board of Directors,

Disclosure and Controls Review Committee (DCRC) and Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance and Monitoring
Group - The DCRC is made up of senior executives of the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ)
and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The DCRC ensures that the Company’s established disclosure controls and
procedures and certification process are adhered to. The Company has a Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance and
Monitoring Group, which consists of associates dedicated full-time to managing the ongoing process of monitoring
and self-testing key controls throughout the organization, documenting and testing significant changes to internal
control over financial reporting and meeting the related reporting requirements.

Independent Support Functions - Internal Audit, Legal and Finance support the Company’s risk management
function. They operate independently of the operating divisions of the Company. As an important component of the
Company’s control structure, the Internal Audit department reports functionally to the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors. Internal Audit performs reviews and completes test work to ensure that: (a) risks are
appropriately identified and managed; (b) interaction with various internal governance groups, such as the legal
compliance coordinators, occurs as needed; (c) significant financial, managerial and operating information is
reliable and timely; (d) associates’ actions are in compliance with policies, standards, procedures and applicable
laws and regulations; () resources are acquired economically, used efficiently and adequately protected; (f) quality
and continuous improvement are fostered in the organization’s control process; and (g) significant legislative or
regulatory issues impacting the organization are recognized and addressed appropriately. Legal compliance
coordinators, working with Internal Audit, are responsible for ensuring that all areas of the Company maintain
effective compliance procedures.

Internal Control Structure

During 2006, the Company continued to focus on further tightening its overall internal control structure by having
ongoing discussions between management and the Company’s Audit Committee in their oversight role and
discussing management’s actions and programs to control and monitor the Company’s major fraud risks. In
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addition, Internal Audit completed a review of the Company’s different whistleblower hotlines to identify ways to
improve the effectiveness for associates and external stakeholders to report suspected wrongdoings and other
concems related to ethics, legal compliance, accounting complaints, loss prevention and human resources issues.

The Company is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporling in order to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the timely and accurate preparation of
financial statements for external purposes. Since 2004, under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act, management
has reported publicly on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and has
included Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting for 2006 on page 40. Additionally, the
Company’s external auditors are required to express an opinion on management’s assessment as well as on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. KPMG LLP’s report as of year-end 2006 is
included on page 41.

Critical Accounting Policies

The application of accounting policies necessarily involves judgment and, in certain instances, the use of estimates
and assumptions. Different amounts could be reported under different conditions or using different assumptions.
Management believes that the accounting policies used to develop estimates that are the most critical (o under-
standing and evaluating the Company’s reported results relate to: inventory valuation under the retail method of
accounting; valuation of long-lived assets; estimation of reserves and valuation allowances, specifically related to
closed stores, insurance, income taxes, litigation and environmental contingencies; and pension accounting.
Historically, actual results have not been materially different than the estimates that are discussed below. Although
the Company also has other policies considered key accounting policies, such as revenue recognition, these policies
do not require management to make estimates or judgments that are difficult or subjective.

The Company’s management has discussed the development and sclection of the critical accounting policies with
the Audit Committee of the Board and its independent auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s
disclosures relating to these policies in this MD&A. For a complete list of the Company’s significant accounting
policies, see Note 1, which begins on page F-7.

Inventory Valuation under the Retail Method

Inventories are valued primarily at the lower of cost {using the last-in, first-out or “LIFO” method) or market,
determined by the retail method for department stores and store distribution centers, and standard cost, representing
average vendor cost, for Direct and regional warehouses. Under the retail method, inventory is segregated into
groupings of merchandise having similar characteristics and is stated at its current retail selling value. Inventory
retail values are converted to a cost basis by applying specific average cost factors to each grouping of merchandise.
Cost factors represent the average cost-to-retail ratio for each merchandise group based on the beginning of period
inventory plus the current period’s purchase activity, as calculated on a monthly basis, for each store location.
Accordingly, a significant assumption under retail method accounting is that the inventory in each group of
merchandise is similar in terms of its cost-to-retail relationship and has similar gross margin and rurmover rates.
Management monitors the content of merchandise in these groupings to ensure distortions that would have a
material effect on inventory valuation do not occur. The retail method inherently requires management judgment
and certain estimates that may significantly impact the ending inventory valuation at cost, as well as gross margin.
Among others, two of the most significant estimates are permanent reductions to retail prices (markdowns) used to
clear unproductive or slow-moving inventory and inventory shortages (shrinkage).

Permanent markdowns designated for clearance activity are recorded at the point of decision, when the utility of
inventory has diminished, versus the point of sale. Factors considered in the determination of permanent mark-
downs include current and anticipated demand, customer preferences, age of the merchandise and style trends. The
corresponding reduction to gross margin is also recorded in the period the decision is made.

Shrinkage is estimated as a percentage of sales for the period from the last inventory date to the end of the fiscal year.
Physical inventories are taken at least annually for all department stores, store distribution centers, warchouses and
Direct fulfillment centers on a staggered basis throughout the year, and inventory records are adjusted accordingly.
The shrinkage rate from the most recent physical inventory, in combination with current events and historical
experience, is used as the standard for the shrinkage accrual rate for the next inventory cycle.
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To estimate the effects of inflation/deflation on ending inventory, an internal index measuring price changes from
the beginning to the end of the year is calculated using merchandise cost data at the item level.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Management evaluates recoverability of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable, for example, when a store’s performance falls below minimum
Company standards. In the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, management reviews the performance of individual
stores, Underperforming stores are selected for further evaluation of the recoverability of the carrying amounts. If
the evaluation. done on an undiscounted cash flow basis, indicates that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable, the potential impairment is measured as the excess of carrying value over the fair value of the impaired
assel. Management estimates fair value based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate that
is considered to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the Company’s current business model.

Additional factors are taken into consideration, such as local market conditions, operating environment, mall
performance and other trends.

Impairment losses totaling $2 million, $7 million and $12 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were
recorded for underperforming department stores and underutilized Direct and other facilities. If different assump-
tions were made or different market conditions were present, any estimated potential impairment amounts could
vary from recorded amounts.

Reserves and Valuation Allowances

Based on an overall analysis of store performance and expected trends, management periodically evaluates the need
to close underperforming stores. Reserves are established at the point of closure for the present value of any
remaining operating lease obligations (PVOLY), net of estimated sublease income, and at the point of decision for
severance and other exit costs, as prescribed by SFAS No. 146, “Accounting: for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities.” See further discussion in Note 1 on page F-13. Two key assumptions in calculating the reserve
include the timeframe expected to terminate lease agreements and estimation of other related exit costs. If different
assumptions were used regarding the timing and potential termination costs, the resulting reserves could vary from
recorded amounts. Reserves are reviewed periodically and adjusted, when necessary.

The Company records a provision for workers” compensation and general liability risk based on historical
experience. current claims data and independent actuarial best estimates, including incurred but not reported
claims. The Company targets this provision above the midpoint of the actuarial range, and total estimated claim
liability amounts are discounted using a risk-free rate.

Income taxes are estimated for each jurisdiction in which the Company operates. This involves assessing the current
tax exposure together with temporary differences, which result from differing treatment of items for tax and book
purposes. Deferred 1ax assets and liabilities are provided for based on these assessments. Deferred tax assets are
evaluated for recoverability based on estimated future taxable income. To the extent that recovery is deemed
unlikely, a valuation allowance is recorded. During 2005, management determined that the Conipany will more
likely than not generate sufficient income over the next several years to utilize state tax net operating losses for
which a valuation allowance had been recorded. This valuation allowance was appropriately reversed. Tax reserves
are provided for when the Company considets that it is probable that taxes will be due. Such reserves are evaluated
and adjusted as appropriate, while taking into account the progress of audits of various taxing jurisdictions.
Management does not expect the outcome of tax audits to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition, results of operations or cash flow. Many years of data have been incorporated into the determination of
tax reserves, and the Company's estimates have historically been reasonable.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and governmental inquiries associated with employment and other
matters. Reserves have been established based on management’s best estimates of the Company’s potential liability
in these matters. These estimates have been developed in consultation with in-house and outside counsel.
Management does not believe that these proceedings and inquiries, either individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
See further discussion in Note 20.
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Reserves for potential environmental liabilities related to facilities, some of which the Company no longer operates,
are adjusted based on the Company’s experience, as well as consultations with independent engineering firms and
in-house legal counsel, as appropriate. Management believes the established reserves, as adjusted, are adeguate to
cover estimated potential liabilities.

Pension

Pension Accounting

JCP sponsors a non-contributory qualified defined benefit pension plan (the primary pension plan), supplemental
retirement plans for certain management assaciates and other postretirement benefit plans. Refer to Note 17 for
further discussion of these plans. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company implemented certain changes to its
retirement benefits, which are discussed on pages 37-38. As of February 3, 2007, the Company adopted the
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans ~ an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).” Refer to Note 1 for a
discussion of the impact of adopting SFAS No. 158.

Major assumptions used in accounting for retirement plans include the expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets and the discount rate. Assumptions are determined based on Company information and market indicators and
are evaluated at each annual measurement date (October 31). A change in any of these assumptions could have a
significant effect on the Company’s pension and other postretirement benefit plan costs. These assumptions require
significant judgment, and the calculation of pension costs is relatively complex. The Company utilizes third parties,
including actuarial and investment advisory firms, to help evaluate the appropriateness of the expected rate of
return, the discount rate and other pension plan assumptions annually. The following discussion relates to the
primary pension plan only, since it represents the majority of the Company’s recorded pension expense and related
asset/liability amounts in its consolidated financial statements.

Demographic Assumptions

For purposes of estimating demographic mortality in the measurement of the Company’s pension obligation, as of
October 31, 2004, the Company began using the Retirement Plans 2000 Table of Combined Healthy Lives (RP 2000
Table), projected to 2005, using Scale AA to forecast mortality improvements five years into the future to 2005,
Previously, the Company had utilized the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table, which it continued to use for
calculating funding requirements through 2006 based on Internal Revenue Service regulations. This change did not
have a material impact on the projected benefit obligation. Beginning in 2007, for funding purposes, the Company
will begin using a projected version of the RP 2000 Table.

Market-Related Value of Plan Assets

In accounting for pension costs, the Company uses fair value, which is the market value of plan assets as of the
annual measurement date, to calculate the expected return on assets and gain/loss amortization components of net
periodic pension expense.

Return on Plan Assets and Impact on Earnings
2006 2005 2004

(8 in millions)

One-year actual return on plan assets 17.6% 13.2% 11.7%
Expected return on plan assets assumption 8.9% 3.9% 8.9%
Pension expense $ 9 £ 69 $ 82

As aresult of sirong asset performance over the past few years, combined with voluntary Company contributions of
$300 million in 2006, 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaling $1.2 billion, pension expense has decreased each year since
2003. .

Since the inception of the Company’s primary pension plan in 1966 through the October 31, 2006 measurement
date, the average annual return has been 9.7%. After three years of decline in the fair value of pension assets during
the 2000-2002 bear market, pension assets experienced significant increases due to consecutive annual gains in
global equity markets during the last four years. Because the fair value of plan assets is measured as of a point in
time, the change in fair value between measurement dates affects the subsequent year’s net pension expense. Since
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inception, the Company's primary pension plan has incurred cumutative pre-tax expense of approximately
$192 million. This is the result of cumulative pension expense during the 1966-1984 period of $366 million,
cumulative pension income during the 1985-2001 period of $488 million and pension expense in the 2002-2006
period totaling $314 million. The Company has maintained an expected rate of return of 8.9% over the last
three years, consistent with historical returns and management’s long-term view of expected returns. Pension
expense, which is a non-cash item, will decline in 2007 by approximately $100 million primarily as a result of 2006
positive return on plan assets.

To develop its expected return on plan assets, the Company considers its long-term asset allocation policy, historical
returns on plan assets and overall capital market returns, taking into account current and expected market
conditions. The Company’s primary pension plan is well diversified with an asset allocation policy that provides
for a targeted 70%, 20% and 10% mix of equities (U.S., non-U.S. and private), fixed income (investment-grade and
high-yield) and real estate (private and public), respectively. This allocation provides the pension plan with the
appropriate balance of investment return and volatility risk, given the funded nature of the plan, its present and
future liability characteristics and its long-term investment horizon. See Note 17 for a further discussion of the asset
allocation strategy for plan assels.

Discount Rate

2006 2005 2004
Discount rate for pension expense 5.80% 5.85% 6.35%
Discount rate for pension obligation 5.85% 5.80% 5.85%

The Company increased the discount rate used to measure the pension obligation from 5.80% to 5.85% in 2006. In
the previous two years, the Company lowered the discount rate. The discount rate is based on the yield to maturity of
a representative portfolio of AA-rated corporate bonds as of the October 31 measurement date each year, with an
average cash flow duration similar to the pension liability. This methodology is consistent with guidance in
SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” to use the rate currently available on high-quality bonds and
the subsequent guidance issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission that high-quality bonds should be
those with ai least a AA rating by a recognized rating agency.

Sensitivity

The sensitivity of the pension expense to a plus or minus one-half of one percent of expected return on assets is a
decrease or increase in expense of approximately $0.06 per share. Increasing the discount rate by one-half of one
percent would decrease expense by approximately $0.03 per share, while decreasing the discount rate by one-half of
one percerit would increase the expense by approximately $0.11 per share. The variability of the impact on pension
expense of a change in the discount rate is due to the resulting level of net gains or losses that are amortized only to
the extent they exceed 10 percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of
plan assets (the 10 percent corridor under SFAS No. 87).

Pension Funding

Funding Policy

The Company’s funding policy is to maintain a well-funded pension plan throughout all business and economic
cycles. Maintaining a well-funded plan over time provides additional financial flexibility to the Company, including
lower pension expense and reduced cash contributions, especially in the event of a decline in the capital markets. In
addition, a well-funded plan assures associates of the plan’s and the Company’s financial ability to continue to
provide competitive retirement benefits, while at the same time being cost effective. The Company targets to
maintain a funded ratio, which is the plan’s assets as a percent of the actuarial funding liability under the Employee
Retirement Income Sccurity Act of 1974 (ERISA), in the range of 120% to 150%. The Pension Protection Act
(PPA), a 2006 amendment to ERISA, increases the limit on maximum deductible contributions from 100% of the
actuarial funding liability to 150%. Increasing the funding limit provides the Company enhanced flexibility to make
discretionary pension contributions and to maintain the plan’s funded ratio within the funding policy target range.
The PPA enabted the Company to make a discretionary $300 million pre-tax contribution to the plan in the fourth

35




quarter of 2006. In 2005, the Company did not make a discretionary contribution to the pension plan due to the
plan’s well-funded position and Internal Revenue Service rules limiting tax deductible contributions.

Funding History

The Company made cash contributions to its primary pension plan annually during the 1966-1983 period in order to
provide an asset base to support the accelerating ltability growth in the early years of the plan. Over the 1984-2006
period, the Company made cash contributions to the plan in eight years (1993-1996, 2002-2004, 2006) and no
contributions in the other 15 years due to maintaining a well-funded plan and the actual investment return on plan
assets.

Since the plan’s inception, the Company has contributed $2.0 billion, or approximately $1.2 billion on an after-rax
basis, to its primary pension plan. including the contribution made in the fourth quarter of 2006. Over this
timeframe, the actual investment return on plan assets has generated a significant portion of the $8.3 billion in
pension plan total value, defined as $3.0 billion in cumulative benefit payments to retired associates plus $5.3 billion
in pltan assets as of fiscal year-end 2006. In effect, the Company’s cumulative after-tax cash contributions over this
timeframe represent approximately 14% of the plan’s total value (i.e., $1.2 billion as a percent of $8.3 billion). The
remainder of the plan’s total value has been generated by the actual investment returns since inception.

ERISA Funded Status

The Company’s primary pension plan remains in a well-funded position. Although no additional funding was
required under ERISA, the Company made discretionary pre-tax contributions of $300 million to its primary
pension plan in the fourth quarter of 2006 and in the third quarter of 2004. The Company did not make a
discretionary contribution to the pension plan in 2005 due to the plan’s well-funded position and Internal Revenue
Service rules limiting tax deductible contributions. At October 31, 2006, plan assets of $4.8 billion were 124% of
the $3.9 billion ERISA funding liability. Reflecting the fourth quarter 2006 contribution to the plan, the funded
status as of year-end 2006 was 137%.

Expected Contributions

Future contributions to the pension plan will be dependent on asset returns and future discount rates impacting the
plan’s actuarial funding liability. The Company does net anticipate mandatory funding requirements in 2007 under
ERISA. It plans to make a discretionary contribution, however, if market conditions and the funded position of the
pension plan allow such a contribution to be tax deductible. See Note 17 for further discussion.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan for approximately 1,700 executives and senior management
that provides for grants to associates of stock awards (stock or units, restricted or unrestricted), stock appreciation
rights or options to purchase the Company’s common stock.

Over the past three years, the Company’s annual stock option grants have averaged about 1.4% of outstanding
shares, including the common stock gquivalent of preferred shares. As of February 3, 2007, options to purchase
8.3 million shares of common stock, representing 3.7% of total shares, were outstanding, of which 4.3 million were
exercisable. Of the exercisable options, 100% were “in-the-money,” or had an exercise price below the closing
end-of-year stock price of $83.70.

Prior to 2005, the Company followed Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” which did not require expense recognition for stock options when the exercise price of an
option equaled, or exceeded, the quoted market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Effective
January 30, 2005, the Company early-adopted SFAS No. 123R, which requires the use of the fair value method for
accounting for all stock-based compensation, including stock options. The statement was adopted using the
modified prospective method of application. Under this method, in addition to reflecting compensation expense for
new share-based awards, expense is also recognized to reflect the remaining vesting period of awards that had been
included in pro-forma disclosures in prior periods. The Company did not adjust prior year financial statements
under the optional modified retrospective method of application, but has disclosed the pro-forma impact of
expensing stock options on 2004 in Note 1.
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Stock-Based Compensation Cost in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Stock awards (shares and units) $34 56 $23
Stock options 26 32 -

Total stock-based compensation cost in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations $60 $38 $23

Total income tax benefit recognized in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations for

stock-based compensation arrangements $23@ $15@ 39

(1) See Note | for the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair valie method had been applied 1o all outstanding awards in 2004.
(2) Of the ro1al, $10 million and $12 million in 2006 and 2003, respectively, related to stock options.

Prior to 2003, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the grant date fair value of its
stock option awards. For grants subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company estimates the fair value
of stock option awards on the date of grant using a binomial lattice model developed by outside consultants who
worked with the Company in the implementation of SFAS No. 123R. The Company believes that the binomial
lattice model is a more accurate model for valuing employee stock options since it better reflects the impact of stock
price changes on option exercise behavior.

The expected volatility used in the binomial lattice model is based on an analysis of historical prices of JCPenney’s
stock and open market exchanged options, and was developed in consultation with an outside valvation specialist
and the Company’s financial advisors. The expected volatility reflects the volatility implied from a price quoted for
a hypothetical call option with a duration consistent with the expected life of the options and the volatility implied
by the trading of options to purchase the Company's stock on open-market exchanges. As a result of the Company’s
recently completed turnaround that began in 2001 and the disposition of the Eckerd drugstore operations, a
significant portion of historical volatility is not considered to be a good indicator of future volatility. The expected
term of options granted is derived from the output of the binomial lattice model, and represents the period of time
that the options are expected to be outstanding. This model incorporates an early exercise assumption in the event of
a significant increase in stock price. The risk-free rate is based on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the
date of grant with the same period as the expected option life. The dividend yield is assumed to increase ratably to
the Company’s expected dividend yield level based on targeted payout ratios over the expected life of the options.

As of February 3, 2007, there was $25 million and $33 million of compensation cost not yet recognized or earned
related to stock options and associate restricted stock (share and unit) awards, respectively, which is expected to be
recognized as earned over weighted-average periods of 1.0 and 1.2 years, respectively.

See Notes 1 and |5 for more details about the Company’s stock-based compensation,

Retirement and Medical Benefit Plan Changes

In April 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors approved several benefit plan changes in recognition of the
declining prevalence of defined benefit pension plans in the retail industry and the increasing value that associates
place on portability of retirement benefits. The overarching goal was to provide competitive benefits that are cost
effective for both the Company and its associates.

These changes include replacing the current Company matching contribution of 4.5% of available profits with a
fixed Company matching contribution of 50 cents on each dollar contributed up to 6% of pay to the Company’s
401(k) defined contribution plan. The Company will retain the flexibility to make additional discretionary matching
contributions. The pension plan was closed to associates hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2007. A replacement
benefit is being provided to those associates in the form of a retirement account, a component of the defined
contribution 401(k) plan, whereby the Company will contribute an amount equal to 2% of participants’ annual pay
after one year of service. Participating associates will be fully vested after three years Associates hired or rehired on
or prior to December 31, 2006 will remain in the Company’s pension plan and continue to earn credited service.
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Finally, medical benefits for active associates were modified to increase the percentage of costs borne by the
Company.

These benefit plan changes were communicated to associates in May 2006 and became effective January 1, 2007.
The changes did not have a significant impact on fiscal year 2006 retirement benefit and medical plan expenses, and
going forward, the aggregate impact is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition,
liquidity or results of operations. For a further discussion of these changes, see Note 17.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued two standards that address accounting for income taxes: FASB Staff Position (FSP)
FAS 13-2, “Accounting for a Change in the Timing of Cash Flows Relating to Income Taxes Generated by a
Leveraged Lease Transaction,” and FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes.” FSP FAS 13-2 requires a recalculation of returns on leveraged leases if there is a change or projected change
in the timing of cash flows relating to income taxes generated by the leveraged lease. The adoption of FSP FAS 13-2
effective at the beginning 0f 2007 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for recognizing, measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial
statements uncertain tax positions that a company has taken or expects to take in its tax returns, It applies to all tax
positions accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. The Company will apply the provisions of this interpretation beginning in the first quarter
of 2007, and currently expects that its adoption will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations or financial position. The Company does, however, expect to make certain balance sheet
reclassifications upon the adoption of this interpretation.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued.SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements,” which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. This Statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or
permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, this Statement does not require any new fair value measurements.
The provisions of SFAS No. 157 will be effective as of the beginning of the Company’s fiscat 2008. The Company
does not expect that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements,

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), “Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 addresses
how the effect of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be evaluated when quantifying misstalements in
current year financial statements. SAB 108 requires companies to quantify misstalements using a balance sheet and
income statement approach and to evaluate whether either approach results in quantified error that is material in
light of the relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. The provisions of SAB 108 became effective during the
fourth quarter of 2006 but had no impact on the financial position or operating results of the Company.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities.”
This statement permils entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair
value. If the fair value option is elected, unrealized gains and losses will be recognized in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.
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Fiscal Year 2007 Guidance

On February 22, 2007, management communicated the following initial guidance for 2007 in the Company’s
fourth quarter and full-year 2006 earnings release:

» Total department store sales are expected to increase mid-single digits for 2007, while comparable department
store sales are expected to increase low-single digits. Direct sales are expected to increase low-single digits for
the year.

« Full year operating income margin is expected to reflect moderate year over year improvement, with contri-
butions from both gross margin and expense leverage,

+ The effective income tax rate for the year is expected to increase to approximately 38.6%.

« Earnings from continuing operations are expected to be in the area of $5.44 per share for 2007.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements made within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which reflect the Company’s current view of future events and financial
performance. The words expect, plan, anticipate, believe, intent, should. will and similar expressions identify
forward-looking statements. Any such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may
cause the Company’s actual results to be materiatly different from planned or expected results. Those risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, competition, consumer demand, seasonality, cconomic conditions,
including the price and availability of oil and natural gas, impact of changes in consumer credit payment terms,
changes in management, retail industry consolidations, a pandemic, acts of terrorism or war and government
activity. Furthermore, the Company typically earns a disproportionate share of its operating income in the fourth
quarter due to holiday buying patterns, and such buying patterns are difficult to forecast with certainty. While the
Company believes that its assumptions are reasonable, it cautions that it is impossible to predict the degree to which
any such factors could cause actual results to differ materially from predicted results. For additional discussion on
risks and uncertainties, see Item 1A, Risk Factors, beginning on page 4. The Company intends the forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to speak only as of the date of this report and does not undertake to
update or revise these projections as more information becomes available.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company maintains a majority of its cash and short-term investments in financial instruments with original
maturities of three months or less. Such investments are subject to interest rate risk and may have a small decline in
value if interest rates increase. Since the financial instruments are of short duration, a change of 100 basis points in
interest rates would not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition,

All of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt as of February 3, 2007 is at fixed interest rates and would not be
affected by interest rate changes. Future borrowings under the Company’s multi-year revolving credit facility, to the
extent that fluctuating rate loans were used, would be affected by interest rate changes. As of February 3, 2007, no
cash borrowings were outstanding under the facility, and approximately $122 million in letters of credit were
supported by this facility. The Company does not believe that a change of 100 basis points in interest rates would
have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition.

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated by obtaining quotes from brokers or is based on current rates offered
for similar debt. At February 3, 2007, long-term debt, excluding equipment financing. capital leases and other, had a
carrying value of $3.4 billion and a fair value of $3.6 billion. At January 28, 2006, long-term debt, excluding
equipment financing. capital leases and other, had a carrying value of $3.4 billion and a fair value of $3.7 billion.

The effects of changes in the U.S. equity and bond markets serve to increase or decrease the value of assets in the
Company’s qualified pension plan, which is well funded. At the October 31, 2006 measurement date, plan assets of
$4.8 billion were approximately 124% of the $3.9 billion actuarial funding liability under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). The Company seeks to manage exposure to adverse equity and bond returns
by maintaining diversified investment portfolios and utilizing professional investment managers.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on Page F-1,

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Based on their evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and
15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed, by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company’s principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for estabiishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting.

The management of the Company has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of February 3, 2007. In making this assessment, management used criteria set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COSQ) in Internal Controf — Integrated Framework.
Based on its assessment, the management of the Company believes that, as of February 3, 2007, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

KPMG LLP, the registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal
control over finrancial reporting. This attestation report appears on page 41 herein.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s fourth
quarter ended February 3, 2007, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
J. C. Penney Company, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting,” that J. C. Penney Company, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of February 3, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {COS0). J. C. Penney
Company, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate,

In our opinion, management’s assessment that J. C. Penney Company, Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of February 3, 2007, is fairly stated. in all material respects, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, J. C. Penney Company, Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of February 3, 2007, based on criteria established in /nternal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 3,
2007 and January 28, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 3, 2007, and our report dated April 2, 2007
expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMre LP

Dallas, Texas
April 2, 2007

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART 111

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,

The information required by Item 10 with respect to executive officers is included within Item 1 in Part I of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

The information required by Item 10 with respect to directors, audit committee, audit committee financial experts
and Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance is included under the captions *Election of Directors,”
“Audit Committee” and "“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s definitive
proxy statement for 2007, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Regulation [4A, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines and Committee Charters

The Company has adopted a code of ethics for officers and employees, which applies to, among others, the Company’s
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and controller, and which is known as the “Statement of
Business Ethics.” The Company has also adopted certain ethical principles and policies for its directors, which are set
forth in Article V of the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Statement of Business Ethics and
Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on the Company’s Web site al www.jcpenney.net. Additionally, the
Company will provide copies of these documents without charge upon request made to:

J. C. Penney Company, Inc.
Office of Investor Relations
P.O. Box 10001
Dallas, TX 75301-4301
(Telephone 972-431-3436)

The Company intends to satisty the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment
to or waiver of any provision of the Statement of Business Ethics that applies to any officer of the Company by
posting such information on the Company’s Web site at www.jcpenney.net.

Copies of the Company's Audit Committec, Human Resources and Compensation Committee, the Committec of
the Whole and Corporate Governance Committee Charters are also available on the Company’s Web site at
www.jcpenney.net. Copies of these documents will likewise be provided without charge upon request made to the
address or telephone number provided above.

Item I1. Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 11 is included under the captions “Compensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis.” “Repont of the Human Resources and Compen-
sation Committee,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal 2006,” “QOutstand-
ing Equity Awards At Fiscal Year-End 2006,” “Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal 2006, “Pension
Benefits,” “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for Fiscal 2006,” “Potential Payments and Benefits on Termi-
nation of Employment” and “Director Compensation for Fiscal 2006™ in the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for 2007, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by [tem 12 with respect to beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock is
included under the caption “Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock™ in the Company's definitive proxy statement
for 2007, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A. and is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan(s) Infermation

The following table shows the number of options and other awards outstanding as of February 3, 2007 under the
J. C. Penney Company, Inc. 2005 Equity Compensation Plan (2005 Plan) and prior plans, as well as the number of
shares remaining available for grant under the 2005 Plan.

(a) (b) {c)

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise price equily compensation
exercise of of outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding options, options, warrants securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants and rights and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 9,387,462 $45 14,682,374V

(1) On May 20, 2005, the Company s stockholders approved the 2005 Plan, which reserved an aggregate of 17.2 million shares of common stock
Jor issuance 10 associates and non-employee directors. No shares remain available for future issuance from prior plans.

{2) As of March 14, 2007, the Compuny granted stock options, performance unit awards and resiricted siock unit awards covering 1,847,318 shares of
conunon siock under the 2005 Plan. It is expected that the number of shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2005 Plan will be
decreased further by the number of restricted stock units to be awarded to the Company’s non-associate directors as part of their annual fees follewing
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 13 is included under the captions “Board Independence” and “Policies and
Procedures with Respect to Related Person Transactions™ in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for 2007,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A, and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by ltem 14 is included under the captions “Audit and Other Fees” and “Audit Committee’s
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures”™ in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for 2007, which will be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A, and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules,
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

The consolidated financial statements of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. and subsidiaries are listed in the
accompanying “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” on page F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules have been omitted as they are inapplicable or not required under the rules, or the information
has been submitted in the consolidated financial statements and related financial information contained
otherwise in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,

3. Exhibits:
See separale Exhibit Index beginning on page E-1.

(b) Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K is specifically identified in the separate Exhibit Index beginning on page E-1 and filed
with or incorporated by reference in this report.

{c) Other Financial Statement Schedules. None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

J. C. PENNEY COMPANY, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ R. B. Cavanaugh

R. B. Cavanaugh
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: April 4, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Date
M. E. Ullman, 1II* Chairman of the Board and April 4, 2007
M. E. Ullman, III Chief Executive Officer
. (principal executive officer);

Director
/s/ R. B. Cavanaugh Executive Vice President and April 4, 2007
R. B. Cavanaugh Chief Financial Officer
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W. I. Alcorn* Senior Vice President and April 4, 2007
W. I. Alcorn Controller (principal
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C. C. Barrett* Director April 4, 2007
C. C. Barrett
M. A. Burns* Director April 4, 2007
M. A, Bumns
M. K. Clark* Director April 4, 2007
M. K. Clark
T. J. Engibous* Director ’ April 4, 2007

T. J. Engibous

K. B. Foster* Director : April 4, 2007

K. B. Foster
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V. E. Jordan, Jr.
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Title

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

45

Date

April 4, 2007
April 4, 2007
April 4, 2007
April fi, 2007

April 4, 2007




[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]




J. C. PENNEY COMPANY, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended February 3, 2007,

January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 E-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended February 3,

2007, January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years Ended February 3, 2007,

January 28, 2006 and January 29, 2005 F-6

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

F-1’




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
1. C. Penney Company, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 3, 2007. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. and subsidiaries as of February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended February 3,
2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” in fiscal year 2005 and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans” on February 3, 2007,

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of I. C. Penney Company, Tnc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
February 3, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Com-
mittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated April 2, 2007
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial reporting.

KPMe P

Dallas, Texas
April 2, 2007




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

($ in millions, except per share data)
Retail sales, net
Cost of goods sold

Gross margin

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenscs
Pre-opening expense
Real estate and other (income)/expense
Total operating expenses

Operating income

Net interest expense

Bond premiums and unamortized cosls

Income from continuing operations before
income taxes

Income tax expense

Income from centinuing operations

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations, net
of income tax (benefit) of $(17). $(67) and
$(178)

Net income
Less: preferred stock dividends, net of tax

Net income applicable to common stockholders
Basic earnings/(loss) per share:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share:

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

2006 2005 2004
$19,903 518,781 $18,096
12,078 11,590 11,304
7,825 7,191 6,792
5,521 5,227 5,135
389 372 359

27 15 11
(34) (54) 12
5,903 5,560 5,517
1,922 1,631 1,275
130 169 223
- 18 47
1.792 1.444 1,005
658 467 348
$ 1,134 $ 977 $ 657
19 111 (133)
$ 1,153 $ 1,088 $ 524
- - 12
3 1,153 $ 1,088 $ 512
$ 495 5 386 $ 231
0.08 0.44 {0.48)
$ 503 $ 430 $ 183
$ 4.38 $‘ 3.83 $ 220
0.08 0.43 {0.44)
$ 496 $ 426 3 176




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(3 in millions, except per share data}
Assets
Current assets
Cash and short-term investments
Receivables
Merchandise inventory (net of LIFO reserves of $8 and $24)
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Prepaid pension

Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity
Current liabilities '
Trade payables
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt
Income taxes payable

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred taxes

Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

Stockholders’ Equity

Common stock'"”

Additional paid-in capital

Reinvested earnings .
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/ income
Total Stockholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

{1) Common stock has a par value of 30.50 per share; 1,250 million shares are authorized. At February 3, 2007, 226 million shares were issued
and outstanding. At January 28, 2006, 233 million shares were issued and outstanding,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2006 2005
$ 2,747 $ 3,016
263 270
3,400 3,210
238 206
6,648 6,702
4,162 3,748
1,235 1,469
628 542
$12,673 $12,461
$ 1,366 $ 1,171
1,692 1,562
434 21
— 8
3,492 2,762
3,010 3,444
1,206 1,287
677 961
8,385 8,454
112 116
3,430 3,363
922 512
(176) 16
4,288 4,007
$12,673 $12,461




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Number Accumulated
of Additional Other Total
Preferred Common Common Paid-in = Reinvested Comprehensive Stockholders’

{in millions, except per share amounts) Stock Shares Stack Capital Earnings ~ (Loss)/Income Equity

January 31, 2004 $ 304 274 $137 $3,394 $1,728 $(138) $ 5,425
Net income - - - - 524 - 524
Unrealized gain on investments, net of .

tax of $(9) - - - - - 14 14
Non-qualified plan minimum liability

adjustment, net of 1ax of $14 - - - - - (20} (20)

Other comprehensive income from
discontinued operations, net of tax of
S - - - - - 12 12

Total comprehensive income $ 530

Dividends declared. common (5_5).50 per
share) and preferred (S].ISS(“’ per

common share equivalent) - - - - (150 - (150)
Common stock issued - 47 23 1,261 - - 1.284
Common stock repurchased and retired - 50 (25) {637) (1,290) - (1.952)
Preferred stock redeemed (304) - .- - - - (304)
Vesting of stock awards - - - 23 - — 23
January 29, 2005 - 271 135 4,041 812 (132) 4,856
Net income - - - - 1.088 - 1,088
Unrealized gain on investments, net of ;

tax of $(23) - - - - - 44 44
Non-qualified plan minimum liability

adjustment, net of tax of $(1) - - - - - - -
Reclassification adjustment for currency

translation loss included in

disconinued operations'” - - - - - 83 83
Other comprehensive income from

discontinued operations'" - - - - - 21 21
Total comprehensive income $ 1,236
Dividends declared, common {$0.50 per

share} : - - - - (125) - (125)
Common stock issued - 6 3 157 - - 160
Common stock repurchased and retired - (44) 22) (916) (1,263) - (2.201})
Vesting of share-based payments — - = 81 - - 81
January 28, 2006 - 233 116 3,363 512 16 4,007
Net income - - - - 1.153 - 1,153
Unrealized gain on investments, net of

tax of $(29) - - - - - 48 48
Non-qualified plan minimum lability

adjustment. net of tax of $3 - - - - - (6) (6)
Total comprehensive income’ - $ 1,195
Adjustment to initially apply

SFAS No. 158, net of tax of $150% - - - - - (234) (234)
Dividends declared. common ($0.72 per

share) - - - - (165) - (165)
Common stock issued - 4 2 130 - - 132
Common stock repurchased and retired - (11) (6) {168) (578) - (750)
Vesting of share-based payments — = - 103 - — 103
February 3, 2007 $ - 226 $112 $3,430 $ 922 $(176) $ 4,288

{1) A deferred tax asset was not established for the currency translation adjustments of Mexico or Renner discontinued operations due to the
historical reinvestment of earnings in these subsidiaries.

(2} Of the $2.37 annual dividend per common stock equivalem, one semi-annual dividend was declared and paid prior to the preferred stock
being redeemed on August 26, 2004.

(3} Reflects the adoption of the recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers' Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).” See Note 1.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

($ ire millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

{Income)/loss from discontinued operations ) -
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities: )
Assel impairments, PVOL and other unit closing costs
Depreciation and amortization o
Net gains on sale of assets
Benefit plans (income)/expense
Pension contribution
Stock-based compensation
Tax benefits on stock options exercised
Deferred taxes
Change in cash from:
Receivables
Inventory .
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Trade payables
Current income laxes payable
Accrued expenses and other

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures .

Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations
Proceeds from sale of assets

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities of continuing operations

Cash flows from financing activities:

Payments of long-term debt, including capital leases and bond premiums
Common stock repurchased

Dividends paid, common and preferred

Proceeds from stock options exercised

Excess tax benefits on’stock options exercised

Other

Net cash (used in) financing activities of continuing operations

Cash flows from discontinued operations:
Operating cash flows
Investing cash flows '
Financing cash flows
Total cash (paid for) discontinued operations
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and short-term investments .
Cash and short-term investments at beginning of year

Cash and short-term investments at end of year

2006 2005 2004

$1.153 $1,088 § 524
(19) (11D 133

4 12 19
389 372 359
)] (27) (3)
(51 24 28
(300) - (300)
60 38 23

6 - -

(6) (10) 3

29 (44) 3
(190) (67) N
(3N (46) 44
195 28 22
(N (103) 163

31 183 100
1,255 1,337 1.111
(772) (535) (398)
- 283 4,666

20 31 34
(752) (221) 4,302
0 @74) (856)
(750)  (2,252)  (L.90D)
(153) (131) - (150
135 162 248
39 43 -
4 - (H
751y (2,652)  (2.660)
11 82 (792)
(32) (187) (263)
- 8 (13)
1) 97)  (1.068)
(269)  (1,633) 1,685
3,016 4.649 2,964
$2,747 $3.016 $ 4,649

The accompanying notes arc an’integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED-FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -

1) Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations

JCPenney was founded by James Cash Penney in 1902 and has grown to be a major retailer, operating
1,033 JCPenney department stores throughout the continental United States, including Alaska, and Puerto Rico.
The Company sells family apparel, jewelry, shoes, accessories and home furnishings to customers through
department stores and Direct (Internet/catalog). In addition, the department stores provide services, such as styling
salon, optical, portrait photography and custom decorating, to customers,

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements present the results of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
Company or JCPenney). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in
consolidation.

The Company is a holding company whose principal operating subsidiary is J. C. Penney Corporation, Inc. (JCP).
JCP was incorporated in Delaware in 1924, and the Company was incorporated in Delaware in 2002, when the
holding company structure was implemented. The holding company has no direct subsidiaries other than JCP, and
has no independent assets or operations.

The Company is a co-obligor (or guarantor, as appropriate) regarding the payment of principal and interest on JCP's
outstanding debt securities. The guarantee by the Company of certain of JCP's outstanding debt securities is full and
unconditional.

Fiscal Year

Effective January 29, 2005, the Company changed its fiscal year end to the Saturday closest to January 31, to be in
alignment with the fiscal calendar prevalently used in the retail industry. Historically, the Company’s fiscal year has
ended on the last Saturday in January. This change had no impact on fiscal 2004 or 2005 reported results, Fiscal
2006 contained 53 weeks. Unless otherwise stated, references to years in this report relate to fiscal years rather than
to calendar years.

Fiseal Year Ended Weeks
2006 February 3, 2007 53
2005 January 28, 2006 52
2004 January 29, 2005 52

The accounts of Lojas Renner S.A. (Renner), which are now included in Income/(Loss) from Discontinued
Operations for all periods presented, were on a calendar-year basis.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financia! statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. While actual results could differ from these estimates, management does
not expect the differences, if any, to have a material effect on the financial statements.

The most significant estimates relate to inventory valuation under the retail method, specifically permanent
reductions to retail prices (markdowns) and adjustments for shortages (shrinkage); valuation of long-lived assets;
valuation allowances and reserves for workers’ compensation and general liability, environmental contingencies,
income taxes and litigation; reserves related to the Eckerd discontinued operations; and pension accounting.
Workers’ compensation and general liability reserves are based on historical experience, current claims data and
independent actuarial best estimates, including incurred but not reported claims. Environmental remediation
reserves are estimated using a range of potential lability, based on the Company’s experience and consultation with
independent engineering firms and in-house legal counsel, as appropriate. Income taxes are estimated for each
jurisdiction in which the Company operates. Deferred tax assets are evaluated for recoverability, and a valuation
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allowance 1s recorded if it is deemed more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. During 2005, the
valuation allowance previously established for state net operating losses was reversed based on management’s
assessment that the Company will more likely than not generate sufficient income over the next several years to
utilize the losses. Litigation reserves are based on management’s best estimate of potential liability, with
consultation of in-house and outside counsel. Related to pension accounting, the selection of assumptions,
including the estimated rate of return on plan assets and the discount rate, impact the actuarially determined
amounts reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, :

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation. The
most significant reclassifications relate to store merchandise distribution center expenses and depreciation and
amortization and pre-opening expenses, Store merchandise distribution center expenses are now included in Cost of
Goods Sold for all periods presented, and depreciation and amortization and pre-opening expenses are now
presented as separate line items on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Previously, store merchandise
distribution center expenses, depreciation and amortization and pre-opening expenses were included in Selling,
General and Administrative Expenses. None of the reclassifications impacted the Company’s net income in any
period.

Merchandise and Services Revenue Recognition

Retail sales, net of estimated returns, and excluding sales taxes, are recorded at the point of sale when payment is
made and customers take possession of the merchandise in department stores, at the point of shipment of
merchandise ordered through Direct (Internet/catalog) or, in the case of services, the customer has received the
benefit of the service, such as salon, portrait, optical or custom decorating. Commissions carned on sales generated
by licensed departments are included as a component of retail sales. Shipping and handling fees charged to
customers are also recorded as retail sales with related costs recorded as cost of goods sold. The Company provides
for estimated future returns based on historical return rates and sales levels. Sales taxes are not included in retail
sales as the Company acts as a conduit for collecting and remitting sales taxes to the appropriate govemmental
authorities,

Gift Card Revenue Recognition

At the time gift cards are sold, no revenue is recognized; rather, a liability is established for the face amount of the
card. The liability is relieved and revenue is recognized when gift cards are redeemed for merchandise. The liability
remains recorded until the earlier of redemption, escheatment or 60 months. After 60 months, any remaining
liability is relieved and recognized as a reduction of Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses. It is the
Company’s historical experience that the likelihood of redemption after 60 months is remote. The liability for gift
cards is recorded in Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and was
$231 million at February 3. 2007 and $219 million at January 28, 2006.

Cost of Goods Seld

Cost of Goods Sold includes all costs directly related to bringing merchandise to its final selling destination. These
costs include the cost of the merchandise {net of discounts or allowances earned), freight costs, warehouse operating
expenses, sourcing and procurement costs, buying and brand development costs, including buyers’ salaries and
related expenses, merchandise examination, inspection and testing, store merchandise distribution center expenses
and shipping and handling costs incurred related to Direct sales to customers,

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses include salaries and related expenses other than those pertaining to buying, sourcing, warehousing
merchandise and store merchandise distribution centers. SG& A expenses also include advertising costs. occupancy
and rent expense, utilities and maintenance, personal property taxes, administration costs related to the Company’s
home office and district operations, costs related to information technology, credit card fees and taxes other than
income taxes.

Advertising

Advertising costs, which include newspaper, 1elevision, radio and other media advertising, are expensed either as
incurred or the first time the advertising occurs, Total advertising costs, net of cooperative advertising agreements.
were $1,324 million, $1,202 million and $1,223 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These totals include
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direct-to-consumer advertising, consisting of catalog book costs and Internet advertising, of $357 million,
$351 millicn and $351 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Catalog book preparation and printing
costs, which are considered direct response advertising, are charged to expense over the productive life of the
catalog, not to exceed eight months. Deferred catalog book costs of $56 million as of February 3, 2007 and
$51 miltion as of January 28, 2006 were included in Prepaid Expenses on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Vendor Allowances

The Company receives vendor support in the form of cash payments or allowances through a variety of programs,
including cooperative advertising, markdown reimbursernents, vendor compliance and defective merchandise. The
Company has agreements in place with each vendor setting forth the specific conditions for each allowance or
payment. In accordance with Emerging 1ssues Task Force 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller)
for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor,” depending on the arrangement, the Company either recognizes
the allowance as a reduction of current costs or defers the payment over the period the related merchandise is sold. If
the payment is a reimbursement for costs incurred, it is offset against those related costs; otherwise, it is treated as a
reduction to the cost of merchandise. :

For cooperative advertising programs offered by national brands, the Company generally offsets the allowances
against the related advertising expense. Many of these programs require proof-of-advertising to be provided to the
vendor to support the reimbursement of the incurred cost. Programs that do not require proof-of-advertising are
monitored to ensure that the allowance provided by each vendor is a reimbursement of costs incurred to advertise for
that particular vendor’s label. If the allowance exceeds the advertising costs incurred on a vendor-specific basis,
then the excess allowance for the vendor is recorded as a reduction of merchandise cost.

Markdown reimbursements related to merchandise that has been sold are negotiated by the Company’s buying
teams and are credited directly to Cost of Goods Sold in the period received. If vendor allowances are received prier
to merchandise being sold, they are recorded as a reduction of merchandise cost.

Vendor compliance charges reimburse the Company for incremental merchandise handling expenses incurred due
to a vendor’s failure to comply with the Company’s established shipping or merchandisc preparation requirements.
Vendor compliance arrangements entered into after December 31, 2002 are recorded as a reduction of the cost of the
merchandise. Allowances or cash from vendor compliance arrangements entered into prior to December 31, 2002
are recorded as a reduction of merchandise handling costs.

Pre-Opening Expense

Subsequent to the construction/buildout period of store facilities, costs associated with the pre-opening phase,
including advertising, hiring and training costs for new associates, processing and stocking initial merchandise
inventory and rental costs, if applicable, are expensed in the period incurred. Due to the adoption of Finuncial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Staff Position 13-1, “Accounting for Remal Costs Incurred during a
Construction Period.” beginning in fiscal 2006, rental costs incurred during the construction/buildout period
are also included in pre-opening expense. Previously, such costs were capitalized as part of the building or leasehold
improvement. In total, pre-opening expense was $27 miilion, $15 million and $11 million, respectively, for 2006,
2005 and 2004.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method prescribed by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financiul statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expecied to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets unless it is
more likely than not such assets will be realized. During 2003, the valuation allowance previously established for
stale net operating losses was reversed based on management’s assessment that the Company will more likely than
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not generale sufficient income over the next several years in order to utilize the remaining state net operating loss
tax assets,

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income and prior to 2005, less dividend requirements on
the Series B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock, net of tax, by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Except when the effect would be anti-dilutive at the continuing operations level, the
diluted EPS calculation includes the impact of restricted stock units and shares that, during the period, could have
been issued under outstanding stock options, as well as common shares that would have resulted from the
conversion of convertible debentures and convertible preferred stock. If the applicable shares are included in the
calculation, the related interest on convertible debentures (net of tax) and preferred stock dividends (net of tax) are
added back to income, since these would not be paid if the debentures or preferred stock were converted to common
stock. Both the convertible debentures and preferred stock were converted to common siock in the second half of
2004. Sec Notes 3 and 11 for further discussion. '

Comprehensive Income .

Comprehensive income consists of two components: net income and other comprehensive income/(loss). Other
comprehensive income/(loss) is the sum of unrealized gains/(losses) on investments and non-qualified plan
minimum liability adjustments, net of tax. However, the February 3, 2007 balance of accumulated other com-
prehensive (loss)/income was adjusted to reflect the recognition provisions of SFAS No. [58, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R),” which resulted in the reversal of the additional minimum liability and the recognition
of net actuarial losses and prior service costs not yet included in periodic pension/postretirement cost, net of tax.
Beginning in 2007, other comprehensive income/(loss) will reflect gain or loss and prior service cost arising during
the period and reclassification adjustments for amounts being recognized as components of net periodic pension/
postretirement cost during the period, all net of tax. Sce the Retirement-Related Benefits accounting policy below
and Notes |4 and 17 for further discussion.

Cash and Short-Term Investinents

All highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be short-term
investments, The short-term investments consist primarily of eurodollar time deposits and money market funds and
are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value.

(8 in millions) 2006 2005

Cash $ 119 $ 109
Short-term investments 2,628 2,907
Total cash and short-term investments : $2,747 $3,016

Total Cash and Short-Term Investments for 2006 and 2005 included restricted short-term investment balances of
$58 million and $65 million, respectively. Restricted balances are pledged as collateral for a portion of casualty
insurance program liabilities.

Merchandise Inventories

Inventories are valued primarily at the lower of cost {using the last-in, first-out or “LIFO” method) or market,
determined by the retail method for department stores und store distribution centers. and standard cost, representing
average vendor cost, for Direct and regional warehouses. The lower of cost or market is determined on an aggregate
basis for similar types of merchandise, To estimate the cffects of inflation/deflation on ending inventory, an internal
index measuring price changes from the beginning to the end of' the year is calculated using merchandise cost data at
the item level.

Total Company LIFO (credits) included in Cost of Goods Sold were $(16) million, $(1) million and $(18) million in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, If the first-in, first-out or “FIFO™ method of inventory valuation had been used
instead of the LIFO method, inventories would have been $8 million and $24 million higher at February 3, 2007 and
January 28, 2006, respectively.
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Property and Equipment, Net

Estimated
Useful Lives
($ in millions} (Years) 2006 2005
Land N/A $ 237 3 208
Buildings 50 3,141 2,837
Furniture and equipment | 3-20 2,104 2,078
Leasehold improvements 795 722
Accumulated depreciation i (2,115) (2.097)
Property and equipment, net 34,162 $3.748

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed primarily by
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leaschold improvements are
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the term of the lease, including
renewals determined to be reasonably assured.

Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred. Major replacements and improvements are
capitalized. The cost of assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation or amortization are
removed from the accounts with any resulting gain or loss included in net income.

The Company accounts for its conditional asset retirement obligations, which are primarily related to asbestos
removal, based on the guidance of FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Alsct
Retirement Obligations — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143." FIN No. 47 requires the Company to
recognize a liability for the fair value of the conditional asset retirement obligation when incurred if the fiability’s
fair value can be reasonably estimated.

Capitalized Software Costs

Costs associated with the acquisition or development of software for internal use are capitalized in Other Assets in
the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets and are amortized over the expected useful life of the software.
generally between three and seven years. Subsequent additions, modifications or upgrades to internal-use software
are capitalized only to the extent that they allow the software to perform a task it previously did not perform.
Software maintenance and training costs are expensed in the period incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the
Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of those assets may not be recoverable. Factors considered important that could trigger an
impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to historicat or projected
future operating results and significant changes in the manner of use of the assels or the Company's overall business
strategies. Potential impairment exists if the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of
the asset plus any net proceeds expected from disposition of the asset are less than the carrying value of the asset.
The amount of the impairment loss represents the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value.
Management estimates fair value based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate that is
considered to be commensurate with the risk inherent in the Company s current business model. Additional factors
are taken into consideration, such as local market conditions, operating environment, malt performance and other
trends.

Based on management’s ongoing review of the performance of its portfolio of stores and other facilities, impairment
losses totaling $2 million, $7 million and $12 miliion in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were recorded for
underperforming department stores and underutilized catalog and other facilities. These charges are reflected in
Real Estate and Other (Income)/Expense, which is a component of Income from Continuing Operations in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. See further discussion in Note 8.
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Leases

The Company uses a consistent lease term when calculating depreciation of leasehold improvements, determining
straight-line rent expense and determining classification of leases as either operating or capital. For purposes of
recognizing incentives. premiums, rent holidays and minimum rental expenses on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the leases, the Company uses the date of initial possession to begin amortization, which is generally when
the Company enters the property and begins to make improvements in preparation of its intended use. Renewal
options determined to be reasonably assured are also included in the lease term. Some leases require additional
payments based on sales and are recorded in rent expense when the contingent rent is probable,

Some of the Company’s lease agreements contain developet/tenant allowances. Upon receipt of such allowances,
the Company records a deferred rent liability in Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
allowances are then amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases as a reduction of rent expense.

Retirement-Related Benefits

The Company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans and its non-pension postretirement benefit plans using
actuarial models required by SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” and SFAS No. 106, “Employ-
ers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” These models effectively spread changes in
asset values, the pension obligation and assumption changes systematically and gradually over the remaining
service periods of the active employees. One of the principal components of the net periodic pension calculation is
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The required use of the expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets may result in recognized pension income that is greater or less than the actual returns on those plan assets
in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-lerm returns are designed to approximate the actual long-
term returns and, thercfore result in a pattern of income and expense that more closely matches the pattern of
services provided by employees. Differences between actual and expected returns are recognized gradually in net
periodic pension expense or are offset by future gains or losses.

The Company uses long-term historical actual return data, the mix of investments that comprise plan assets and
future estimates of long-term investment returns by reference to external sources to develop its expected return on .
plan assets. '

The discount rate assumptions used for pension and non-pension postretirement benefir plan accounting reflect the
rates available on AA-rated corporate bonds on the October 31 measurement date of each year. The rate of
compensation increase is another significant assumption used in the actuarial model for pension accounting and is
determined based upon the Company’s historical experience and future expectations. For retiree medical plan
accounting. the health care cost trend rates do not have a material impact since defined dollar limits have been
placed on Company contributions.

For purposes of estimating demographic mortality in the measurement of the Company's pension obligaticn, as of
October 31, 2004, the Company began using the Retirement Plans 2000 Table of Combined Healthy Lives (RP 2000
Table), projected to 2003, using Scale AA to forecast mortality improvements into the future to 2005. Previously,
the Company had utilized the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table, which it continued to use for calculating
funding requirements through 2006 based on Internal Revenue Service regulations. Beginning in 2007, for funding
purposes. the Company will begin using a projected version of the RP 2000 Table.

The Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and
132(R)” as of February 3, 2007. SFAS No. |58 requires the Company to recognize the funded status — the difference
between the fair value of plan assets and the plan’s benefit obligation — of its defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans directly on the balance sheet. Each overfunded plan is recognized as an asset and each
underfunded plan is recognized as a liability. The initial adoption was reflected as a decrease to the February 3, 2007
balance of accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income, a component of stockholders’ equity, and included the
elimination of the additional minimum liability, which is no longer required. In periods subsequent to adoption,
adjustments to other comprehensive income will reflect prior service cost or credits and actuarial gain or loss
amounts arising during the period and reclassification adjustments for amounts being recognized as components of
net periodic pension/postretirement cost, net of tax, in accordance with current pension accounting rules.
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SFAS No. 158 will also require the Company to measure the funded status of its pension and postretirement plans as
of the year-end balance sheet date by fiscal year-end 2008. Currently, the Company’s measurcment date for its plans
is October 31.

The following table summarizes the effect of required changes in the additional minimum lability as of February 3,
2007 prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 158 as well as the impact of the initial adoption of SFAS No. 158 on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet:

February 3, 2007

Before
Additional
Minimum Additional
Liability and Minimum After
SFAS No. 158 Liability SFAS No. 158 Application of
($ in millions) Adjustments Adjustments Adjustments SFAS No. 158
Prepaid pension $ 1.760 $- $(525) $ 1,235
Total assets 13,198 - (525) 12,673
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,618 - 74 1,692
Deferred income taxes 1,359 3) (150) 1,206
Other liabilities 883 9 (215) 677
Total liabilities 8,670 6 (291) 8,385
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) %) (6) (234) (176)
Total stockholders’ equity 4,528 (6) (234) 4,288

Exit or Disposal Activity Costs

In accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” costs
associated with exit or disposal activities are recorded at their fair values when a liability has been incurred.
Reserves are established at the time of closure for the present value of any remaining operating lease obligations
(PVOL), net of estimated sublease income, and at the point of decision for severance and other exit costs. Since the
Company has an established program for termination benefits upon a reduction in force or the closing of a facility,
termination benefits paid under the existing program are considered part of an ongoing benefit arrangement,
accounted for under SFAS No. i12, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits,” and recorded when
payment of the benefits is considered probable and reasonably estimable. :

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan that provides for grants to associates of restricted and non-
restricted stock awards (shares and units), stock appreciation rights or options to purchase the Company’s common
stock. Prior to 2003, the Company accounted for the plan under the recognition and measurement principles of
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (APB No. 25), and
related Interpretations. No compensation cost was reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for stock
‘options prior to 2005, since all options granted under the plan had an exercise price equal to the quoted market value
of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

Effective January 30, 2005, the Company early-adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised), “Share-Based Payment”
{SFAS No. 123R), which requires the use of the fair value method of accounting for all stock-based compensation,
including stock options. The statement was adopted using the modified prospective method of application. Under
this method, in addition to reflecting compensation expense for new share-based awards, expense is also recognized
to reflect the remaining vesting period of awards that had been included in pro-forma disclosures in prior periods.
The Company did not adjust prior year financial statements under the optional modified retrospective method of
adoption.

Under APB No. 25, pro-forma expense for stock options was calculated on a straight-line basis over the stated
vesting period, which typically ranges from one to three years. Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company
records compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the associate service period, which is to the earlier of the
retirement eligibility date, if the grant contains provisions such that the award becomes fully vested upon
retirement, or the stated vesting period (the non-substantive vesting period approach).
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The cost charged against income for all stock-based compensation, including stock options for 2006 and 2005, was
$60 million, $38 million and $23 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, or $37 million, $23 million and
$14 million after tax.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had been
applied to all outstanding awards in 2004. The 2006 and 2005 information is provided in the table for purposes of
comparability.

i
{8 in millions, except EPS) 2006 2005 2004

Net income, as reported ) $1,153 $1,088 $524
Add: Stock-based employee compensation

expense included in reported net income, net
of related tax effects 37 23 14

Deduct: Total stock-based employee
compensation expense determined under the
fair value method for all awards, net of

related tax effects ' a7 23 : (25)
Pro forma net income $1,153 $1,088 $513
Earnings per share: i

Basic—as reported $ 5.03 $ 4.30 $1.83

Basic—pro forma $ 5.03 $ 4.30 $1.80

Diluted-—as reported $ 496 5426 $1.76

Diluted—pro forma $ 496 $ 426 $1.73

(1) If the pro-forma expense had been anributed such that all expense was recognized by retirement eligibility. total stock-based employee
compensation expense for 2004 would have been 329 million, net of tax, pro-forma net income would have been $509 mitlion and basic and
diluted pro-forma earnings per share would have been 31.78 and 31.72, respectively.

Prior to 2005, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the grant date fair value of
stack option awards. For grants subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company estimaies the fair value
of stock option awards on the date of grant using a binomial lattice model developed by outside consultants who
worked with the Company in the implementation of SFAS No. 123R. The Company believes that the binomial
lattice model is a more accurate model for valuing employee stock options since it better reflects the impact of stock
price changes on option exercise behavior.

The expected volatility used in the binomial lattice model is based on an analysis of historical prices of JCPenney's
stock and open market exchanged options, and was developed in consultation with an outside vatuation specialist
and the Company’s financial advisors. The expected volatility reflects the volatility implied from a price quoted for
a hypothetical call option with a duration consistent with the expected life of the options and the volatility implied
by the trading of options to purchase the Company’s stock on open-market exchanges. As a result of the Company’s
recently completed turnaround that began in 2001 and the disposition of the Eckerd drugstore operations, a
significant portion of historical volatility is not considered to be a good indicator of future volatility. The expected
term of options granted is derived from the cutput of the binomial lattice model, and represents the period of time
that the options are expected to be outstanding. This model incorporates an early exercise assumption in the event of
a significant increase in stock price. The risk-free rate is based on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the
date of grant with the same period as the expected option life. The dividend yield is assumed to increase ratably to
the Company’s expected dividend yield level based on targeted payout ratios over the expecied life of the options,
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The following table presenis the assumptions

Vatuation model
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option term

Weighted-average fair value of options
at grant date

utilized to estimate the grant date fair value of stock options:

2006 2005 2004
Binomial Lattice Binomial Lattice Black-Scholes
1.15%-1.20% 0.92%-1.20% 1.4%

25.0% 30.0% 30.0%

4.7% 4.0% 30%

5 years 5 years 5 years
$16.17 $12.87 $8.58

SFAS No. 123R also requires that excess tax benefits related to stock option exercises be reflected as financing cash

inflows instead of operating cash inflows.

The Company has elected to adopt the shortcut method provided in the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s
(FASB’s) Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related 1o Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-
Based Payment Awards.” for determining the initial pool of excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies
related to stock-based compensation subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. The shortcut method includes
simplified procedures for establishing the beginning balance of the pool of excess tax benefits (the APIC Tax Pool)
and for determining the subsequent effect on the APIC Tax Pool and the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows of the tax effects of share-based compensation awards.

See Note 15 for additional discussion of the Company’s stock-based compensation.

Cash Flow Presentation

The Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are prepared using the indirect method, which reconciles
net income to cash flow from operating activities. These adjustments include the removal of timing differences
between the occurrence of operating receipts and payments and their recognition in net income. The adjustments
also remove from operating activities cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are presented
separately from operating activities. Supplemental cash flow information, including interest and income taxes paid
and received, as well as any non-cash investing and financing activities, is presented in Note 5.

Effect of New Accounting Standards

In July 2006, the FASB issued two standards that address accounting

}‘or income taxes: FASB Staff Position (FSP)

FAS 13-2. “Accounting for a Change in the Timing of Cash Flows Relating to Income Taxes Generated by a
Leveraged Lease Transaction,” and FASB Interpretation No. (FIN} 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes.” FSP FAS 13-2 requires a recalculation of returns on leveraged leases if there is a change or projecied change
in the timing of cash flows relating 1o income taxes generated by the leveraged lease. The adoption of FSP FAS 13-2
effective at the beginning of 2{0)7 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial

statements.

FIN 48§ prescribes a comprehensive model for recognizing, measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial
statements uncertain tax positions that a company has taken or expects to take in its tax returns. It applies to all tax
positions accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. The Company will apply the provisions of this interpretation beginning in the first quarter
of 2007, and currently expects that its adoption will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations or financial position. The Company does, however, expect to make certain balance sheet
reclassifications upon the adoption of this interpretation.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS

No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which defines fair value,

establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This
Statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements,
Accordingly, this Statement does not require any new fair value measurements, The provisions of SFAS No. 157
will be effective as of the beginning of the Company’s fiscal 2008. The Company does not expect that the adoption
of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (SAB 108), “Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatemnents in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 addresses
how the effect of prior year uncorrected misstatements should be evaluated when quantifying misstatements in
current year financial statements. SAB 108 requires companies to quantify misstalements using a balance sheet and
income statement approach and to evaluate whether either approach results in quantified error that i is matenial in
light of the relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. The provisions of SAB 108 became effective during the
fourth quarter of 2006 but had no impact on the financial position or operating results of the Company.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and-Liabilities.”
This statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair
value. If the fair value option is elected, unrealized- gains and losses will be recognized in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.

2) Discontinued Operations

Lojas Renner S.A.

On July 5, 20035, the Company’s indirect wholly owned subsidiary, J. C. Penney Brazil, Inc., closed on the sale of its
shares of Renner, a Brazilian department store chain, through a public stock offering registered in Brazil. The
Company generated cash proceeds of $283 million from thé sale of its interest in Renner. After taxes and transaction
costs, net proceeds approximated $260 mitlion. Proceeds from the sale were used for common stock repurchases,
which are more fully discussed in Note 3.

Including an $8 millicn credit related to taxes that was recorded in 2006, the sale resulted in a cumulative pre-tax
gain of $26 million and an after-tax gain of $1 million. The relatively high tax cost is largely due to the tax basis of
the Company’s investment in Renner being tower than its book basis as a result of accounting for the investment
under the cost method for tax purposes. Included in the pre-tax gain on the sale was $83 million of foreign currency
translation losses that had accumulated since the Company acquired its controlling interest in Renner. For all
periods presented, Renner’s resuits of operations and financial position have been reclassified and reflected as a
discontinued operation.

Eckerd Drugstores

On July 31, 2004, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries closed on the sale of its Eckerd drugstore operations to
the Jean Coutu Group (PJC) Inc. (Coutu) and CVS Corporation and CVS Pharmacy, Inc. (logether, CVS) for a total of
approximately $4.7 biilion in cash proceeds. After taxes, fecs and other transaction costs and estimated post-closing
adjustiments, the ultimate net cash proceeds from the sale totaled approximately $3.5 billion. Proceeds from the sale
were used for common stock repurchases and debt reduction, which are more fully discussed in Notes 3 and 11.

During 2006, the Company recorded an after-tax credit of $4 million related to the Eckerd discontinued operations,
which was primarily related to taxes. Through 2006, the cumulative loss on the sale was $715 million pre-tax, or
$1,326 million on an after-tax basis. The relatively high tax cost is a result of the tax basis of Eckerd being lower
than its book basis because the Company’s previous drugstore acquisitions were largely tax-free transactions. Of the
total after-tax loss on the sale, $108 million was recorded in 2004 to reflect revised estimaies of certain post-closing
adjustments and resulting sales proceeds, and $1,325 million was recorded in 2003 to reflect Eckerd at its estimated
fair value less costs to sell. These charges were partially offset by an after-tax credit of $103 million recorded in
2005, which was primarily related to the favorable resolution of certain tax matters, as well as a reduction of the
taxes payable on the sale of Eckerd due to adjustments in Eckerd’s tax basis,

Upon closing on the sale of Eckerd on July 31, 2004, the Company established reserves for estimated transaction
costs and post-closing adjustments. Certain of these reserves involved significant judgment and actual costs
incurred over time could vary from these estimates. The more significant remaining estimates relate to the costs to
exit the Colorado and New Mexico markets and environmental indemnifications. Management continues to review
and update the remaining reserves on a quarterly basis and believes that the overall reserves, as adjusted, are
adequate at February 3, 2007 and consistent with original estimates. Cash payments for the Eckerd-related reserves
are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as Cash Paid for Discontinued Operations,
with tax payments included in operating cash flows and all other payments included in investing cash flows.

F-16




The Company engaged a third-party real estate firm to assist it in disposing of the Colorado and New Mexico
properties. As of February 3, 2007, all but two of the properties had been disposed of or subleased. The Company is
working through disposition plans for these remaining two properties.

JCP assumed sponsorship of the Pension Plan for Former Drugstore Associates and various other nonqualified
retirement plans and programs. JCP further assumed all severance obligations and post-employment health and
welfare benefit obligations under various Eckerd plans and employment and other specific agreements. JCP has
either settled the obligations in accordance with the provisions of the applicable plan or program or determined in
most other cases to terminate the agreements, plans or programs and settle the underlying benefit obligations. On
June 20, 2005, the Board of Directors of JCP approved the termination of JCP’s Pension Plan for Former Drugstore
Associates. Plan assets were distributed by the purchase of an annuity contract with a third party insurance company
effective as of June 13, 2006.

As part of the Eckerd sale agreements, the Company retained responsibility to remediate environmental conditions
that existed at the time of the sale. Certain properties, principally distribution centers, were identified as having such
conditions at the time of sale. Reserves were established by management, after consultation with an environmental
engineering firm, for specifically identified properties, as well as a certain percentage of the remaining properties,
considering such factors as age, location and prior use of the properties.

Income/{Loss) from Discontinued Operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations reflects Eckerd’s
operating results prior to the closing of the sale on July 31, 2004, including allocated interest expense. Interest
expense was allocated to the discontinued operation based on Eckerd’s outstanding balance on its intercompany
loan payable to JCPenney, which accrued interest at JCPenney’s weighted-average interest rate on its net debt (long-
term debt net of short-term investments) calculated on a monthly basis.

Mexico Department Stores

In November 2003, the Company closed on the sale of its six Mexico department stores and recorded a loss of
$14 million, net of a $27 million tax benefit. In 2005 and 2004, the Company recognized after-tax gains of $5 million
and $4 million, respectively, related to reserve adjustments and additional tax benefits realized.

Direct Marketing Services

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, after-tax gains of $7 million, $3 million and $1 million, respectively, were recorded related
to the sale of J. C. Penney Direct Marketing Services, Inc.’s (DMS) assets due to favorable resolution of certain past
tax issues, tax regulation changes and tax audits.
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The Company’s financial statements have been presented to reflect Eckerd, Renner, Mexico and DMS as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. Results of the discontinued operations are summarized below:

Discontinued Operations

($ in miltions) 2006 2005 2004
Eckerd )

Net sales 5 - 5 - $7.254

Gross margin - - 1.676

Selling, general and administralive expenses - - 1,635

Interest expense'" - - 97

Acquisition amortization - - 5

Other — — 2
(Loss) before income taxes - - (63)
Income tax (benefit) — - (23)
Eckerd (loss) from operations - - 40)
Gain/(loss) on sale of Eckerd, net of income tax

(benefit) of $(5), $(104) and $(155) 4 103 (108)
Total income/(loss) from Eckerd discontinued

operations 4 103 (148)
Renner income from operations, net of income '

tax expense of $—, §4 and $5 - 7 10
Gain/(loss) on sale of Renner, net of income tax ‘

(benefit)expensc of $(8), $33 and $- 8 ¢ -
Total Mexico and DMS discontinued operations,

net of income tax (benefit) of $(4), $— and

$(5) 7 8 5
Total income/(loss) from discontinued

operations $19 $111 $ (133)

(1} Eckerd interess expense consisted primarily of interest on the intercompany loan between Eckerd and JCPenney. The loan balance was
initialty based on the allocation of JCPenney debt to the Eckerd business 10 reflect a competitive capital structure within the drugsiore industry.
While autstanding, the Inan balance fluctuated based on Eckerd cash flow reguirements. The loan bore interest at JCPenney's weighted-average
interest rate on its net debi {lemg-1erm debt net of short-term invesimenis) calculaed on a monthly basis. The weighted-average imerest rate was
15.76% for 2004, through the date of sale.

Included in the Renner income from operations amounts provided above were net sales of $187 million and
£329 million, respectively, for 2005 and 2004.

3) Equity and Debt Restructuring

In order to enhance stockholder value, strengthen the Company’s capital structure and improve its credit rating
profile, since 2004, the Company has implemented programs to repurchase common stock, reduce debt and redeem
all outstanding shares of Serics B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock (Preferred Stock). In order to fund these
programs, the Company used the $3.5 billion in net cash proceeds from the sale of the Eckerd drugstore operations,
$260 million in net cash proceeds from the sale of Renner stock, cash proceeds and tax benefits from the exercise of
employee stock options and existing cash and short-term investment balances,
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" Stock Repurchases
During the 2004 to 2006 period, the Company purchased a combined $4.9 billion of its common stock through

open-market transactions as follows: .

(in millions) . Shares Cost'!)
2004 50.1 $1,951
2005 442 2,199
2006 11.3 750
Total 105.6 $4.,900

(1) Excludes commissions.

Of the total repurchases, the Company’s Board authorized $3.0 billion in 2004, $1.15 billion in 2005 and
$750 million in 2006.

Debt Reduction

The Company’s debt reduction programs, which were completed by the end of the second quarter of 2005, consisted
of approximately $2.14 billion of debt retirements, including $250 million authorized in 2005 and approximately
$1.89 billion authorized in 2004. See Note 11 for a detailed discussion of the retirements, which resulted in pre-tax
charges of $18 million in 2005 and $47 million in 2004,

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Redemption

On August 26, 2004, the Company redeemed, through conversion to commeon stock, all of its outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock. All of these shares were held by the Company’s Savings, Profit-Sharing and Stock Ownership Plan,
a 401{k) savings plan. Each holder of Preferred Stock received 20 equivalent shares of JCPenney common stock for
each share of Preferred Stock in their Savings Plan account in accordance with the original terms of the Preferred
Stock. Preferred Stock shares, which were included in the diluted carnings per share caleulation as appropriate,
were converted into approximately nine million common stock shares. Annual dividend savings approximated
311 million after tax.




4) Earnings Per Share

Income from continuing operations and shares used to compute earnings per share (EPS) from continuing

operations, basic and diluted, are reconciled below:

(in millions, except EPS}

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations

Less: preferred stock dividends, net of tax

Income from continuing operations, basic
Adjustments for assumed dilution:
Interest on 5% convertible debt, net of tax
Preferred stock dividends, net of tax

Income from continuing operations, diluted

Shares:
Average common shares outstanding (basic shares)
Adjustments for assumed dilution:

Stock options and restricted stock units

Shares from converttble debt

Shares from preferred stock

Average shares assuming dilution (diluted shares)
EPS from continuing operations:

Basic
Diluted

[y

2006 2005 2004
$1,134 $977 $ 657
_ - 12
$1,134 $977 $ 645
- - 17

- - 12
$1,134 $977 $ 674
229 253 279

3 2 5

- - 17

- - 6

232 255 307

$ 495 $3.86 $2.31
$ 4.88 $3.83 $2.20

The following average potential shares of common stock were excluded from the diluted EPS calculations because

their effect would be anti-dilutive:

(shares in millions}

Stock options

5) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

(% in millions)
Total interest paid

Less: interest paid attributable to discontinued
operations

Interest paid by continuing operations
Interest received by continuing operations

Total income taxes paid

Less: income taxes (received)/paid attributable to
. discontinued operations

Income taxes paid by continuing operations

(1) Includes cash paid for bond premiums and commissions of $15 million and 347 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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2006 2005 2004
1 4 3
2006 2005 2004
- $281 $312 $ 452
- 6 104
$281 $306'" $ 3480
$140 $109 $ 57
. $593 $441 $1,000
(27) (96) 823
$620 $537 $ 177




Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

There were no significant non-cash investing or financing activities in 2006 or 2005. The fo]lowmg summarizes the

non-cash investing and financing activities for 2004.

2004

» The Company redeemed all outstanding shares of its Preferred Stock, all of which were held by the
Company’s Savings, Profit Sharing and Stock Ownership Plan, a 401(k) savings plan. Each holder of
Preferred Stock received 20 equivalent shares of JCPenney common stock for each share of Preferred Stock.

. The Preferred Stock shares were converted into approximately nine million common stock shares.

*  The Company converted substantially all of JCP’s $650 million 5% Convertible ‘Subordinated Notes Due

2008 into approximately 22.8 million shares of common stock.
= The Company acquired $18 million of equipment accounted for as capital leases.

6) Other Assets

($ in millions}

Real estate investments
Leveraged lease investments
Capitalized software, net
Debt issnance costs, net
Other

Total

2006 2005
$350t" $270™"
140 135 -
95 89:
21 24
22 24
$628 $542

(1) Of the total, $334 million and $257 million, respectively, represents investments in real estate investment trusts accounted for as available
Jor sale securities. As of both February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006, the cost basis of these investments was $75 million, The 877 million
increase in the carrying value in 2006 represents unrealized gains on these investments, which are reflected in other comprehensive income. See
Note 14 for the cumulative balance of unreafized gains included in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to these investments. There
were no sales of these investments in 2000, 2005 or 2004. The remaining balance of real estate investments represents invesimenis in
partnerships, which are accounted for under the equity method and are discussed further in Note 20.

7) Accruoed Expenses and Other Current Liahilities

(¥ in millions)

Accrued salaries, vacation and bonus
Customer gift cards/certificates

Taxes other than income taxes

Capital expenditures payable

Interest payable

Current portion of retirement plan liabilities
Advertising payables

Current portion of workers compensation and general liability
insurance

Occupancy and rent-related pavables
Common dividends payable
Reserves for discontinued operations
Other®

Total

(1) Reflecis the adoption of the recognition requirements of SFAS No. 158 — see discussions in Note 1 and Note 17.
{2) Other includes various general accrued expenses related to operations that are individually insignificant.
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2006 2005

$ 455 $ 450
231 219
116 74

88 47

84 95
74D -

93 99

67 72

46 51

41 29

34 79
363 347
$1,692 $1,562




8} Other Liabilities

(% in millions) 2006 2005
Retirement benefit plan liabilities $324D $590
Long-term portion of workers’ compensation and general liability

insurance 152 164
Developer/tenant allowances 120 122
Reserves for discontinued operations 517 54
Other 30 31
Total $677 $961

(1) Reflects the adoption of the recognition requirements of SFAS No. 158 - see discussions in Note | and Nene 17.

9) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and Short-Term Investments
The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Long-Term Debt

The fair value of long-term debt, excluding equipment financing, capital leases and other is estimated by obtaining
quotes from brokers or is based on current rates offered for similar debt. At February 3, 2007, long-term debt
excluding equipment financing, capital leases and other, had a carrying value of $3.4 billion and a fair value of
$3.6 billion. At January 28, 2006, long-term debt, excluding equipment financing, capital leases and other, had a
carrying value of $3.4 billion and a fair value of $3.7 billion.

Concentrations of Credit Risk
The Company has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

10) Credit Agreement

On April 7, 2005, the Company, JCP and 1. C. Penney Purchasing Corporation entered into a five-year $1.2 hillion
unsecured revolving credit facility (2005 Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of lenders with JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent. The 2005 Credit Agreement is available for general corporate purposes.
inctuding the issuance of letters of credit. Pricing is tiered based on JCP’s senior unsecured long-term debt ratings
by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services. JCP’s obligations under the 2005
Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company.

The 2005 Credit Agreement includes a requirement that the Company maintain, as of the last day of each fiscal
quarter, a Leverage Ratio (a ratio of Funded Indebtedness to Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the 2005 Credit
Agreement)}, as measured on a trailing four-quarters basis, of no more than 3.0 to 1.0. Additionally, the 2005 Credit
Agreement requires that the Company maintain, for each period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, a Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio (a ratio of Consolidated EBITDA plus Consolidated Rent Expense to Consolidated Interest
Expense plus Consolidated Rent Expense, as defined in the 2005 Credit Agreement) of at least 3.2 to 1.0. As of
February 3, 2007, the Company's Leverage Ratio was 1.5 to 1.0, and its Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio was 6.910 1.0,
both in compliance with the requirements.

No borrowings, other than the issuance of standby and import letters of credit, which totaled $122 million as of the
end of 2006, have been made under this credit facility. -
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11y Long-Term Debt

(8 in millions) 2006 2005
Issue:

6.5% Medium-Term Notes, Due 2007 $ 100 $ 100
6.875% Medium-Term Notes, Due 2015 ' 200 200
6.9% Notes, Due 2026 2 2
7.125% Debentures, Due 2023 255 255
7.375% Notes, Due 2008 200 200
7.4% Debentures, Due 2037 326 326
7.6% Notes, Due 2007 325 325
7.625% Notes, Due 2097 500 500
7.65% Debentures, Due 2016 200 200
7.95% Debentures, Due 2017 285 285
8.0% Notes, Due 2010 506 506
8.125% Debentures, Due 2027 ' 303 303
9.0% Notes, Due 2012 230 230
6.35% to 7.33% Equipment Financing Notes, Due 2007 4 - 10
Total notes and debentures 3,436 3,442
Capital lease obligations and other ' 8 23
Total long-term debt, including current maturities 3,444 3,465
Less: current maturities 434 21
Total long-term debt $3,010 $3.444

As a part of the Company’s $2.14 billion debt reduction program discussed in Note 3, approximately $0.4 billion
and $1.7 billion, respectively, of on- and off-balance sheet obligations were eliminated during 2005 and 2004 as
follows:

2005 Debt Reductions

» JCP’s 7.05% Medium-Term Notes in the amount of $193 million matured and were paid.

+ JCP’s $400 million 7.4% Debentures Due 2037 contained put options whereby the investors could elect to have
the debentures redeemed at par on April 1, 2005. On March 1, 2005, the put option expired, and virtually all of the
debentures were extended, with only $0.3 million put to the Company.

» The Company purchased $250 million of JCP’s debt in the open market, including $94 million of JCP’s
8.0% Notes Due 2010, $74 million of JCP’s 7.4% Debentures Due 2037, $47 million of JCP’s 8.125% Debentures
Due 2027, $20 million of JCP’s 7.125% Debentures Due 2023 and $15 million of JCP’s 7.95% Debentures Due
2017,

2004 Debt Reductions

¢ JCP’s 7.375% Notes in the amount of $208 million matured and were paid.

« JCP retired its 9.75% Debentures Due 2021. Of the total balance of $117.2 million, $25 million was retired at par,
and the remaining $92.2 million was redeemed at a price of 103.2% plus accrued interest.

« JCP retired the entire $195.7 million balance of its 8.25% Debentures Due 2022. $37.5 million of the balance was
retired at par, with the remaining $158.2 million being redeemed at a price of 103.096% plus accrued interest.

» JCP redeemed its $200 million face amount 6.0% Original Issue Discount Debentures Due 2006. At the date of
redemption, these debentures had a recorded balance of $175 million, due to the unamortized discount of
$25 miltion.

*+ The Company purchased approximately $100 million of JCP’s 7.6% Notes Due 2007 in the open market.
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* The Company called all of JCP's outstanding $650 million 5.0% Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2008.
Holders of the Notes had the option to convert the Notes into shares of the Company’s common stock at a
conversion price of $28.50. All but $0.7 million of the Notes were converted into approximately 22.8 million
shares, and the remaining Notes were redeemed at 102.5% plus accrued interest.

= Asreflected in Cash (Paid for) Discontinued Operations on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Eckerd’s
managed care receivables securitization program was paid off for a total of $221 miliion, and the program was
terminated.

Debt Covenants .

The Company has an indenture covering approximately $255 million of long-term debt that contains a financial
covenant requiring the Company to have a minimum of 200% net tangible assets to senior funded indebtedness (as
defined in the indenture). This indenture permits the Company to issue additional long-term debt if it is in
compliance with the covenant. At year-end 2006, the Company’s percentage of net tangible assets to senior funded
indebtedness was 292%.

Scheduled Annual Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt

(% in millions)
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012-2097
$434 $203 $- $506 $- $2,301

12) Net Interest Expense

(§ in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Long-term debt $ 270 $ 280 $373
Short-term investments (135) (111 (63)
Other, net (5) 4 14
Less: interest expense allocated to discontinued

operations : - 4) (oDt
Total $ 130 $ 169 $ 223

(1) See Note 2 for an explanation of interest expense allocated 1o Eckerd.

13) Capital Stock

The Company had 37,398 stockholders of record as of February 3, 2007. On a combined basis, the Company’s
401(k) savings plan, including the Company’s employee stock ownership plan (ESOP), held 20 million shares of
common stock, or approximately 9% of the Company’s outstanding common stock, at February 3, 2007. See Note 3
for a discussion of the Company’s common stock repurchase programs.

Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized 25 million shares of preferred stock; no shares of preferred stock were issued and
outstanding as of February 3, 2007 or January 28, 2006. See Note 3 for a discussion of the 2004 redemption of all
outstanding shares of Series B ESOP Convertible Preferred Stock.

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

Each outstanding and future share of common stock includes one preferred stock purchase right. These rights,
which are redeemable by the Company under certain circumstances, entitle the holder to purchase, for each right
held, 1/1000 of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $140 upon the occurrence of
certain events, as described in the rights agreement. The rights agreement also provides that a commitiee of the
Company’s independent directors will review the rights agreement at least every three years and, if they deem it
appropriate, may recommend to the Company’s Board of Directors (Beard) a modification or termination of the
rights agreement.
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14) Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

2006 2005
Deferred Deferred
Tax Tax
Pre-Tax {Liability)/ Net of Tax Pre-Tax (Liability)/ Net of Tax
Amount Assel Amount Amount Asset Amount

(% in mitlions)

Net unrealized gains on

investments $ 259 $(93) $ 166 $ 182 $(64) $ 118
Net actuarial gain/(toss} and

prior service (cost)/ credit -

pension and posiretirement
planst” (560) 218 (342) - - -

Non-qualified plan minimum

liability adjustment 2 2 2 {167) 65 (102)
Accumulated other
comprehensive (loss)/income 330D $125 $(176) $ 15 $ 1 $ 16

(1) See Note 17 for breakdowns of the pre-tax actuarial gaindloss) and prior service (cost)fcredit balunces.
{2) No longer applicable due to the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 — see discussion in Note 1.

15) Stock-Based Compensation

In May 2005, the Company’s stockholders approved the 1. C. Penney Company, Inc. 2005 Equity Compensation
Plan (2005 Plan), which reserved an aggregate of 17.2 million shares of common stock for issuance to associates
and non-employee directors. The 2005 Plan replaces the Company’s 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (2001 Plan},
and since June 1, 2005, all future grants have been made under the 2005 Plan. The 2005 Plan provides for grants to
associates of options to purchase the Company’s common stock, restricted and non-restricted stock awards (shares
and units) and stock appreciation rights, The 2005 Plan also provides for grants of restricted and non-restricted stock
awards (shares and units) and stock options to non-employee members of the Board. As of February 3, 2007,
14.7 million shares of stock were available for future grants.

Stock options and restricted stock awards typically vest over periods ranging from one to three years. The number of
option shares and awards is fixed at the grant date, and the exercise price of stock options is set at the quoted market
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The 2005 Plan does not permit awarding stock options
below grant-date market value nor does it allow any repricing subsequent to the date of grant. Associale options
have a maximum term of 10 years. Over the past three years, the Company’s annual stock option and restricted stock
award grants have averaged about 1.4% of total outstanding stock. The Company issues new shares upon the
exercise of stock options, granting of restricted shares and vesting of restricted stock units.

Stock-Based Compensation Cost in the Consolidated Statements of Operations

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Stock awards (shares and units) 534 $6 $23
Stock options 26 32 -

Total stock-based compensation cost in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations $60 $38 $23

Total income tax benefit recognized in the

Consolidated Statements of Operations for

stock-based compensation arrangements $23 $15% $9

(1) See Note I for the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had been applied to all outstanding awards in 2004.
(2} Of the total, $10 million and $12 million in 2006 and 2003, respectively, related to stock options.
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Stock Options :
As of February 3. 2007, options to purchase 8.3 million shares of common stock were outstanding. If all options
were exercised, common stock outstanding would increase by 3.7%. The closing stock price of $83.70 as of
February 3, 2007 exceeded the exercise price of all stock options outstanding.

The following table summarizes stock options outstanding as of February 3, 2007, as well as activity during the
fiscal year then ended: ’

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted- Contractual Intrinsic
Shares (in Average Term Value (3 in
thowsands) Exercise Price {in vears) millions)'
Outstanding at January 28, 2006 10,628 $37
Granted 1,821 61
Exercised (3,869) 35 .
Forfeited or expired (289) 50
QOutstanding at February 3, 2007 8.291 543 6.7 $336
Exercisable at February 3, 2007 4,329 $39 5.3 $195

(1) The imirinsic value of a stock option is the amownt by which the market value of the underiving stock exceeds the exercise price of the option.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $16.17, $12.87
and $8.58, respectively.

Cash proceeds, tax benefits and intrinsic value related to total stock options exercised are provided in the foliowing
table:

(3 in mr';'.'i(ms) 2006 2005 2004
Proceeds from stock options exercised $135 $162 $248
Tax benefit related Lo stock options exercised 48 45 82
Intrinsic value of stock oplions exercised 124 116 210

Cash payments for income taxes made during 2006 and 2005 were reduced by $39 million and $43 million,
respectively, for excess tax benefits realized on stock options exercised. In accordance with the treatment required
by SFAS No. 123R, these excess tax benefits are reported as financing cash inflows. For 2004, excess tax benefits
were included in operating cash flows and totaled $76 million.

As of February 3, 2007, unrecognized and unearned compensation expense for stock options, net of estimated
forfeitures, was $25 million, which will be recognized as expense over the remaining vesting period, which has a
weighted-average period of upproximately 1 year. '

Stock Awards

The 2005 Plan also provides for grants of restricted and non-restricted stock awards (shares and units) to associates
and non-employee members of the Board.
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Associate Stock Awards
The following is a summary of the status of the Company’s associate restricted stock awards as of February 3, 2007
" and activity during the fiscal year then ended:

Weighted-
Average Grant

{shares in thousands} Stock Awards Date Fair Value

Nonvested at January 28, 2006 452 $39
Granted 919 61
Vested (184) 38
Forfeited . (40) 58
Nonvested at February 3, 2007 1,147 $56

On March 22, 2006, the Company granted approximately 400,000 performance-based restricted stock unit awards
to associates, representing the annual grant under the 2005 Plan. The performance unit grant is a target award with a
-payout matrix ranging from 0% to 200% based on 2006 earnings per share (defined as diluted per common share
income from continuing operations, excluding any unusual and/or extraordinary items as determined by the Human
Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board). A payment of 100% of the target award would have been
achieved at earnings per share of $4.26, and based on the actual 2006 earnings per share of $4.88, the award will pay
out at 200%. In addition to the performance requirement, the award also includes a time-based vesting requirement,
under which one-third of the earned performance unit award vests on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant
date provided that the associate remains continuously employed with the Company during that time. Upon vesting,
the performance units will be paid out in shares of JCPenney common stock.

As of February 3, 2007, there was $33 million of compensation cost not yet recognized or earned related to associate
stock awards. That cost is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period, which has a weighted-
average term of approximately 1.2 years. The aggregate fair value of shares vested during 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$13 million, $2 million and $73 million, respectively, at the date of vesting, compared to an aggregate fair value of
$7 million, $1 million and $31 million, respectively, on the grant date.

Non-restricted stock awards of 2,326, 14,120 and 16,345 shares were granted to associates and expensed during
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Non-Employee Director Stock Awards

Restricted stock awards (shares and units) for non-employee directors are expensed when granted since the
recipients have the right to receive the shares upon a gualifying termination of service in accordance with the grant.
During 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company granted 17,710 units, 13,985 units and 24,024 shares of such restricted
stock awards, respectively. Total expense for these directors’ awards was $1.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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16) Leases

The Company conducts the major part of its operations from leased premises that include retail stores, store
distribution centers, warehouses, offices and other facilities. Almost all leases will expire during the next 20 years;
however, most leases will be renewed or replaced by leases on other premises. JCPenney also leases data processing
equipment and other personal property under operating leases of primarily three to five years. Rent expense, which
is net of sublease income, was as follows for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

Rent Expense

(8 in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Real property base rent and straight-lined step

rent expense $205 $195 $200
Real property contingent rent expense (based on

sales) 27 27 25
Personal property rent expense 63 65 72
Total rent expense $295 $287 $297

As of February 3, 2007, future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases, including lease
renewals determined to be reasonably assured and net of future non-cancelable operating sublease payments, and
capital leases were:

(8 in millions) Operating Capital
2007 $ 213 § 5
2008 197 3
2009 170 -
2010 137 -
2011 112 -
Thereafter 1.119 1
Total minimum lease payments $1,948 F 9
Present value . § 944 $ 8

Weighted-average interest rate 7.9% 6.0%

17} Retirement Benefit Plans

The Company provides retirement and other postretirement benefits to substantially all employees (associates).
Retirement benefits are an important part of the Company’s total compensation and benefits program designed to
attract and retain qualified, talented associates. The Company’s retirement benefit plans consist of a non-
contributory qualified pension plan {primary pension plan), non-contributory supplemental retirement and deferred
compensation plans for certain management associates, a 1997 voluntary early retirement program, a contributory
medical and dental plan and a 401 (k) and employee stock ownership plan. These plans are discussed in more detail
below. Associates hired or rehired on or after January I, 2002 are not eligible for retiree medical or dental coverage.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company implemented certain changes to its retirement benefits. With respect to the
401(k) plan, all associates who have attained age 2! are immediately eligible to participate in the plan. Starting
January 1, 2007, all eligible associates who have completed one year, and at least 1,000 hours, of service are
provided a fixed Company matching contribution, applied each pay period, of 50 cents on each dollar contributed up
to 6% of pay. The Company may make additional discretionary matching contributions. This fixed plus discre-
tionary maich will replace the current Company contribution of an amount equal to 4.5% of available profits plus
discretionary contributions. The vesting period for Company matching contributions under the 401(k) plan will be
changed to full vesting after three years from the current five-year pro rata vesting.
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The pension plan is closed to associates hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2007. A replacement benefit will be
provided to those associates in the form of a retirement account, a component of the defined contribution 401(k)
plan, whereby the Company will contribute an amount equal to 2% of participants” annual pay after one year of
service. Participating associates will be fully vested after three years. Associates hired or rehired on or prior to
December 31. 2006 will remain in the Company’s pension plan and continue to earn credited service.

These benefit plan changes did not have a significant impact on fiscal year 2006 retirement benefit plan expenses.
Going forward, the aggregate impact is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial
condition, liquidity or results of operations.

As discussed in Note 1, effective February 3, 2007, the Company adopted the recognition and disclosure provisions
of SFAS No. 158, which required the Company to recognize the funded status of its defined benefit pension and
postretirement plans directly in its Consolidated Balance Sheet. This resulted in the reversal of the minimum
pension liability that had been recorded related to the Company’s supplemental retirement plans, and the
recognition in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income of actuarial gain or loss and prior service cost
or credit amounts not yet reflected in periodic benefit cost, net of tax, for all of the Company’s pension and
postretirement benefit plans. Beginning in 2007, other comprehensive income/{loss) will reflect gain or loss and
prior service cost or credit amounts arising during the period and reclassification adjustments for amounis being
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during the period, all net of tax.

Company expense/(income) for all retirement-related benefit plans was as follows for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Primary pension plan $ 9 $ 69 $ 82
Supplemental plans 42 43 41
Postretirement plans (25) (7 (8)
Defined contribution plans 97 - 78 52
Total retirement benefit plans expense 5123 : $173 5167

Sec Management’s Discussion and Analysis under Critical Accounting Policies on pages 34-36 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan and Note | on pages
F-12 10 F-13 for the Company’s accounting policies regarding retirement-related benefits.

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

Primary Pension Plan — Funded

'The Company’s primary pension plan is provided to associates who have completed at least 1,000 hours of service,
generally in a | 2-consecutive-month period and have attained age 21. The plan is funded by Company contributions
to a trust fund, which is held for the sole benefit of participants and beneficiaries. Participants generally become
100% vested in the plan after five years of employment or at age 65. Pension benefits are calculated based on an
associate's average final pay, the average social security wage base and the associate’s credited service (up to
35 years), as defined in the plan document. New associates hired on or after January 1, 2007 will not participate in
the Company’s pension plan, as discussed above,

Supplemental Retirement Plans - Unfunded

The Company has unfunded supplemental retirement plans, which provide retirement benefits to certain man-
agement associates. The Company pays ongoing benefits from operating cash flow and cash investments. The
primary plans are a Supplemental Retirement Program and a Benefit Restoration Plan. Benefits for the Supple-
mental Retirement Program and Benefit Restoration Plan are based on length of service and final average
compensation. The Benefit Restoration Plan is intended to make up benefits that could not be paid by the primary
pension plan due to governmental limits on the amount of benefits and the level of pay considered in the calculation
of benefits. The Supplemental Retirement Program was designed to allow eligible management associates to retire
at age 60 with retirement income comparable to the age 65 benefit provided under the primary pension plan and
Benefit Restoration Plan. The Supplemental Retirement Program offers participants who leave the Company
between ages 60 and 62 benefits equal to the estimated social security benefits payable at age 62. The Supplemental
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Retirement Program continues Company-paid term life insurance through age 70, and associate-paid term life
insurance through age 65. Participation in the Supplemental Retirement Program is limited to associates who were
profit-sharing management associates at the end of 1995.

Expense for Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

Expense is based upon the annual service cost of benefits (the actuanial cost of benefits attributed to a period) and
the interest cost on plan liabilitics, less the expected return on plan assets for the primary pension plan. Differences
in actual experience in reiation to assumptions are not recognized immediately but are deferred and amortized over
the average remaining service period, subject to a corridor as permitted under SFAS 87. The components of net
periodic pension expense were as follows:

Primary Pension Plan Expense

($ in millions) - 2006 2005 2004
Service costs $ 94 $ 96 $ 87
Interest costs 212 212 203
Projected return on assets 371 (347} (305)
Amortization of actuarial loss 74 108 93
Amortization of prior service cost - - 4
Net periodic pension plan expense $ 9 $ 69 . § 82
Supplemental Plans Expense

(5 in nillions) 2006 2005 2004
Service costs $ 1 £ 2 5 -
Interest costs 22 24 25
Amortization of actuarial loss 19 17 13
Curtailment loss - - 3
Net supplemental plans expense $ 42 $ 43 $ 41

Assumptions | .

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used 10 determine expense for 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Discount rate 5.80% 5.85% 6.35%
Expected return on plan assets 8.9% 8.9% 8.9%
Salary increase 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

The discount rate used to measure pension expense each year is the rate as of the beginning of the year (i.c., the prior
measurement date). The discount rate is based on a portfolio of high-quality corporate bonds with similar average
cash flow durations to the pension liability. The rate as of the end of 2006, which will be used to measure 2007
pension expense, was increased to 5.85%. The expected return on plan assets is based on the plan’s long-term asset
allocation policy, historical returns for plan assets and overall capital market returns, taking into account current and
expected market conditions. Improvements in investment returns combined with the Company’s pre-tax contri-
butions of $300 million in 2004 and 2003 led to a decrease in pension expense for the primary pension plan of
$60 million, $13 miilion and $48 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Funded Siatus

The table below provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and the funded status of the defined
benefit pension and supplemental retirement plans. The projected benefit obligation (PBO) is the present value of
benefits earned to date by plan participants, including the effect of assumed future salary increases. Assets used in
calculating the funded status are measured at fair value at October 31 (the plans’ measurcment date).

Obligations and Funded Status

{$ in millions)

Change in PBO

Beginning balance
Service costs
[nterest costs
Actuarial (gain)/toss
Benefits (paid)

Balance at measurement date

Change in fair value of plan assets
Beginning balance

Company contributions

Actual return on assets'"

Benefits (paid)

Balance at measurement date

Funded status of plan

Excess/(deficiency) of fair value over
projected benefits

Unrecognized losses and prior service cost

Fourth-quarter contributions

Prepaid pension cost/{accrued liability) at
end of fiscal year

Additional minimum liability

Total prepaid pension cost/(accrued
liability)

(1) Inchedes plan administrative expenses.

(2) Effective February 3, 2007, unrecognized losses and prior service cost are

Pension Plan

e

Supplemental Plans

2006 2005 2006 2005
$3,762 $3,731 $ 429 $ 455
94 96 I 2
212 212 22 24
(16) (67) 52 13
(206) (210) (68) (65)
$3,846 $3,762 $ 436 $ 429
$4,280 $4,001 - S $
- - 68 65
707 489 - -
(206) (210)° (68) (65)
$4,781 $4,280 $ - $ -
$ 935 $ 518 $ (436) $ (429)
=2 951 & 200
300 - 59 55
$1,235 . $1,469 $ (377 $ (174)
_2 _ _(2 (167)
$1,235% $1,469 $ 37D $ (341)

recognized, net of wx, in accwnuduted other comprehensive

income, a component of net equily. due to the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 — see discussion in Note 1.

(3) The total prepaid pension asset is presenied as a separate line item under non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for both

2006 and 2005,

(4) Of the 1oral accrued liability, $70 million is included in Accrued Expenses and Other Curreny Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheer,

and the remaining $307 miltion is inciuded in Other Liabilities. Prior to 2006, the entire liabitity was reflected in Other Liabilites.

In the reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets, the actual return on net assets of $707 million in 2006, which is
net of plan administrative expenses, was due 10 the improvement in capital market returns in 2006 following the
strong market returns in the 2003 to 2005 period. The actual one-year return on pension plan assets at the October 31

measurement date in 2006 and 2005 was 17.6% and 13.2%, respectively.
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The following pre-tax amounts were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income as of
February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006:

Pension Plan Supplemental Plans
($ in millions) 2006 2005 2006 2005
Net loss $5240 $ - $2331 $ -
Prior service cost 1 - - -
Additional minimum liability 2 - 2 167
$525 $ - $233 3167

{1} Approximately 87 million for'rhe pension plan and $25 million for the supplemental plans is expected to be amortized from accumulated
other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit expense in 2007.
{2) No longer applicabie due to the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 - see discussion in Note [,

Assumptions to Determine Obligations
The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at the October 3|1 measurement
dates were as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Discount rate 5.85% 5.80% 5.85%
Salary progression rate 4.7% 4.0% 4.0%

For purposes of estimating demographic mortality in the measurement of the Company’s pension obligation, as of
October 31, 2004, the Company began using the Retirement Plans 2000 Table of Combined Healthy Lives (RP 2000
Table), projected to 2005, using Scale AA to forecast mortality improvements into the future to 2005. Previously,
~ the Company had utilized the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table, which it continued to use for calculating
funding requirements through 2006 based on Internal Revenue Service regulations. Beginning in 2007, for funding
purposes, the Company will begin using a projected version of the RP 2000 Table.

Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) and Additional Mininmum Liability

The ABO is the present value of benefits earned to date, assuming no future salary growth, The ABO for the
Company’s primary pension plan was $3.5 billion as of both October 31, 2006 and 2005. At October 31, 2006, plan
assets of $4.8 billion for the primary pension plan exceeded the ABO by approximately $1.3 billion, due to total
cash contributions of $900 million made to the plan during 2004, 2003 and 2002 {($300 million each year),
combined with strong asset returns in four consecutive years. The ABO for the Company’s unfunded supplemental
pension plans was $378 million and $395 million as of October 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. Prior to adopting
SFAS No. 158, additional minimum pension liabilities were increased by $9 million in 2006 through a direct
reduction, net of tax, to accumulated other comprehensive loss. The minimum pension liability was eliminated upon
the adoption of SFAS No. 158.

Plan Assets
The target allocation ranges for each asset category, as well as the fair value of each asset category as a percent of the
total fair value of pension plan assets as of October 31, 2006 and 2003, are as follows: '

) Plan Assets
Target October 31, October 31,

Asset Category Allocation Ranges 2006 2008

Equity securities 65% — 75% 70% 1%
Debt securities 5% - 25% 19% 18%
Real estate 5% - 15% 11% 10%
Cash and other 0% — 5% —6 1%
Total 100% 100%
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Asset Allocation Strategy

The pension plan’s investment strategy is designed to provide a rate of return that, over the long term, increases the
ratio of plan assets to liabilities by maximizing investment return on assets, at an appropriate level of volatility risk.
The plan’s asset portfolio is actively managed and invested primarily in equity securities, which have historically
provided higher returns than debt portfolios, balanced with fixed income (i.e., debt securities) and other asset
classes to maintain an efficient risk/return diversification profile. This strategy allows the pension plan to serve as a
funding vehicle to secure benefits for Company associates, while at the same time being cost effective to the
Company. The risk of loss in the plan’s equity portfolio is mitigated by investing in a broad range of equity types.
Equity diversification includes large-capitalization and small-capitalization companies, growth-oriented and value-
oriented investments and U.S. and non-U.S. securities. Investment types, including high-yield versus investment-
grade debt securities, illiquid assets such as real estate, the use of derivatives and Company securities are set forth in
written guidelines established for each investment manager and monitored by the Company. Direct investments in
JCPenney securities are not permitted, even though the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(ERISA) rules allow such investments up to 10% of a plan’s assets. The plan’s asset allocation policy is designed to
meet the plan’s future pension benefit obligations. The policy is periodically reviewed and rebalanced as necessary,
to ensure that the mix continues to be appropriate relative to established targets and ranges.

The Company has an internal Benefit Plans Investment Committee (BPIC), which consists of senior executives who
have established and oversee risk management practices associated with the management of the plan’s assets. Key
risk management practices include having an established and broad decision-making framework in place, focused
on long-term plan objectives. This framework consists of the BPIC and various third parties, including investment
managers, an investment consultant, an actuary and a trustee/custodian. The funded status of the plan is monitored
with updated market and liability information at least annually. Actual asset allocations are monitored monthly and
rebalancing actions are executed at least quarterly, if needed. To manage the risk associated with an actively
managed portfolio, the Company reviews each manager’s portfolio on a quarterly basis and has written manager
guidelines in place, which are adjusted as necessary to ensure appropriate diversification levels. Also, annual audits
of the investment managers are conducted by independent auditors. Finally, to minimize operational risk, the
Company utilizes a master custodian for all plan assets, and each investment manager reconciles its account with the
custodian at least quarterly.

Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company provides medical and dental benefits to retirees based on age and years of service. Benefits under
these plans are paid through a voluntary employees’ beneficiary association trust; however, this is not considered to
be a prefunding arrangement under SFAS No. 106. The Company provides a defined dollar commitment toward
retiree medical premiums.

Effective June 7, 2005, the Company amended its medical plan to reduce the Company provided subsidy to post-
age 65 retirees and spouses by 45% beginning January 1, 2006, and then fully eliminate the subsidy after
December 31, 2006. This change resulted in incremental credits to postretirement expense, a component of Selling,
General and Administrative Expenses, of approximately $8 million and $6.5 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In 2001, the Company amended these plans to freeze eligibility for retiree coverage and to further reduce and limit
the Company’s contributions toward premiums. These changes were accounted for as a negative plan amendment in
accordance with SFAS No. 106. Accordingly, the effects of reducing eligibility and Company contributions toward
retiree premiums are being amortized over the remaining years of service to eligibility of the active plan
participants. The increase in the other postretirement income presented in the table below is due in part to
declining participant enrollments in the plan.

Based on the 2005 amendment to the medical plan, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modern-
ization Act of 2003, which provides for a federal subsidy for certain plans that provide prescription drug benefits to
age 65 and over retirees and spouses, will not have any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Postretirement Plan (Income)

(% in millions) l 2006 . 2005 2004
Service costs $1 $ 2 $ 3
Interest costs . 3 6 11
Amortization of actuarial loss - - 2
Amortization of prior service (credit) (29) (25) (24)
Net periodic postretirement benefit (income) $(25) $17) . $(8)

The discount rates used for the postretirement plan are the same as those used for the defined benefit plans, as
disclosed on pages F-30 to F-32, for all periods presented.

Funded Status

The table below provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and the funded status of the defined
benefit postretirement plans. The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBQ) is the present value of
benefits earned to date by plan participants. The funded status is measured at October 31 (the plans’ measurement
date).

Obligations and Funded Status

(% in millions) 2006 2005

Change in APBO

Beginning balance $ 50 $ 149
Service cost ’ i 2
Interest cost 3 6
Participant contributions ‘ 16 34
Plan amendment - (104)
Actuarial (gain)/loss (26) 5
Gross benefits paid (22) (42)

Balance at measurement date $ 22 .$ 50

Change in fair value of plan assets

Beginning balance 5 - $ -
Participant contributions 16 34
Company contributions 6 8
Benefits (paid) . (22) 42)

Balance at measurement date 3 - $ -

Funded status of plan

(Deficiency) of fair value over projected benefits $(22) $ 0

Unrecognized losses and prior service (credit) 0 (201)

Fourth quarter contributions 1 ]

Total (accrued liability) $21HP $(250)

(1) Effective February 3, 2007, unrecognized losses and prior service cost are recogm:zed, net of tax, in accumulared other comprehensive
income, a component of net equity, due to the adoption of the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 158 — see discussion in Note 1.

(2) Of the rotal accrued liabifity, $4 million is included in Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheer,
and the remaining 317 million is included in Other Liabilities. Prior to 2006, the entire liability was reflected in Other Liabilities.
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The following pre-tax amounts were recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/mcome as of Feb-
ruary 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006:

Postretirement Plans

(§ in millions) ‘ 2006 2005
Net (gain) _ $ (19" $-
Prior service (credit) (179" -

$(198) $-

{1} In 2007, approximately $(2) million and $(29) million, respectively, of the net (gain) and prior service (credit) for the postretirement plans
are expected 1o be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic postretirement benefit (income).

As disclosed previously, the Company’s postretirement benefit plans were amended in 2001 to reduce and cap the
per capita doliar amount of the benefit costs that would be.paid by the Company. Thus, changes in the assumed or
actual health care cost trend rates do not materially affect the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation or the
Company’s annual expense.

Cash Contributions

Although no additional funding was required under ERISA, the Company made discretionary contributions of
$300 million to its primary pension plan in the fourth quarter of 2006 and in the third quarter of 2004. The Company
did not make a discretionary contribution to the pension plan in 2005 due to the plan’s well-funded position and
Internal Revenue Service rules limiting tax deductible contributions.

For the primary pension plan, the Company does not expect to be required to make a contribution in 2007 under
ERISA. It plans to make a discretionary contribution, however, if market conditions and the funded position of the
pension plan allow such a contribution to be tax deductible. The Company’s policy with respect to funding the
primary pension plan is to fund at least the minimum required by ERISA, as amended, and not more than the
maximum amount deductible for tax purposes. The Company does not currently have minimum funding require-
ments, as set forth in employee benefit and tax laws. All contributions made to the primary pension plan for 2006,
2004, 2003 and 2002 were voluntary.

Company payments to the unfunded non-qualified supplemental retirement plans are equal to the amount of benefit
payments made 1o retirees throughout the year and for 2007 are anticipated to be approximately $70 million. Similar
to the increase seen in 2006, the expected contributions for 2007 and 2008 have increased compared to those in
recent years due to a December 2003 amendment to these plans that allowed participants a one-time irrevocable
election to receive remaining unpaid benefits over a fivé-year period in equal annual installments.

All other postretirement benefit plans are not funded and are not subject to any minimum regulatory funding
requirements. The Company estimates the 2007 postretirement plan payments will approximate $4 million,
representing the Company’s defined dollar contributions toward medical coverage.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

Primary . Other
Pension Plan Supplemental Postretirement
( in miltions) Benefits™® Plan Benefits'"’ Benefits'" Total™
2007 § 221 $ 70 54 $ 295
2008 229 72 4 305
2009 238 5 4 317
2010 248 23 4 275
2011 259 23 3 285
2012-2016 1,476 133 10 1,619

{1} Does not include plan administrative expenses.
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Company’s Savings, Profit- Shanng and Slock Ownershlp Plan (Savings Plan) is a qualified defined contri-
bution plan, a 401(k) plan, available to all eligible associates of the Company and certain subsidiaries. Prior to the
ptan changes effective January [, 2007 which are discussed on pages F-28 to F-29, associates who had completed at
least 1,000 hours of service within an eligibility period (generally 12 consecutive months) and had attained age 21
were eligible to participate in the plan. The Company contributed to the plan an amount equal to 4.5% of the
Company’s available profits, as defined in the Savings Plan, as well as discretionary contributions designed to
generate a competitive level of benefits. The vesting period for Company matching contributions through plan year
2006 occurred over a five-year pertod at 20% per year of service. Total Company contributions for 2006, 2005 and
2004 were $82 million, $71 million and $47 million, respectively. Associates have the option of reinvesting
matching contributions made in Company stock into a variety of investment options, primarily mutual funds.

In addition to the 401(k) plan,-the Company also has Mirror Savings Plans, which are nonqualified unfunded
defined contribution ptans offered to certain management associates. Similar to the supplemental retirement plans,
the Mirror Plan benefits are paid by the Company froin operating cash-flow and cash investments.

Total Company expense for defined contribution plans, including the Mirror Plans, for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$97 million, §78 million and $52 million, respectively.

18) Real Estate and Other {Income)/Expense |

($ in millions) , 2006 : 2005 2004
Real estate activities ' $37) $(39) $(30)
Net gains from sale of real estate (B) ) (8)
Asset impairments : 2 ' ) 12
PVOL and other unit closing costs 2 C 5 7
Management transition costs 7 - 29
Other — — 2
Total - C $(34) $(54) L $2

Real Estate Activities and Net Gains from Sale of Real Estate
Real estate activities consist primarily of ongoing operating income from the Company’s real estate subsidiaries. In
addition, net gains were recorded from the sale of facilities and real estate that are no longer used in Company
operattons and investments in real estate partnerships. For 2005, approximately half of the gain from the sale of real
estate was from the sale of a vacant merchandise processing facility that was made obsolete by the centralized
network of store distribution centers put in place by mid-2003.

Asset Impairments, PYOL and Other

Impairments relate primarily to department stores and are the result of the Company’s ongeing process of evaluating
the productivity of its asset base, as described under Impairment of Long-Lived Assets in Note | on page F-11.
PVOL represents the present value of operating lease obligations on closed units. In addition, in 2006 and 2004, the
Company recorded charges of $7 million and $29 million, respectively, associated with senior management
transition.

t

19) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and Habilities reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets were measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
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10 be recovered or settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006 were

comprised of the following:

2006
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Tax Tax Tax Tux

($ in millions} Assets (Liabilities) Assets (Liabilities)
Current
Accrued vacation pay $ 45 $ - $ 46 5 -
Discontinued operations — Eckerd 13 - 31 -
Inventories X - (8) 28 -
Other'" 58 (50) 59 (48)
Tota! current $116 $ (58) $io4 $ (48)
Net current assets $ 58 $1162
Non-current
Depreciation and amortization $ - $ 818) $ - $ (866)
Prepaid pension - (502) - (605)
Pension and other retiree obligations 163 - 243 -
Equity-based compensation 35 - 21 -
Leveraged leases - (249 - (265)
State taxes and net operating losses 43 - 44 -
Unrealized gain/loss - (92) - (65)
Workers' compensation/general liability 90 - 97 -
Discontinued operations — Eckerd 20 - 20 -
Closed unit reserves 5 - 4 _
Other” 100 () 97 (12)
Total noncurrent $456 $(1,662) $526 $(1,813)
Net noncurrent (liabilities) $(1,206) $(1,287)
Total net deferred tax (liabilities) $(1,148) $(1,171)

(1) Other current deferred tax assets include tax items related to gift cards and accruals for sales returns and allowances. Other current deferred
tax liabilities include tax ftems related 10 property taxes and prepaid expenses.

(2) Current deferred tax assets of $38 million and $116 million, respectively, are included in Receivables in the Compuny’s 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

3} Other noncurrent deferred tax assets include tax items related 1o mirror savings plan expense, accrued rent and environmental cleanup costs.

Deferred tax assets are evaluated for recoverability based on estimated future taxable income. Previously, a
vatuation allowance had been established for the amount of deferred tax assets generated by state net operating
losses that might nat be realized. However, in 2005, based on updated projections of estimated future taxable
income, the remaining valuation allowance was reversed when management determined it was more likely than not
that the Company will be able to realize the benefits of the state net operating losses within the prescribed
carryforward periods. The elimination of allowances resulted in a credit to income of $49 million or $0.20 per share.

Tax reserves arc evaluated and adjusted as appropriate, while taking into account the progress of audits of various
taxing jurisdictions. Management does not expect the outcome of tax audits to have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes were not provided on certain unremitted earnings of international
affiliates that the Company considers to be permanent investments.
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Income tax expense for continuing operations is as follows:

Income Tax Expense for Continuing Operations

($ in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Current .

Federal and foreign $590 $3541 $335

State and local 109 (11) 14

699 530 349

Deferred

Federal and foreign (33 (44) (8)

State and local (8) (19) 7
' (41) (63) (0

Total $658 $467 $348

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective rate for continuing operations is as follows:

Reconciliation of Tux Rates for Continuing Operations

{percent of pre-tax income) 2006 2005 2004
Federal income tax at statutory rate , 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Siate net operating losses, less federal income tax - (2.8) -
State and local income tax, less federal income tax

benefit 3.7 1.5 1.4
Tax effect of dividends on ESOP shares (0.3) (0.3 (l.1)
Other permanent differences and credits (L.7) (1.1) (0.7)
Effective tax rate for continuing operations 36.7% 32.3% 34.6%

The income tax rate for 2006 was lower than it otherwise would have been due to the release of federal income tax
reserves resulting from the favorable resolution of prior year tax matters, and the income tax rate for 2005 was lower
than it otherwise would have been due to the reversal of the valuation allowance related to state tax net operating

loss deferred tax assets. discussed above.

As of February 3, 2007, the Company had $80 million of current income 1axes receivable, which is included in
Receivables on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of January 28, 2006, the Company had current income taxes
payable of $8 million, which is reflected in Income Taxes Payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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20) Litigation, Other Contingencies and Guarantees

The Company is subject to various legal and governmental proceedings involving routine litigation incidental to its
business. including being a co-defendant in a class action lawsuit involving the sale of insurance products by a
former Company subsidiary. Reserves have been established based on management’s best estimates of the
Company’s potential liability in certain of these matters. These estimates have been developed in consultation
with in-house and outside counsel. While no assurance can be given as to the ultimate outcome of these matters,
management currently believes that the final resolution of these actions, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material adverse effect on the resulis of operations, financial position, liquidity or capital resources of the
Company.

In 2006, management engaged an independent engineering firm (o update a previous evaluation of the Company’s
established reserves lor potential environmenital liability associated with facilities, some of which the Company no
longer owns or operates. Based on this analysis, the Company increased its reserves to an amount that it believes is
adequate to cover the estimated potential liabilities, which primarity relate to underground storage tanks. Funds
spent (o remedy these sites are charged against the established reserves. In addition, the Company also has recorded
reserves for the estimated cost of asbestos removal where renovations or a sale of the facility are planned.

As part of the Eckerd sale agreements, the Company retained responsibility to remediate environmental conditions
that existed at the time of the sale of Eckerd properties. At closing, the Company recorded a reserve based on
management’s preliminary analysis of the costs to remediate environmental conditions that ure considered probable
and review of management’s analysis by an outside consultant. This reserve is included in the reserves for
discontinued operations presented in Note 8.

In relation to the sale of the Eckerd operations, as of February 3. 2007, the Company had guarantees of
approximately $11 million for certain personal property leases assumed by the purchasers of Eckerd, which were
previously reported as operating leases. Currently, management does not believe that uny potential financial
exposure related to these guarantees would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.

JCP. through JCP Realty, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, has investments in 14 partnerships that own regional mall
properties, six as general partner and eight as limited partner. JCP's potential exposure 1o risk is greater in
partnerships in which it is a general partner. Mortgages on the six general parinerships total approximately
$353 million: however. the estimated market value of the underlying properties is approximately $842 million.
These mortgages are non-recourse to JCP. so any financial exposure is minimal. In addition. JCP Realty, Inc. has
guaranteed loans totaling approximately $11 million related to an investment in a real estate investment trust. The
estimated market value of the underlying properties significantly cxceeds the outstanding mortgage loans, and the
loan guarantee to market value ratio is less than 3% as of February 3, 2007. In the event of possible default, the
creditors would recover first from the proceeds of the sale of the properties, next from the general partner, then from
other guarantors before JCP’s guarantee would be invoked. As a result, management docs not believe that any
potential financial exposure related to this guarantee would have a material impact on the Company's financial
position or results of operations.

As part of the 2001 DMS asset sale, JCP signed a guarantee agreement with a maximum exposure of $20 million.
Any potential claims or losses are first recovered from established reserves, then from the purchaser and finally
from any state insurance guarantee fund before JCP's guarantee would be invoked. As a result, management does
not believe that any potential exposure would have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
stalements.
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21) Subsequent Events

2007 Common Stock Repurchase Program
In March 2007, the Board authorized a new program of common stock repurchases of up to $400 million, which will
be funded with cash proceeds from stock option exercises and existing cash and short-term investment balances.

2007 Dividend Plan

In February 2007, the Board anthorized a plan to increase the quarterly common stock dividend to $0.20 per share
for an annuai rate of $0.80 per share, beginning with the May 1. 2007 dividend. On March 29, 2007, the Board
declared a quarterly dividend of $0.20 per share to be paid on May 1, 2007, '

22) Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

£

The following is a summary of the quarterly unaudited consolidated results of operations for the fiscal years ended
February 3, 2007 and January 28, 2006:

{8 in millivns, except per share First Quarter Sccond Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
dataj 2606 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 7006 005
Retail sales, net $4.220  $4.118  $4238  $3981 $4.781 $4.479  $6,664'V $6,203
Gross margin 1,722 1,648 1.583 1,473 1,985 1.824 2,535 2,246
SG&A expenses 1,263 1,251 1,219 1,169 1,377 1,324 1,662 1,486
Income from continuing

operations 213 171 178 122 286 234 457 4509
Discontinued operations (3) 1 ] 9 1 - 20 1019
Net income $ 210 $ 172 $ 179 $ 131 $ 287 $ 234 $ 477 $ 551

Earnings/(loss) per common

share, diluted™:

Continuing operations $090 $062 $075 $046 $126 $094 S$200 $192
Discontinued operations (0.01) 0.01 0.01 0.04 — - 0.09 0.42
Net income $08 $063 $076 $050 $126 $094 §$209 § 234

(1) Includes sales of $254 million for the 53rd week of 2006,

(2) Includes credits of $26 million, or $0.11 per share, for the second quarter of 2006 and 36 million, or $0.03 per share, for the fourth guarier of
2006 of tax benefits, which were due primarily 1o the release of federal income tax reserves resulting from the favorable resolution of prior year
fax matters.

(3) Includes credits of $49 million. or $30.21 per share, of tax benefits, which were principaliy attributable 10 certain state tux valuarion
allowance adjustments. See Note 19.

(4) Credit is related primarily to the resolution of tax issues involving the Eckerd drugstore operation, See Note 2.

(5) Per shure amounts are computed independently for each of the quarters presented. The sum of the gquarters may not equal the total year
amount due 1o the impact of changes in average quarterly shares owtstanding.
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Amendment and Waiver No. | to
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of
July 30, 2004, among CVS Pharmacy,
Inc.. CVS Corporation. J. C. Penney
Company. Inc.. Eckerd Corporation,
Thrift Drug, Inc., Genovese Drug
Stores, Inc., and Eckerd Fleet, Inc.

S-3

10-K

10-Q

8-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

(33-53275

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

4a)

4p)

4(0)

10(i)(e)

10(Gi)(F)

10.1

04/26/1994

04/25/2002

09/06/2002

01/28/2002

04/08/2005

04/08/2004

04/08/2004

09/08/2004

* Orther instriments evidencing long-term debt have not been filed as exhibits hereto because none of the debt authorized
under any such instrument exceedy 10 percent of the totul assets of the Registrant and its consolidated subsidiaries. The
Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of any of ity long-term debt instruments to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon

reguest.




Exhibit No.
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Incorporated by Reference

Form

SEC File
No.

- Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

10.4

10.5

10.6%*

10,74

10.3%*

10,9

10.10%**

10.11**

10.12%*

10, 13%*

10.14%*

10.15%*

10.16**

10.17%*

10.18*

10.19%*

First Amendment to Stock Purchase
Agreement dated as of July 30, 2004,
among The Jean Coutu Group (PJC)
Inc., J. C. Penney Company, Inc., and
TDI Consolidated Corporation

CN Rescission Agreement dated as of
August 25, 2004, among CVS
Corporation, CVS Pharmacy, Inc.,
certain CVS affiliates, and J.C. Penney
Company, Inc.

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. Directors’
Equity Program Tandem Restricted
Stock Award/Stock Option Plan

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. 1989
Equity Compensation Plan

February 1995 Amendment to J. C.
Penney Company, Inc. 1989 Equity
Compensation Plan

February 1996 Amendment to J. C.
Penney Company, Inc. 1989 Equity
Compensation Plan, as amended

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. 1993
Non-Associate Directors’ Equity Plan

February 1995 Amendment to J. C.
Penney Company, Inc. 1993 Non-
Associate Directors™ Equity Plan

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors, as
amended effective April 9, 1997

Directors’ Charitable Award Program

Form of Indemnification Trust
Agreement between Company and
JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly
Chemical Bank) dated as of July 30,
1986, as amended

J. C. Penney Cempany, Inc. 1997
Equity Compensation Plan

L. C. Penney Company, Inc. 2001
Equity Compensation Plan

Form of Indemnification Agreement
between Company, J. C. Penney
Corporation, Inc. and individual
Indemnities, as amended through
Januvary 27, 2002

JCP Supplemental Term Life
Insurance Plan for Management Profit-
Sharing Associates, as restated
effective January 1, 2003

JCP Benefit Restoration Plan, as
amended through February 16, 2004

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

Def. Proxy
Stmt.

10-K

10-K

Def. Proxy
Stmt.

10-K

10-Q

10-K

Def. Proxy
Stmt.

Def. Proxy
Stmt.

Def. Proxy
Stmg.

10-K

16-K

10-K

** Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

001-15274

001-15274

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777

001-00777
001-00777

001-00777
001-00777

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

10.2

10.3

10(k)

A

10€ii)(k)
10(Gi)(k)

B

10Gi)}(m}
" 10(a)

10(r)

Exhibit 1 to
Exhibit B

A
B

10(ii)ab)

10Gi)(am)

10(ii)(ah)

09/08/2004

09/08/2004

04/24/1989

04/18/1989

04/18/1995
04/16/1996

04/20/1993

04/18/1995
06/10/1997
04/25/1990

04/24/1987

04/11/1997
04/11/2001

04/25/2002

04/10/2003

04/08/2004
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Form

SEC File
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" Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
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10.20%*

10.21**

10.22%*

10.23%=*

10.24%=*

10.25%*

10.26**

10.27*%

10.28**

10.29%*

10.30%**

10.31**

10.32%*

10.33*=*

** [ndicates a management conlract or compensatory plan or arrangement,

JCP Supplemental Retirement
Program for Management Profit-
Sharing Associates, as amended
through February 16, 2004

Term Sheet dated as of October 27,
2004, between the Company and
M. E. Utiman, III

Letter Agreement dated as of
March 18, 2005, between the
Company and M. E. Ullman, Il

Notice of Restricted Stock Award to
M. E. Ullman, ITI, dated as of
December 1, 2004

Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award
to M. E. Ullman, [l dated as of
December 1, 2004

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock
Unit Award under the J. C. Penney
Company. Inc. 2001 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock

* Award under the J, C. Penney

Company, Inc. 2001 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock
Option(s) under the J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2001 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Director’s election to receive
all/portion of annual cash retainer in
J. C. Penney Company, Inc. common
stock (J. C. Penney Company, Enc.
2001 Equity Compensation Plan)

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock
Award — Non-Associate Director
Annual Grant under the J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2001 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Election to Defer
under the J. C. Penney Company, Inc.
Deferred Compensation Plan for
Directors

Ferm of Notice of Change in the
Amount of Fees Deferred under the
J. C. Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors

Form of Notice of Change of Factor
for Deferral Account under the J. C.
Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors

Form of Notice of Termination of
Election to Defer under the J. C.
Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors

10-K

10-Q

8-K

10-Q

10-Q

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

E-4

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

'001'-.15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

001-15274

10(ii)(ai)

10.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

04/08/2004

12A07/2004

03/22/2005

12/07/2004

12/07/2004

02/15/2005

02/15/2005

02/15/2003

02/15/2005

02/15/2005

02/15£2005

02/15/2005

02/15/2005

02/15/2005
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Form

SEC File

No. Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed
Herewith

10.34%*

10.35%*

10.36%*

10.37**

10.38**

10.39%+

10.40*#*
10.41%*

10.42%*

10.43**

10.44++*

10.45%*

10.46**

10.47**

10.48%*

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. 2005
Equity Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Non-Associate
Director Restricted Stock Unit Award
under the J. C. Penney Company, Inc.
2001 Equity Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock
Option(s), Special Stock Option Gramt
under the I. C. Penney Company, Inc.
2005 Equity Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock
Unit Award under the J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Non-Associate
Direcior Restricted Stock Unit Award
under the J. C. Penney Company, Inc.
2005 Equity Compensation Plan

December 6, 2005 amendment to JCP
Supplemental Retirement Program for
Management Profit-Sharing Associates

December 6, 2005 amendment to JCP
Benefit Restoration Plan

Form of Executive Termination Pay
Agreement

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock
Options under the J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Notice of Performance Unit
Grant under the J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan

Form of Election to Receive Stock in
Lieu of Cash Retainer(s) (J. C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan)

Form of Notice of Election 10 Defer
under the J. C. Penney Company, Inc,
Deferred Compensation Plan for
Directors

Form of Notice of Change in the
Amount of Fees Deferred under the
J. C. Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors

Form of Notice of Termination of
Election to Defer under the I. C.
Penney Company, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Plan for Directors

Summary of Non-Employee Director
Compensation for 2006-2007

Def. Proxy
Stmt.

8-K

8-K

8K

8K

8-K

B-K

8-K

** Indicares @ management contract or compensalory plan or arrangement.

E-5

001-15274 Annex A

001-15274 19.]

001-15274 10.1

001-15274 10.2

001-15274 10.1

001-15274 10.1

001-15274 10.2
001-15274 10.2

001-15274 104

001-15274 10.5

001-15274 10.1

001-15274 10.2

001-15274 10.3

001-15274 10.4

001-15274 10.1

04/08/2005

05/24/2005

- 05/31/2005

05/31/2003

11/18/2005

12/12/2005

12/12/2005

03/27/2006

03/27/2006

03/27/2006

05/19/2006

05/19/2006

05/19/2006

05/19/2006

07/25/2006
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SEC File Filed
Exhibit No. Exhibit Description .+ Form No. Exhibit - . Filing Date Herewith
10.49** Form of Notice of Grant of Stock - 8-K 001-15274 . 10,1 - 08/07/2006

Options for Executive Officers subject . . :
to Executive Termination Pay

Agreements under the J. C. Penney

Company, Inc. 2005 Equity

Compensation Plan

10.50** JCP Management Incentive 8K 00t-15274 1.1 03/06/2007
Compensation Program, amended and .
restated effective February 28, 2007

10.51** JCP Mirror Savings Plan, amended 8-K . 001-15274 10,2 03-:'06/2007
and restated effective February 28,
2007

10.52** JCP Change in Control Plan, amended 8-K 001-15274 10.3 . 03/06/2007
and restated effective February 28, o
2007

10.53%* Form of Notice of Grant of Stock 8-K 001-15274 - 10.1 03/15/2007
Options under the J. C. Penney i
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan ) i . :
10.54%* Form of Notice of Special Restricted 8-K 001-15274 10.2 03/15/2007
Stock Unit Award under the I. C. :
Penney Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan

10.55%* Form of Notice of 2007 Performance 8-K .001-15274 10.3 03/15/2007
Unit Grant under the J C. Penney
Company, Inc. 2005 Equity
Compensation Plan
10.56%** 2006 Incentive Compensation Awards, X
2007 Base Salaries, 2007 Target
Incentive Opportunity Percentages and
2007 Equity Awards for Named
Executive Officers
10.57%%* December 2006 Amendments to X
1. C. Penney Company, Inc. 2005 ’
Equity Compensation Plan

12 Computation of Ratios of Earnings to . X
Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock
. Dividends _
21 Subsidiaries of the Regisirant . X
23 Consent of Independent Registered . X
Public Accounting Firm
24 Power of Attorney . X

** Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

E-6
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3L

31.2

32.1

32.2

Certification by CEQ pursuant to

15 U.5.C. 78m(a) or 780(d), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by CFQ pursuant 1o

15 U.8.C. 78m(a) or 780(d). as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by CEQ pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Centification by CFO pursuant to
18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

E-7

X
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Myron E. Ullman, 111, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of 1. C. Penney Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partic-
ularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s} and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 4, 2007

/s/ Myron E: Ullman, 111

Myron E. Ullman, 11T
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert B. Cavanaugh, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of I. C. Penney Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report:

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all matcrial respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partic-
ularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or othcr employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 4, 2007

/s/ Robert B. Cavanaugh

Robert B. Cavanaugh
Exccutive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 US.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the period
ending February 3, 2007 (the “Report™), I, Myron E. Ullman, I1l, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant (o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that 10 my knowledge:

n the Report fully complies with the requirements of scction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

DATED ihis 4th day of April 2007.

/s/ Myron E. Ullman, 111

Myron E. Ullman, III
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
. SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of J. C. Penney Company, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period
ending February 3, 2007 (the “Report™), I, Robert B. Cavanaugh, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(N the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13{(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. '

DATED this 4th day of April 2007.

/s/ Robert B. Cavanaugh

Robert B. Cavanaugh
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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JCPenney
WINNING TOGETHER Principles

associates
We value, develop, and reward the contributions and talents
of all associates

integrity
We act only with the highest ethical standards

performance
We provide coaching and feedback to perform at the highest fevel

recognition
We celebrate the achievements of others

teamwork
We win together through leadership, collaberation. open and
honest communication, and respect

quality
We strive for excellence in cur work. products. and services

innovation
We encourage creative thinking and intelligent risk taking

community
We care about and are involved in our communities

we do this for our...

customers
We huild lasting relationships by offering superior service and value

shareholders
We aspire to superior financial performance

END

J. C. Penney Company, Inc. 6501 Legacy Drive Plano, TX 75024 jcpenney.net or jcp.com




